




In short we will build

sustainable value

in our businesses





FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

and shares in thousands except per share data

Summary of Operations for
year

ended December 3s qoo8 OO7

Net sales $2604307 $2619171

Operating profit loss 197489 107656

Net income loss 135158 62342

Operating profit before special items 262534 289923

Net income before special items 176717 195096

Share Data

Net income loss per diluted share $2.24 $1.04

Net income per diluted share before special items 2.93 3.19

Dividends 0.76 0.66

Average diluted shares outstanding 60298 61130

Average basic shares outstanding 59667 60037

Financial Position at December 3i

Assets $2774488 $2877292

Netdebta 183261 115479

Shareholders equity 738062 884803

Market value of equityb 1008364 2580922

Market capitalization 1191625 2696401

Key Statistics

Operating margin 7.6% 4.1%

10.1% 11.1%

15.0% 6.8%
19.5% 19.6%

19.9% 11.5%

Operating margin before special items

Return on average shareholders equity

Return before special items on adjusted average shareholders equity

Net debt to net capitalization

Certain non-GAAP measures shown above and in the Letter to Shareholders have been

provided to facilitate comparison with the prior year
Reconciliation of such amounts is

provided

in the table on pages and

Net debt
represents

total debt lest cash and cash equivalents

Market value of equity is the number of shares of common stock outstanding multiplied by
the

period-end closing stock price

Market capitalization is the market value of equity plus net debt

Average shareholders equity has been adjusted
for the impact of

special
items is 2008 2007 and 2006

Net capitalization is set debt plus shareholders equity
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Dear Shareholder

Ihe
year oo8 proved to be muen more challenging for

Crane Co than we anticipated at this time last ear The first

half of 2008 was consistent with our expectations and we

posted record first and second quarter earnings despite

seeing pronounced decline in de nand from our recreational

vehicle OEM customers in late spring late in the thi quaer

we began to see shaip decline in Her activi across many

parts of our businesses that accelerated in subsequent

months ihe performance of our businrss segments in this

difficult environment was mixed with three segments Fluid

Handling our largest segment Merchandising Ms ems and

Controls let eraging revenue Mci cases into improved

operating pro
fits br the year before restructuring charges

Iwas disappointed that we did not anticipate the magnitude

of the decline in the recreational vehicle aid transporratirn

nd inarkel in our Engi urerod rio riala regi arid rija

we experienced further delays and overspending for rew

products for the Boeing 787 jetliner in our rospace

Electronics segment Earnings per share on non CEAP

basis declined from $3 19
in ooy to $2.93 in 2008 On

GAP basis which includes restructuring charge in the

fourth
quarter

and other items we reported earnings per

share of f.o4 in 2o08

result of the downturn in the coo romi we have taken

signitica.rt
actions to reduce our costs During 2oo8 we

reduced the number of employees in our Engineered

Materials business by 3g and in Merchandising Systems

by In the fourth quarter of 2008 we embarked on

Restructuring Program to align the Company cost base to

market conditions through actions that include several facilit1

consolidations and headeount reductions recorded

25.7 nillion alter tax charge in the fourth quarter rela ed to

the Restructurng Program and we anticipate additiona

after lax ohs
rgr totalling Mo million in 2009 as we comple

the prograi.n and in
egrate our Krombaeh acquisition

cC tart

.1 1k
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expect to realize significant benefits from our Rest ructu ring

Program WI en combined with an anticipated reduction in

ngncering spending and other general cost reduction

efforts yr estimate that pletax tear over
year savings will

approach 75 million in 2009 Fhese sax logs should help

offset the mpact of an uncei tam economy 2009

Our Boa of Dorec incrcan the quarterly divdend

ui to Aao per share in July and total disidends paid during

oo8 were $76 per share We repurchased a.3 million

shares of our common stock for $6o million

The Company is veil positioned gixe
the eurr not credit crisis

and shari dow nturn in economic actixib Over the
past sex eral

years has been xciv disciplined in our acquisitions and

allocation of capital which has resulted in
eontinumgstrorig

balance sheet with excellent liquidity Atvear end we had

cash on hantl of $232 million our debt capital ratio was

36 our $3oo million resolving line of credit that extends

to too remains fullt axailable and the li rst maturity of our

long term debt occurs in toi3 We are maintaining our

customer facing resouices our operational excellence

programs are continuing and we have an aggressise new

product mt .oduction schedule Our businesses are materially

stronger than they were three
years ago

with stronger man

agerr
ent teams and improved customer metrics Our

strategy

for profitable growth is not changing and we arc focusing on

building sustainable salue in our businesses

Ouo liquidisy gives us an unprecedented oppoit unity to

gai ii market share and we are determined to Cxc
rage our

strengths during this dow nturri Our st ategie focus on hig

cash flow businesses provides us with cash at time when

the credit markets arc challenging We base the financial

capabilitt to make strategic acquisitions Hat can materially

strengthen existing businesses and to insest in growth

initiatives that can increase our Economic Value Added LVA
metric But niaking the xvestment or the acquisition is

only

the beginning We also hase talented people who can make

an acquisition successful or grow
initiative Lake hold

Grace Buine Sytcin serves as eunipass to diruct

and measure our progress and our core values of honesty

and ethical business conduct focus us on making the right

cleeisons and taking the right actions to build sustainable

value Nothing is standing in our way its up to us

number of grow th initiatses were gun in 2008 sonic

of which are described later in this Annual Repoi We have

stieng hened on sales and marketing effoits around the

world including opening sales office in Dnhai fle consum

mated two strategic acquisitions within the fluid Handling

segment for less than one times sales in the second hall of

2008 and we acquired significant intellectual property that

cm hances our Mrehandisi igSrstems segments wireless

solutions

In September we acquired Delta Fluid Products Limited

loeared in the bK leading designei and manufacturer of

iegnlatoi and inc safe aloes lor the
gas

industiu and safety

saKes arid air xt nt valves for the building serviceo market

lot purchase price ol approximately $t8 million in cash on

debt free basis The business is complementary to our

Building Sen ices and tilities business based in the

arid sees
ing global markets Delta

year
2008 sales were

$39 nnllion

In December we acquired The Krombarh Group leading

nanufacturer of specialty salve flow solutions foi the power

oil and gas and chemical markets with headquarters in

Germany and manufacturing plants in Germany Slovenia and

China The purchase price was $i million in cash plus the

assumption of $17 million in net debt and full year too8

sales were approximately $000 nnllion Both the Delta and

Kiombach aequisit ions are expected to be modestly aecretise

to earnings in 2009

Crane places pIiori on ensironmental nianagcment

programs and policies throughout Hr eorpoiation ard we

incorporate
them as essential elements of he business plan

of each business unit We believe that green initiatives are an

important part of building sustainable value both ion us and

for our cusromers and consonant with our hstorical inKs

lencu mi the highest chicK sandards uniugsohal is right

We arc so orking to improve the opera ion of oui facilities

through he efficient use of energy and sustainable use of

renewable esoui ces arid we aj strio ing to minimize adverse

enviroumnen al impact through waste iedueiion recycling and

responsible waste disposal At amc time wn acknowledge

our responsibility to address past waste disposal practices

and we took ar after tax charge of fi6 million for additional

reniediation actions due to chawged site conditions at the

lormei manufacturing location in Goodyear

Aerospaco Oectronics $638 ii

Cand
.g Si on

46111 01



2008 Financial Results 2009 Outlook

In 2007 and 2008 sales were $2.6 billion Our flat sales

reflected 20/0 reduction of core volume which offset the

impact of three acquisitions and slightly
favorable foreign

exchange Sales increased in four of our five segments

with Aerospace Electronics increasing 2% Merchandising

Systems 3% Fluid Handling 2% and Controls 9/o

Engineered Materials sales declined 23 0/o reflecting

severely depressed end markets for recreational vehicles

and transportation

Operating profit in 2008 was $197 million compared to loss

of $io8 million in 2007 Excluding special items in each year

which included significant asbestos charge in 2007

operating profit declined 9/o to $263 million compared to

$290 million in 2007 excluding special items Aerospace

Electronics operating profit was reduced by 35/o primarily

because of higher engineering spending for investment in

new programs and technology
for future aircraft Engineered

Materials operating profit declined 6o/o because of lower

sales Operating profit at Merchandising Systems Fluid

Handling and Controls increased 14% o8/o and 20%

respectively reflecting effective leverage of modestly

increased sales

Long-term Strategy Remains Unchanged

Crane Co is diversified manufacturer of highly engineered

industrial products with substantial presence in focused niche

markets Our businesses have strong returns and excess cash

flow We remain committed to the values of our founder

R.T Crane to conduct business in the strictest honesty and

fairness to avoid all deception and trickery to deal fairly with

both customers and competitors to be liberal and just
toward

employees and to put my whole mind upon the business

While the world has changed in recent months our strategic

direction has not changed Our objective is to grow EVA by

continuing to transition into more integrated operating

company with common business system We create value for

our shareholders by materially strengthening our businesses

through leveraging
intellectual capital improving customer

focus and executing on our operational excellence program

by creating strategic linkages among our businesses via

internal mergers and portfolio trimming and by using strong

free cash flow to make strategic acquisitions
for our existing

businesses

Our 2009 earnings per
share guidance of $2.10 $2.40

reflects considerable uncertainty about the global economy

and the timing and ultimate impact of worldwide fiscal and

monetary stimulus packages Free cash flow is expected to

exceed the $146 million achieved in 2008 The guidance

anticipates core revenue decline of 7% reflects headwinds

from pension expense of $20 million year-over-year and

significant
unfavorable foreign exchange and assumes an

estimated annual tax rate of approximately 3o0/o The guidance

includes expected
additional after-tax charges in 2009 of

approximately $io million related to the Restructuring

Program and integration costs associated with the Krombach

acquisition The guidance
also assumes significant reduction

in the Aerospace Groups engineering spending reflecting the

completion of significant program milestones Our earnings

in the first half of 2009 are expected to be substantially lower

than the second half of the year reflecting the very difficult

current economic conditions and because the full benefit

of the cost savings initiatives restructuring efforts and the

anticipated reduction in Aerospace engineering spending will

not be realized until the latter part of 2009

As company that was founded in 1855 we have faced severe

economic downturns before am confident that we have the

strategy
the tactics and the financial flexibility to negotiate

this rapidly changing business and economic landscape

believe that change brings opportunity and that we have

the strengths to build long-term sustainable value for our

customers shareholders and employees would like to thank

all of our stakeholders for their loyalty to Crane especially

our employees who are making extra efforts every day to meet

the extraordinary challenges we continue to face In addition

would like to recognize
the time and significant contributions

of our outstanding Board of Directors

Sincerely

ert
Eric Fast

President and Chief Erecutive Officer

FEBRUARY 21 2009



JtECUNCILtAIION OF NON-OAAP FINANCtAI MEASURES

The Company reports its financial results in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles GAAP
However management believes that non-GAAP financial measures which exclude certain non-recurring items present

addtional useful comparisons between current results and results in prior operating periods providing investors with

clearer view of the underlying trends of the business Management also uses these non-GAAP financial measures

in making financial operating planning and compensation decisions and in evaluating the Companys performance

In addition Free Cash Flow provides supplemental information to assist management and investors in analyzing the

Companys ability to generate positive cash flow Non-GAAP financial measures which may be inconsistent with similarly

captioned measures presented by other companies should be viewed in addition to and not as substitute for the

Companys reported results prepared in accordance with GAAP

ifl thotisaiidt excepl pe
shatc data

Forerrtd December di Doo8 Dood oo6

BALANCE SHEET ITE\S

Notes payable and current maturities

of long-term debt 16622 548 9505

Long-term debt 398479 398301 398122

Total debt 415101 398849 407627

Less cash and cash equivalents 231840 283370 138607

Net debt 183261 115479 269020

Net income loss CAAP 135158 62342 165887

Special items 41559 257438 4964
Net income before special items 176717 195096 160.923

AveragesharehoidersequitvGAAP 903178 917408 847169

Adjustments to average shareholders equity Ii 3196 79986 2.320

Adjusted average shareholders equity 906374 997394 844849

Return on average
shareholders equity 15.0% 6.8% 19.6%

Return before special items

on adjusted average shareholders equity 19.5% 19.6% 19.0%

CASH FLOW ITEMS

Cash provided from operating activities

before asbestos-related payments 249.475 243031 222258

Payments for asbestos-related fees and costs

net of insurance recoveries 58083 41698 40563

Equitas receipts 31500

Cash provided from operating activities-GAAP 191392 232833 181695

Capital expenditures 45136 47.169 27171

Free cash flow 146256 185664 154524

Sperial items represent ion- G-tAP atljusnlents tn income made Pr roinparIisliIv purposes

See rlrurrr trait pcii-tiiiii iti rite NottCA_SP Measures table or adultional details

It \dustmentu tS at
eu-age

sharriroluler
ci1 ott- to

t-cpi-rsr
at the tu atei righted arrrage uuart

ol the sperial items as demurs itt lie lutrorne ltrtus m.iio nil lie NouGAAP Measures aisle



in thousands eseept per
share data

Forvearended Deeencher3c 7ood Doo7 7oo6

TNCOME ITEMS

Operating profit loss GAAP 197489 107656 247936

SPECIAL ITEMS IMPACTING OPERATING PBOFIT

Asbestos provisionpre-tax
390150

Environmental provision 24342 18912

Environmental reimbursement 4900

Restructuring charge pre-tax ci 40703

Foundry restructuring gain pre-tax 19083

Government settlement pre-tax 7600

Operating profit before special items non-GAAP 262534 289923 243036

Change over prioryear
9% 19% 14%

Net sales 2604307 2619171 2256889

OperatingprofitossGAAP 197849 107656 247936

Operatingmargin GAAP 7.6% 4.1% 11.o%

Operating profit before special items non-CAAP 262534 289923 243036

Operating margin before special items non-GAAP 10.1 11.1% 10.8%

Net income loss GAAP 135158 62342 165.887

Net income loss CAAP per
diluted share 2.24 1.04 2.67

SPECIAL ITEMS IMPACTING NET INCOME

Asbestos provisionnet of tax 253597

Environmental provisionnet of tax 15822 12293

Environmental reimbursementnet of tax 3185

Restmcturing charge net of tax 25737

Foundry restructuring gain net of tax 18402

Government settlement net of tax 5396

Gain on sale of partnership interestnet of taxh 5846

Tax provision on undistributed foreign earnings 10400

Net gain on divestitures net of tax 1779

Net income before special items non-GAAP 176717 195096 160923

Net income before special items non-CAAP

Perhasicshare 2.96 3.25 2.64

Per chluted share 2.93 3.19 2.59

During the three months mdcii Septeniber 3o acer the Company recorded an and diluted
per

oaliare amounts oilier ticis
perish Sr as in hiss
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NOTHING IS STANDING IN OUR WAY

We have the financial strength Crane finished difficult oo8
with $32 million in cash and an available $3oo million revolving line of credit even

after completing two acquisitions with cash during the year The Companys strong

liquidity position is no accident our strategy has been to produce excess cash flow

that can be used for strategic acquisitions capital expenditures dividend payments and

share repurchases and most of our businesses have been generating more cash in

recent years than was needed for organic growth Unlike many companies financing

limitations are not expected to restrict our ability to pursue business operational or

investment strategies that position us for long-term growth

We have the people At Crane weve always had the belief that good

people make good things happen In the difficult economy we are now experiencing

were even more certain that leveraging our intellectual capital is vital to build

sustainable value We work hard to attract talented people but that only the

beginning We educate those people in the ethical standards that have been the

hallmark of our Company since its founding in 1855 by Richard Teller Crane

We provide ongoing training on the shop floor and in more formal settings

We offer opportunities to pursue diverse and challenging career paths We share

best practices across our businesses and we educate everyone everywhere in the

Crane Business System that is crucial to deploying our strategy successfully

We have prescriptive business system that works
We use comprehensive set of business processes and operational excellence tools

that we call the Crane Business System to drive continuous improvement throughout

our businesses Approximately 750 annual Kaizen events use various aspects of the

System to solve problems and improve safety quality delivery and cost Built on

an underlying core value of integrity the Crane Business System includes listening

to the Voice of the Customer value stream linkage of customers and suppliers with

production and manufacturing cells prescriptive and uniform visual management

techniques and the use of broad range of Operational Excellence tools Time and

again use of the Crane Business System has enabled our businesses to lower costs

improve customer metrics and build sustainable value in our businesses It works





Crane Merchandising Systems is

offering potential customers

chance to test drive its Streamware

VendM software product for

nominal expenses only cost The

product merchandising test tracks the

increase in same machine sales

snack and soda on one route for to

necks uhen VendMAXs full suite of

analysis
tools is used to produce

actionable data aboul nhich products

should be placed in nhich machines

Ofl customer ieported that the tools

produced incredible time savings

sufficient to convince hint to

install VendMAX on his

conipanys too routes

Crane Merchandising Systems has

introduced its nest BevMax stateof

the- art cold drink sending machine

In addition to features that make this

attractive modern glass front

machine easier to stock it can vend

products of varying shapes and sizes

stithout changing the set up offers

enhanced reliability and longer life

and can include Crane payment

system that makes change in bills

and coins ______

The payment solutions business of

Crane Merchandising Systems is

continuing to drive organic growth

is ith its latest generation of products

fur the unattended point
of sale

market such as self service check

out and service payment kiosks

Cranes CashCode Bill Vahdators

and Telequip Coin Dispensers each

of which is adaptable to use in many

countries help retailers throughout

the norld make better use of labor

resources and increase their rev

enues because of faster throughput

safeguards against shrink and

greater equipment reliability



In Septeniber 2008 Crane completed the purchase

of Delta Fluid Products Limited leading designer

and manufacturer of regulators and fire safe

vahes for the
gas industry and of safety valves and

air vent valves for the building services market that

are very complementary to Cranes
Building Services

Utilities product lines Since its acquisition the

unit has established Center of Excellence for

natural
gas

utilities at its facilities in the U.K

In December 2oo8 Crane Merchandising

Systems purchased the intellectual
properti

of lsochron pioneer inn ireless solutions

for vending Isochron has developed

technologies for remote monitoring and

ioute optimization cashless payment and

touchscreen interfaces able to suppoit

advertising programs

In December 2008 Crane purchased The Krombach Group of Kreuztal

Germany leading manufacturer of specialty valve flow solutions for the

power oil and gas and chemical markets he acquisition uhich

includes manufacturing facilities in Cermany Slovenia and China

significantly strengthens and broadens Cranes product offerings in the

global power and energy infrastructure business pariicularly for larger

diameter
highLy engineered valves
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The global nuclear valve market

that Crane Nuc ear serues uill be

more than $100 million annually

beginning in 2011 based on neu

nuclear plant projecls that are under

way Crane Nuclear continues to

invest in its capabilities to capture

signiicant share of this market

including facilities modifications

new manufacturing and inspection

equipment and ness people in

engmeering quality assurance

direct labor and other areas



Within the Fluid Handing segment Crane Energr Flow Solutions is

redeplo\ing and adding new sales resources to pursue attractive growth

areas mainly in he Middle East India and China but also including

Russia Korea Japan Malaysia and Indonesia At the same me it is

expanding xci tieally by bringing sirong products into attractive new

markets and adding product line extensions in areas of high growth

The Fluid Handling segments Crane ChemPharnta Flou Solutions and Craiic Energy Flow

Solutions businesses are continuing investment in emerging market sales iesources where

their opportunity to grow market share is proportionally higher than in developed markets

In the Middle East we have an expanded team throughout the region In China mature

team is in place Both the ChemPharma and the Energy businesses are optimi/ing the blend

of direct and independent distribution aligning regional relationships with identified

global customers matching rc sourccs with the largest projects throughout the world and

strc1igthciiing sa1e
coserage

of iguieuring contiacturs
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Presidents Kaizen at the Dixie Narco

facilita of Crane Merchandising Systems

September ioo8 insohing 58 Crane

Co participants resulted in estiniated

annual productivdy gains equal to what

would hase previously required the

addition of some fifty workers

In the Crane Pamps Systems facility

of Fluid Handling lead ti roes on

Grinder Pumps and Small Submersible

Pumps were were eacessisely long

ranging front to 49 days
from

customer order to shipment Through

Crane value stream linkage process

lead times have been reduced to under

five days while maintaining on time

delivery of greater than 94o

The Fort al on Beach Florida facibty

of Crane Liectronics used aspects of the

Crane Business System to improse its new

product introduction process An analysis of

the old
process

showed that focus during the

early stages ii as too heavily on design and

unit functionality without enough emphasis

on manufacturability By introducing 3P

Production Preparation Process into the

early stages of new product development

the facility was able to reduce the time

accomplish certain assembly steps from as

much as four hours to as little as fifteen

minutes all with improted quality

Ar don lights alert inonogenenr

airj pi oduct on nice

11



Crane Aerospace held series of concurrent Kaizens

as October hat resulted in significant operating

irnprmenienrs For example the ieam that tackled

the problem of long turnaround time io the repair

and overhaul business achieved 38 percent

reduction in that time uhich improved customer

satisfaction and increased sales by $500000

She Beierly Massachusetts microwave manufactur

ing
location of Crane Electronics changed oser from

isolated work benches to functional ceils and then

used Kaizens and daily Key Performance Indicators to

sohe problems that were affecting quality and on

time delive0 Intwoyears operating profit margin

was sharply higher quality was greatly impimed on

time delixery went from iust under 8o to 95 permnt
and

past
due shipments were sharply reduced

Kaizen translates literally to change for the good

i5

Zen



Crane Building Services and tilities

part
of the Fluid Handling segment

perceived need on the part of its gas

and waler utility customers to have

way
of making repairs that would not

result in supply interruption traffic

interruption or excaiation of the roadway

and har would also cost less than existing

repair methods To help meet these

requirements it developed remote

repair cLamp that carl be utilized with

km hole acuum exeai Jon and Thrn gh

Bore hydrant to negate the med for

excavation The clamp saves time and

maximizes safety hue repairing an
iS

underground water pipe and ill provide

an merall substantial cost saving to the

customer This repair clamp technology

nih be extended in O09 to the
gas

utility industry

Research and development at the Aerospace

Electronics segment is the key to securing our

future with aircraft manufacturers and airlines

Approximately 75 development programs fo

future aircraft are currently in process The

segment nih continue its longyterm focus on

developing state of the art products thai lover

the cost operation and increase safety for

airlines and militar1 aircraft operators
by

reducing aircraft weight improving fuel

efficiency and increasing reliability

One of tue new products oei eloped at the

kerospace Electronics segment is lighter

landing gear control and indication unit that

has the potential to save 63.ooo gallons
of

fuel pery ear for fleet ol ooo planes Among

other products the segment also produces

systems using lithium batteries that proi ide the

equivalent energy storage of previous svs

with only 50 percent of the weight wireless tire

pressuue systems hat have half the neight and

cost older units and fuel on met ers ihat can

withstand iBoo psi the highest pressure ever

on flow meter



Despite the current difficult economy it is vital to maintain arid develop the

Companys intellectual capital Crane is des eloping and implementing

Cruw Our Own laleui
S1

St em Ky Is innts inLiude opening career paths

for high potential employees by fostering internal ransfers continuing

college campus recruitment and creating internship programs for each

business segment Au integral part of Crane lntellec oal Capital process is

the creation of development plan for each

employee regardless of their career stage

From day one we arc ensuring strong

performance from our new recruits with

our 20 hour Crane Way new employee

orientation training

Luring noo8 the Crane Foundation and the

College of Engineering at the Unicersityof Washington launched the Crane

Scholar
progsarn to support top engineering students byproeidingthein with

the opportunity to participate in ineaningffd reseorchprograims Crane

engineers and staff and the College are jointivdeeeloping the iesearch boptes

affordinF our people chance to interact with top students and build

ivcogtsitionfbr
Crane as an employer of choice

The Engineered Materials segments

center is developing composite

flooring iris ci isis fur he Lxisid of

trailers that will be stronger lighter

and less expensive than metal And

fort ie end user of the trailers lighter

weight will translate to lower cost

hrough greater
fuel economy hese

composite mate rials which could

eventually also be used in recreational

xehicles siud ocean going
containers

sic bei ugtcstcd by customer in

smull fleet of all composite lined

trailers The flooring material is just

one of the products in the pipeline that

an entarged
staff at Engineered

Materials is des eloping based on

formal Voice of the Customer process
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PART ITEM

Forward-Looking Information

This Annual Report on Form io-K contains information about us

some of which includes forward-looking statements within the

meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 19
Forward-looking statements are statements other than historical

information or statements about our current condition You can

identify forward-looking statements by the use of terms such as

believes contemplates expects may will could
should would or anticipates other similarphrases or the

negatives of these terms

We have based the forward-looking statements relating to our oper

ations on our current expectations estimates and projections about

us and the markets we serve We caution you that these statements

are not guarantees
of future performance and involve risks and

uncertainties These statements should be considered in con

junction with the discussion in Part the information set forth

under Item iA Risk Factors and with the discussion of the busi

ness included in Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations We have based

many of these forward-looking statements on assumptions about

future events that may prove to be inaccurate Accordingly our

actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what we

have expressed or forecast in the forward-looking statements Any

differences could result from
variety

of factors including the fol

lowing

Current economic conditions which are beyond our control

causing many of our existing and potential customers to delay

or reduce purchases of our products or services

The outcome of restructuring and other cost savings initiatives

Competitive pressures including the need for technology

improvement successful new product development and

introduction continued cost reductions and any inability to

pass increased costs of raw materials to customers

Our ability to successfully value and integrate acquisition

candidates

Economic social and political instability currency fluctuation

and other risks of doing business outside of the United States

Delays in launching or supplying new products including the

brake control systems for the Boeing 787 or an inability to

achieve new product sales objectives

Increased price competition from larger competitors

particularly in our Fluid Handling segment

Our ongoing need to attract and retain highly qualified

personnel and key management

The ability of the U.S government to terminate our contracts

The outcomes of legal proceedings claims and contract disputes

The accuracy of our pension plan assumptions and related

future contributions

Adverse effects on our business and results of operations as

whole as result of further increases in asbestos claims or the

cost of defending and settling such claims and

Adverse effects as result of further increases in environmental

Part

Reference herein to Crane we us and our refer to Crane

Co and its subsidiaries unless the context specifically states or

implies otherwise Amounts in the following discussion are pre
sented in millions except employee share and per share data or

unless otherwise stated

Item Business

We are diversified manufacturer of highly engineered industrial

products Comprised of five
segments Aerospace Electronics

Engineered Materials Merchandising Systems Fluid Handling and

Controls our businesses give us substantial
presence in focused

niche markets producing sustainable returns and excess cash flow

Our products have
primary application in the

aerospace defense

electronics recreational vehicle transportation automated mer

chandising petrochemical chemical and power generation

industries

Since our founding in 1855 when R.T Crane resolved to conduct

my business in the strictest honesty and fairness to avoid all

deception and trickery to deal fairly with both customers and

competitors to be liberal and just toward employees and to put my
whole mind upon the business we have been committed to the

highest standards of business conduct

Our strategy is to grow the earnings of niche businesses with lead

ing market shares acquire businesses that offer strategic fits with

existing businesses aggressively pursue operational and strategic

linkages among our businesses build performance culture that

stresses continuous improvement continue to attract and retain

committed management team whose interests are directly aligned

with those of our shareholders and maintain focused efficient

corporate structure

We use comprehensive set of business processes and operational

excellence tools that we call the Crane Business System to drive

continuous improvement throughout our businesses Beginning

with core value of integrity the Crane Business System

incorporates Voice of the Customer teachings specific processes

designed to capture our customers requirements value stream

analysis linking customers and suppliers with our production cells

prescriptive and uniform visual management techniques and

broad range of operational excellence tools into disciplined strat

egy deployment process that drives strong financial results by

focusing on continuously improving safety quality delivery and

cost

We employ approximately iooo people in North and South Amer

ica Europe the Middle East Asia and Australia Revenues from

outside the United States were 39.8% and 37.8% in oo8 and oo7
respectively

Business Segments

For additional information on recent business developments and

other information about us and our business you should refer to

the information set forth under the captions Managements Dis

cussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations in Part II Item of this report as well as in Part II

Item under Note 13 Segment Information to the Consolidated

Financial Statements for sales operating profit and assets

employed by each segmentremediation activities costs and related claims
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Aerospace Electronics

The Aerospace Electronics segment has two groups the Aero

space Group and the Electronics Group In 2oo8 Aircraft Electrical

Power portion of the Eldec business was reclassified from the

Aerospace Group to the Electronics Group as part
of Power Sol

utions The Aerospace Groups products are organized into the fol

lowing solution sets which are designed manufactured and sold

under their respective brand names Landing Systems Hydro
Aire Sensing and Utility Systems Eldec Fluid Management

Lear Romec and Cabin Systems P.L Porter The Electronics

Group products are organized into the following solution sets

Power Solutions Eldec Keltec Interpoint Microwave Systems

Signal Technology Electronic Manufacturing Services General

Technology and Microelectronics Interpoint

The Landing Systems solution set includes aircraft brake control

and anti-skid systems including electro-hydraulic servo valves and

manifolds embedded software and rugged electronic controls

hydraulic control valves landing gear sensors and fuel pumps as

original equipment to the commercial transport business region

al general aviation military and government aerospace repair and

overhaul markets This solution set also includes similar systems

for the retrofit of aircraft with improved systems as well as

replacement parts for systems installed as original equipment by

aircraft manufacturers All of these solution sets are proprietary to

us and are custom designed to the requirements and specifications

of the aircraft manufacturer or program contractor These systems

and replacement parts are sold directly to aircraft manufacturers

Tier integrators company who makes products specifically for

one of the aircraft manufacturers airlines governments and air

craft maintenance and overhaul companies Manufacturing for

Hydro-Aire is located in Burbank California

The Sensing and Utility Systems solution set includes custom posi

tion indication and control systems proximity sensors pressure

sensors and true mass fuel flow meters for the commercial busi

ness regional and general aviation military repair and overhaul

and electronics markets These products are custom designed for

specific aircraft to meet technically demanding requirements of the

aerospace industry Our Sensing and Utility Systems products are

manufactured at facilities in Lynnwood Washington Daventry and

Northants England and Bron France

Our Fluid Management solution set includes lubrication and fuel

pumps for aircraft and radar cooling systems
for the commercial

and military aerospace industries It also includes fuel boost and

transfer pumps for commuter and business aircraft Our Fluid

Management solutions are manufactured at facility located in

Elyria Ohio

Our Cabin Systems solution set includes motion control products

for airline seating We hold leading positions in both electro

mechanical actuation and hydraulic/mechanical actuation for air

craft seating selling directly to seat manufacturers and to the

airlines Our Cabin Systems solutions are primarily manufactured

in Burbank California

Our Power Solutions solution set includes standard and custom

power converters and custom miniature hybrid electronic circuits

for applications across various markets including commercial

space and military aerospace and fiber optics Facilities are located

in Redmond and Lynnwood Washington Ft Walton Beach Flori

da Daventry England and Kaohsiung Taiwan

Our Microwave Systems solution set includes sophisticated elec

tronic radio frequency components and subsystems These prod

ucts are used in defense electronics applications that include radar

electronic warfare suites communications systems and data links

We supply many U.S Department of Defense prime contractors and

foreign allied defense organizations with products that enable mis

sile seekers and guidance systems aircraft sensors for tactical and

intelligence applications surveillance and reconnaissance mis

sions communications and self-protect capabilities for naval ves

sels sensors and communications capability on unmanned aerial

systems
and applications for mounted and dismounted land combat

troops
Facilities are located in Beverly Massachusetts and Chan

dler Arizona

Our Electronic Manufacturing Services solution set includes

customized- contract manufacturing services and products focused

on military and defense applications Services include the assembly

and testing of printed circuit boards electromechanical devices

customized integrated systems cables and wire harnesses Our

Electronic Manufacturing solutions are manufactured inAlbu

querque New Mexico

Our Microelectronics solution set headquartered in Redmond

Washington designs manufactures and sells custom miniature

hybrid electronic circuits for applications in commercial space

and military aerospace fiber optics and medical industries

The Aerospace Electronics segment employed approximately

3100 people and had assets of $472 million at December 31 2oo8

The order backlog totaled $418.4 million and $392.8 million at

December 31 2oo8 and 2007 respectively

Engineered Materials

The Engineered Materials segment is largely comprised of the

Crane Composites fiberglass-reinforced plastic panel business

The segment also includes the Polyflon business

Crane Composites manufactures fiberglass reinforced plastic

panels for the transportation industry in refrigerated and dry-van

trailers and truck bodies recreational vehicles RYs industrial

building applications and the commercial construction industry for

food processing restaurants and supermarket applications Crane

Composites sells the majority of its products directly to trailer and

recreational vehicle manufacturers and uses distributors and

retailers to serve the commercial construction market Crane

Composites manufacturing facilities are located in Channahon and

oliet Illinois Jonesboro Arkansas Grand Junction Tennessee

Florence and Henderson Kentucky Goshen Indiana and Aton

Hampshire United Kingdom

Noble Composites Inc Noble was acquired in September 2006

and during 2007 was integrated into Crane Composites Noble

specializes in the manufacture and sale of premium high-gloss

finished composite panels used by recreational vehicle manu

facturers Nobles manufacturing facility is located in Goshen

Indiana In September 2007 we acquired the composite panel

business of Owens Corning which produces high gloss fiberglass

reinforced plastic panels used by manufacturers of recreational

vehicles The acquired business was integrated into the Noble

business during 2008
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Polyflon is manufacturer of specialty components and materials

primarily microwave substrates utilized in antenna applications

Polyflon is located in Norwalk Connecticut

The Engineered Materials segment employed approximately oo
people and had assets of $271 million at December3i 2oo8 The

order backlog totaled $6.9 million and $14.8 million at

December 31 2oo8 and respectively

Merchandising Systems

The Merchandising Systems segment is divided into two groups

Vending Solutions and Payment Solutions both of which were sig

nificantly expanded in 2006 with our investment of over $2oo mil

lion for the acquisitions of four complementaiy businesses

Vending Solutions includes Dixie-Narco Inc Dixie-Narco and

Automatic Products International AP two businesses we

acquired in 2oo6 National Vendors GPL Stentorfield and

Streamware These businesses which are primarily engaged in the

design and manufacture of vending equipment and related sol

utions create customer value through innovation reliability

durability and reduced cost of ownership Our products are sold to

vending operators
and food and beverage companies throughout

the world Vending Solutions has leading positions in both the

direct and indirect distribution channels Streamware provides

vending management software to help customers operate their

businesses more profitably become more competitive and free

cash for continued business investment Major production facili

ties for Vending Solutions are located in St Louis Missouri Willi

ston South Carolina and Chippenham England

Payment Solutions includes National Rejectors Nh which

makes coin changers and validators and two businesses acquired in

2oo6 Telequip Corporation Telequip and CashCode Co Inc

CashCode With the acquisition of these two businesses Crane

is full-line supplier of high technology payment systems products

Nh is headquartered in Buxtehude Germany CashC ode is in

Concord Ontario Canada and Kiev Ukraine and Telequip is

located in Salem New Hampshire

The Merchandising Systems segment employed approximately

i8oo people and had assets of $302 million at December 31 2oo8

Order backlog totaled $23.4 million and $34.1 million at

December 31 2oo8 and 2007 respectively

Fluid Handling

The Fluid Handling segment consists of the Crane Valve Group

Valve Group Crane Pumps Systems and Crane Supply In

2007 the Valve Group aligned its business units as follows Crane

ChemPharma Flow Solutions Crane Energy Flow Solutions Build

ing Services Utilities formerly Crane Group UK and Crane

Valve Services This alignment provides greater
focus on the chem

ical pharmaceutical oil gas power building services and utilities

and nuclear power end markets

The Valve Group with manufacturing facilities in the United States

as well as operations in Australia Belgium Canada China Eng
land Finland France Germany Hungary India Indonesia Italy

Japan Korea Mexico the Netherlands Northern Ireland Singa

pore Slovenia Spain Sweden Taiwan United Arab Emirates and

Wales sells wide variety of industrial and commercial valves

corrosion-resistant plastic-lined pipe pipe fittings couplings

connectors and actuators and provides valve
testing parts and serv

ices for the chemical processing pharmaceutical oil and gas pow
er nuclear mining waste management general industrial and

commercial construction industries Products are sold under the

trade names Crane Saunders Jenkins Pacific Xomox Krombach

DEPA ELRO REVO Flowseal Centerline Stockham Wask Viking

Johnson Hattersley Nabic Sperryn Wade Rhodes Brownall

Resistoflex and Duochek

Friedrich Krombach GmbH Company KGArmaturenwerke and

Krombach International GinbH Kronibach were acquired in

December 2008 and will be integrated into our Crane Energy Flow

Solutions business unit Krombach manufactures specialty valve

flow solutions for the power oil and gas and chemical markets

which complement our product offering in our global power and

energy infrastructure business particularly for larger diameter

highly-engineered valves In addition to Kronibachs manufactur

ing and headquarters location in Germany Krombach currently has

foundry machining and assembly facilities in Slovenia and China

Delta Fluid Products Limited Delta was acquired in September

2008 and is being integrated into our Building Services Utilities

business unit Delta designs and manufactures products for the

natural gas and building services markets which are complementary

to Cranes Building Services Utilities product lines This acquis

ition will broaden our product offering and will strengthen our

existing business Deltas office and manufacturing operation is

located in St Helens England

Crane Pumps Systems manufactures pumps under the trade

names Deming Weinman Burks and Barnes Pumps are sold to

broad customer base that includes industrial municipal and

commercial water and wastewater commercial heating ventilation

and air-conditioning industries and original equipment manu
facturers and military applications Crane Pumps Systems has

facilities in Piqua Ohio Bramalea Ontario Canada and Zhejiang

China

Crane Supply distributor of valves fittings piping and plumbing

supplies maintains
32

distribution facilities throughout Canada

The Fluid Handling segment employed approximately 5700 people

and had assets of $889 million at December 31 2008 Order back

log totaled $302.7 million and $242.6 million at December 31 2008

and 2007 respectively

Controls

The Controls segment provides customer solutions for sensing and

control applications and has special expertise in control solutions

for difficult and hazardous environments It includes five busi

nesses Barksdale ride leveling air- suspension control valves

pressure temperature and level sensors Dynalco safe instru

ments and controls for industrial engine monitoring and

protection Azonix ultra-rugged computers mobile rugged dis

plays measurement and control systems and intelligent data

acquisition products Crane Environmental specialized water

purification solutions and Crane Wireless Monitoring Solutions

wireless sensor networks and covert radio products

The Controls segment employed approximately 500 people and had

assets of $83 million at December 31 2008 Order backlog totaled

$30.5 million and $35.3 million at December 31 2008 and 2007

respectively
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Acquisitions

We have completed acquisitions since the beginning of oo4

During oo8 we completed two acquisitions at total cost of $79

million in cash and the assumption of $z million of net debt Pre

liminary allocation of these purchase prices resulted in goodwill for

the 2oo8 acquisitions of $48 million

In December 2oo8 we acquired all of the capital stock of Friedrich

Krombach GmbH Company KGArmaturenwerke and Kroiubach

International GmbH both of Kreuztal Germany Krombach is

leading manufacturer of specialty valve flow solutions for the pow

er oil and gas and chemical markets Krombachs 2oo8 full
year

sales were approximately $100 million and the purchase price was

$51 million in cash and the assumption of $17 million of net debt

Kronibach is being integrated into our Fluid Handling segment

In September 2oo8 we acquired all of the capital stock of Delta

Fluid Products Limited leading designer and manufacturer of

regulators and fire safe valves for the gas industry and safety valves

and air vent valves for the building services market for $28 million

in cash Delta had full
year

sales of $39 million in 2oo8 and is being

integrated into our Fluid Handling segment

During 2007 we completed two acquisitions at total cost of $6
million Goodwill for the 2007 acquisitions amounted to $29 mil

lion

In September 2007 we acquired the composite panel business of

Owens Corning which produces among other products high gloss

fiberglass reinforced plastic panels used in the manufacture of

recreational vehicles The purchase price was $38 million in cash

The acquired business had $40 million of sales in 2006 and was

integrated into the Noble Composites business within our

Engineered Materials segment

In August 2007 we acquired the Mobile Rugged Business of Kon

tron America Inc MRB which produces computers elec

tronics and flat panel displays for harsh environment applications

The purchase price was $26.6 million The acquired business had

sales of $25 million in 2006 and was integrated into the Azonix

business within our Controls segment

During 2006 we completed five acquisitions at total cost of $283

million Goodwill for the 2006 acquisitions amounted to $148 mil

lion

In January2006 we acquired substantially all of the assets of Cash-

Code manufacturer of bill validators storage and recycling

devices for use in variety of niche applications in vending gam

ing retail and transportation industries for $86 million in cash

CashCode had sales of $48 million in 2005 CashCode is located in

Concord Ontario Canada and Kiev Ukraine serving global

marketplace with 75% of its sales outside the United States of

which the majority are in Europe and Russia CashCode was

integrated into our Merchandising Systems segment

In June 2006 we acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of

Telequip for cash purchase price of $45 million Telequip with

headquarters in Salem New Hampshire was manufacturing coin

dispensing solutions since 1974 Telequip provides embedded and

free-standing coin dispensing solutions principally focused on

applications in supermarkets convenience stores quick-service

restaurants and self-checkout and kiosk equipment markets Tele

quips coin dispensers have particularly strong position in auto

mated self-checkout markets Telequip had total annual sales of

$20 million in 2006 Telequip was integrated into our Merchandis

ing Systems segment

In June 2006 we acquired certain assets of AP privately held

manufacturer of vending equipment In September 2006 addi

tional assets of AP were acquired and second payment made for

total purchase price of $30 million The acquisition included APs

extensive distribution network product line designs and trade

names manufacturing equipment aftermarket parts business

inventory and other related assets The purchase did not include

APs manufacturing facility located in St Paul Minnesota AP

equipment production was consolidated into our Merchandising

Systems facility in St Louis Missouri AP had total annual sales of

$40 million in 2006

In September 2006 we acquired all the outstanding capital stock of

Noble for cash purchase price of $72 million Noble located in

Goshen Indiana specializes in the manufacture and sale of pre

mium high-gloss finished composite panels for use by recreational

vehicle manufacturers Noble had annual sales of $37 million in

2005 Noble was integrated into our Engineered Materials segment

In October 2006 we acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of

Dixie-Narco for purchase price of $46 million in cash Dixie

Narco is the largest can/bottle merchandising equipment manu

facturer in the world Dixie-Narcos customers are the major soft

drink companies in addition equipment is marketed to global

vending operators
Dixie-Narco had total annual sales of $155 mu

lion in 2006 Dixie-Narco was integrated into our Merchandising

Systems segment

During 2005 we completed two acquisitions at total cost of $9

million Goodwill for the 2005 acquisitions amounted to $5 million

During 2004 we completed two acquisitions ata total cost of $50

million Goodwill for the 2004 acquisitions amounted to $37 million

In January2004 we acquired P.L Porter Porter for purchase

price
of $44 million Porter is leading manufacturer of motion

control products for airline seating and was integrated into the Bur

bank California Aerospace facility Porter holds leading positions in

both electromechanical actuation and hydraulic/mechanical actua

tion for aircraft seating selling directly to seat manufacturers and to

the airlines Electrically powered seat actuation systems provide

motive power and control features required by premium class pas

sengers on competitive international routes Porter products not only

provide passenger
comfort with seat back and foot rest adjustment

but also control advanced features such as lumbar support and

in-seat massage In addition to seats installed in new aircraft air

lines refurbish and replace seating several times during an aircrafts

life along with maintenance and repair requirements Porters 2003

annual sales were $32 million The operations were integrated into

our Aerospace Electronics segment

Also in January 2004 we acquired the Hattersley valve brand and

business together with certain related intellectual
property

and

assets from Hattersley Newman Hender Ltd subsidiary of Tom
kins plc for purchase price of $6 million Hattersley branded

products include an array
of valves for commercial industrial and

institutional construction projects This business has been

integrated into Crane Ltd which is part of our Fluid Handling

segment
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Divestitu res

In December together with our partner Emerson Electric

Co we sold the Industrial Motion Control LLC 1MG joint ven

ture generating proceeds to us of $33 million Our investment in

IMC was $29 million and we recorded income in 2007 and 2oo6 of

$5.3 million and $5.6 million respectively

In April 2oo6 we completed the sale of the outstanding capital

stock of Westad IndustriAlS small specialty valve business

located in Norway This business had million in sales in 2oo5
Westad was included in our Fluid Handling segment In May 2oo6

we completed the sale of substantially all of the assets of

Resistoflex-Aerospace manufacturer of high-performance hose

and high-pressure fittings located in Jacksonville FL This busi

ness had sales of $i6 million in 2oo5 Resistoflex-Aerospace was

included in our Aerospace Electronics segment In December

2004 we sold the Victaulic trademark and UK-based business

assets for $15 million in an all cash transaction

Restructuring Activities

Recent disruptions in the credit markets and concerns about global

economic growth for industrial businesses have had significant

adverse impact on financial markets and to an extent our operat

ing results in 2oo8 For example our Engineered Materials busi

ness segment experienced significant declines in operating profit

when compared to This decline reflected substantially lower

sales to our traditional recreational vehicle customers driven

largely by the inability of consumers to obtain financing for RV

purchases Similarly declining vending machine demand resulting

from depressed conditions in the North American vending market

has put pressure on our operating margins within our Merchandis

ing Systems segment In our Fluid Handling segment sales were

adversely impacted during the second half of 20o8 by slowing

orders from short-cycle North American businesses where we

generally deliver product within 90 days after order receipt and

delays of several large valve projects into 2009 In order to align our

cost base to current market conditions during the fourth quarter of

2oo8 we initiated broad-based restructuring program that

included facility consolidations severance and other related costs

the Restructuring Program resulting in
pre -tax charge of

$40.7 million We
expect to incur additional restructuring charges

of approximately $10.7 million during 2009 in connection with this

program total pre-tax charges upon program completion of

approximately $51.4 million

During the fourth
quarter

of 2007 we commenced implementation

of restructuring program designed to further enhance operating

margins in the Fluid Handling segment The planned actions

included ceasing the manufacture of malleable iron and bronze fit

tings at our foundry operating facilities in the UK and Canada

respectively and exiting both facilities and transferring production

to China the Foundry Restructuring In December 2007 pur
suant to this program we sold our foundry facility in the UK gen

erating pre-tax gain of $28 million As of December 31 2008 we

have recognized $ii million inpre-tax charges in connection with

this program and we expect to incur total pre-tax charges upon

program completion of approximately $14 million

For additional segment level information related to restructuring

activities you should refer to the information set forth under the

caption Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations in Part II Item of this

report as well as in Part II Item under Note Restructuring

to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Competitive Conditions

Our lines of business are conducted under highly competitive con

ditions in each of the geographic and product areas they serve

Because of the diversity of the classes of products manufactured and

sold they do not compete with the same companies in all geo

graphic or product areas Accordingly it is not possible to estimate

the precise number of competitors or to identify our competitive

position although we believe that we are principal competitor in

most of our markets Our principal method of competition is pro
duction of quality products at competitive prices in timely and

efficient manner

Our products have primary application in the
aerospace

defense

electronics recreational vehicle transportation automated mer

chandising petrochemical chemical and power generation

industries As such our revenues are dependent upon numerous

unpredictable factors including changes in market demand gen
eral economic conditions and capital spending Because these

products are also sold in wide variety of markets and applications

we do not believe we can reliably quantify or predict the possible

effects upon our business resulting from such changes

Our engineering and product development activities are directed

primarily toward improvement of existing products and adaptation

of existing products to particular customer requirements as well as

the development of new products While we own numerous patents

trademarks copyrights trade secrets and licenses to intellectual

property none are of such importance that termination would

materially affect our business From time to time however we do

engage in litigation to protect our intellectual property

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed when incurred

These costs were $153.4 million $io6.8 million and $69.7 million

in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively and were incurred primarily

by the Aerospace Electronics segment Funds received from

customer-sponsored research and development projects were

million $8.4 million and $8.8 million in 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively and were recorded in net sales

Our Customers

No customer accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated

revenues in 2008 2007 or 2006

Raw Materials

Our manufacturing operations employ wide variety of raw materi

als including steel copper cast iron electronic components

aluminum plastics and various petroleum-based products We

purchase raw materials from large number of independent sour

ces around the world Although market forces have generally caused

increases in the costs of steel and petroleum-based products there

have been no raw materials shortages that have had material

adverse impact on our business and we believe that we will gen

erally be able to obtain adequate supplies of major raw material

requirements or reasonable substitutes at reasonable costs
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Seasonal Nature of Business

Our business does not experience significant seasonality

Government Contracts

We have agreements relating to the sale of products to government

entities primarily involving products in ourAerospace Elec

tronics business segment and our Fluid Handling business seg
ment As result we are subject to various statutes and regulations

that apply to companies doing business with the government The

laws and regulations governing government contracts differ from

those governing private contracts For example many government

contracts require disclosure of cost and pricing data and impose

certain sourcing conditions that are not applicable to private con

tracts Our failure to comply with these laws could result in

suspension of these contracts criminal or civil sanctions admin

istrative penalties and fines or suspension or debarment from

government contracting or subcontracting for period of time For

example as previously disclosed we sold certain valves made by

our Fluid Handling segment to private customers that ultimately

were delivered to U.S military agencies which did not conform to

certain contractual specifications relating to the place of manu

facture and the origin of component parts Subsequent to U.S

Government investigation in July 2oo7 we executed settlement

agreement with the Department of Justice providing for among

other things the payment of $7.6 million to the United States For

further discussion of risks related to compliance with government

contracting requirements please refer to Item iA Risk Factors

See Part Item Legal Proceedings regarding certain costs of

compliance with federal state and local laws and regulations

involving the discharge of materials into the environment or

otherwise relating to the protection of the environment

Financing

In September oo7 we entered into five-year $300 million

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement the facility This

facility amended and restated the five-year $450 million revolving

credit agreement entered into on January oo5 the $150 million

term loan component of which was terminated by us in May oo5
The facility allows us to borrow repay or to the extent permitted by

the agreement prepay and re-borrow at any time prior to the stated

maturity date and the loan proceeds may be used for general

corporate purposes including financing for acquisitions The

original facility was amended and restated to capitalize on favorable

bank market conditions and to extend the maturity of the facility

The facility was not drawn upon throughout 2oo8 OO7 and oo6
The facility contains customary affirmative and negative covenants

for credit facilities of this type including the absence of material

adverse effect and limitations on the Company and its subsidiaries

with respect to indebtedness liens mergers consolidations

liquidations and dissolutions sales of all or substantially all assets

transactions with affiliates and hedging arrangements The facility

also provides for customary events of default including failure to

pay principal interest or fees when due failure to comply with

covenants the fact that
any representation or warranty made by us

is false in any material respect default under certain other

indebtedness certain insolvency or receivership events affecting us

and our subsidiaries certain ERISA events material judgments and

change in control In December oo8 we executed Amendment

No to the facility for the
purpose

of removing representation

regarding our pension liability and to amend certain other terms

The agreement contains leverage ratio covenant requiring ratio

of total debt to total capitalization of less than or equal to 65% At

December 31 oo8 our ratio was 36%

In November oo6 we issued notes having an aggregate principal

amount of $oo million The notes are unsecured senior obliga

tions that mature on November o36 and bear interest at

6.55% per annum payable semi-annually on May and

November of each year The notes have no sinking fund

requirement but may be redeemed inwhole or part at our option

If there is change in control and if as consequence the notes are

rated below investment grade by both Moodys Investors Service

and Standard Poors then holders of the Notes may require us to

repurchase them inwhole or in
part

for ioi% of the principal

amount plus accrued and unpaid interest

In September oo3 we issued $oo million of 5.50% notes that

mature on September 15 o13 The notes are unsecured senior

obligations with interest payable semi-annually on March
15

and

September of eachyear The notes have no sinking fund

requirement but may be redeemed in whole or in
part

at our

option

Available Information

We make available free of charge through our Internet website our

annual reports on Form io-K quarterly reports on Form io-Q

current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those

reports
filed or furnished

pursuant to Section 13a or id of the

Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such

material electronically with or furnishing such material to the U.S

Securities and Exchange Commission Also posted on our website

and available in print upon the
request

of
any

shareholder to our

Investor Relations Department are our Corporate Governance

Guidelines Standards for Director Independence the Summary of

the Board of Directors Committees the charters of each of the

Audit Committee the Management Organization and Compensa

tion Committee and the Nominating and Governance Committee

and the Crane Co Code of Ethics These items are available in the

Investors Corporate Governance section of our website at

www.craneco.com The content of our website is not part of this

report
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

Executive

Name Position Business Experience During Past Five Years Age Officer Since

Eric Fast President and President and Chief Executive Officer and Director 59 1999

Chief Executive of the Company since April 2ool President and Chief

Officer Operating Officer from September 1999
to April ooi

David Bender Group President Electronics Group of Crane Aerospace Electronics 49 2007

President segment of the Company since December oo5 Vice President

Electronics Operations Aerojet General Corporation division of GenCorp

from 2004 to 2005 Executive Vice President GDXAutomotive

division of GenCorp from 2003 to

ThomasJ Craney Group Group President Engineered Materials segment of the Company since 2007

President May 2007 From 1979 to 2007 with Owens Corning most recently

Engineered Vice President of Sales North American Building Materials from 2oo5

Materials to 2007 and Vice President General Manager Commercial and

Industrial Insulation business from 2000 to 2005

Augustus duPont Vice President Vice President General Counsel and Secretary 57 1996

General Counsel of the Company since 1996

and Secretary

Bradley Ellis Group President Group President Crane Merchandising Systems segment of the 40 2000

Crane Company since December 2003

Merchandising

Systems

Elise Kopczick Vice President Vice President Human Resources of the Company since January 2001 55 2001

Human Resources

Andrew Krawitt Vice President Vice President Treasurer of the Company since September 2006 43 2006

Treasurer From 1998 to 2006 with PepsiCo most recently Director Financial

Planning Analysis from May 2005 to September 2006 Region

Finance Director FritoLay Division from January2003 to May 2005

TimothyJ MacCarrick Vice President Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer of the Company 43 2008

Finance and Chief since July 2008 Corporate Vice President and Vice President

Financial Officer Finance Xerox North America from 2oo6 to July 2008 Chief

Financial Officer Xerox Europe from 2003 to 2006

Richard Maue Vice President Vice President Controller and Chief Accounting Officer of the 38 2007

Controller Company since August 2007 Vice President Controller and Chief

Accounting Officer of Paxar Corporation from July 2005 to August

2007 Director Internal Audit Practice at Protiviti Inc from June

2003 to July 2005

Max Mitchell Group President Group President Fluid Handling segment of the Company since April 44 2004

Fluid Handling 2oo5 Vice President Operational Excellence of the Company from

March 2004 to April 2005 From 2001 to 2004 Senior Vice President

of Global Operations for the Pentair Tool Group

Thomas Noonan Vice President Vice President Taxes of the Company since November 2001 54 1999

Taxes
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Executive

Name Position Business Experience During Past Five Years Age Officer Since

Anthony Pantaleonj Vice President Vice President Environment Health and Safety 54 1989

Environment of the Company since 1989

Health and Safety

ThomasJ Perlitz Vice President Vice President Operational Excellence of the Company since 40 2005

Operational September 2005 acting Group President Crane Controls since

Excellence October 2oo8 From
1995 to 2005 with subsidiaries of Danaher Corp

and Acting Group manufacturer of instrumentation tools and components most

President recently Vice President Global Marketing and Engineering-Imaging

Controls of KaVo Dental Lake Zurich IL dental imaging products from

August 2004 to August 2005 Director of Worldwide Service Fluke

Corporation Everett WA electronic and electrical test tools from

February 2002 to August 2004

Curtis Robb Vice President Vice President Business Development and Strategic Planning of the 2005
Business Company since June 2oo5 From 2003 to 2oo5 founder and Managing

Development and Director of Robb Associates LLP financial advisory services

Strategic Planning

GregoryA Ward Group President President Aerospace Group of Crane Aerospace Electronics 2007

Aerospace segment of the Company since December 2002
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item 1A Risk Factors

The following is description of what we consider the key chal

lenges and risks confronting our business This discussion should

he considered in conjunction with the discussion under the caption

ForwardLooking Information preceding Part the information

set forth under Item Business and with the discussion of the

business included in Item Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations These

risks comprise the material risks of which we are aware however

these risks and uncertainties may not be the only ones we face

Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that

we currently deem to be immaterial also may adversely affect our

business or financial performance If
any

of the events or

developments described below or elsewhere in this Annual Report

on Form io-K or in any documents that we subsequently file pub

licly were to occur it could have material adverse effect on our

business financial condition or results of operations

Risks Relating to Our Business

We are subject to numerous lawsuits for asbestos-related personal

injury and costs associated with these lawsuits may adversely affect

our results of operations cash flow and financial position

We are subject to numerous lawsuits for asbestos-related personal

injury Estimation of our ultimate exposure
for asbestos-related

claims is subject to significant uncertainties as there are multiple

variables that can affect the timing severity and quantity of claims

Our estimate of the future expense of these claims is derived from

assumptions with respect to future claims settlement and defense

costs which are based on experience during the last few
years

and

which may not
prove

reliable as predictors significant upward or

downward trend in the number of claims filed depending on the

nature of the alleged injury the jurisdiction where filed and the

quality of the product identification or significant upward or

downward trend in the costs of defending claims could change the

estimated liability as would any substantial adverse verdict at trial

or on appeal legislative solution or revised structured settle

ment transaction could also change the estimated liability These

uncertainties may result in our incurring
future charges or

increases to income to adjust the carrying
value of recorded

liabilities and assets particularly if the number of claims and

settlements and defense costs escalates or if legislation or another

alternative solution is implemented however we are currently

unable to predict such future events The resolution of these claims

may take many years and the effect on results of operations cash

flow and financial position in any given period from revision to

these estimates could be material

As of December 31 2oo8 we were one of number of defendants in

cases involving approximately 75000 pending claims filed invari

ous state and federal courts that allege injuryor death as result of

exposure
to asbestos See Note io of the Notes to our Consolidated

Financial Statements for additional information on

Our pending claims

Our historical settlement and defense costs for asbestos

claims

The liability we have recorded in our financial statements for

pending and reasonably anticipated asbestos claims through

2017

The asset we have recorded in our financial statements related

to our estimated insurance coverage
for asbestos claims and

Uncertainties related to our net asbestos liability

We have recorded liability for pending and reasonably anticipated

asbestos claims through 2017 and while it is probable that we will

incur additional liabilities for asbestos claims after 2017 which

additional liabilities maybe significant we cannot reasonably

estimate the amount of such additional liabilities at this time In the

third quarter 2007 we updated and extended the estimate of our

asbestos liability and recorded an additional pre-tax provision of

approximately $390 million which includes corresponding

insurance receivable

Current economic conditions may harm our business results of oper

ations and stock price

During 2008 the U.S and global economies slowed dramatically as

result of variety of problems including turmoil in the credit and

financial markets concerns regarding the stability and viability of

major financial institutions the state of the housing markets and vola

tility
in fuel prices and worldwide stock markets Given the significance

and widespread nature of these nearly unprecedented circumstances

the U.S and global economies could remain significantly challenged in

recessionary state for an indeterminate period of time While cur

rentlythese conditions have not impaired our ability to access credit

markets and finance our operations there can be no assurance that

there will not be further deterioration in financial markets and con

fidence in major
economies In addition the current tightening of

credit in financial markets adversely affects the ability of our customers

to obtain financing for significant purchases and operations and could

result in decrease in or cancellation of orders for our products and

services as well as impact the ability of our customers to make pay

ments Similarly this tightening of credit may adversely affect our

supplier base and increase the potential for one or more of our suppli

ers to experience financial distress or bankruptcy These conditions

would harm our business by adversely affecting our revenues results of

operations cash flows and financial condition During 2008 our

Engineered Materials business segment experienced significant

declines in operating profit when compared to 2007 This decline

reflected substantially lower sales to our traditional recreational vehicle

customers driven largely by the inability of consumers to obtain

financing for RVpurchases Similarly declining vending machine

demand resulting from depressed conditions in the NorthAmerican

vending market has put pressure on our operating margins within our

Merchandising segment In our Fluid Handling segment sales were

adversely impacted during the second half of 2008 by slowing orders

from short-cycle North American businesses and delays of several

large valve projects into 2009

As of December 31 2008 we had $8oo million of goodwill and

intangible assets with indefinite lives The aforementioned dis

ruptions in the credit markets and concerns about global economic

growth have impacted our operating results which has contributed

to decline in our stock price and corresponding market capital

ization As of December 31 2008 there was no impairment of these

assets However potential further or sustained declines in our

stock price and market capitalization reduced future cash flow

estimates within specific businesses and slower growth rates in

our target
markets are all factors that may indicate that the carrying

value of our goodwill and other long-lived assets may not be

recoverable and accordingly could result in material noncash

impairment charges at some point in the future

11
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Our operations expose us to the risk of environmental liabilities

costs litigation and violations that could adversely affect our

financial condition results of operations cash flow and reputation

Our operations are subject to environmental laws and regulations

in the jurisdictions in which they operate which impose limitations

on the discharge of pollutants into the ground air and water and

establish standards for the generation treatment use storage and

disposal of solid and hazardous wastes We must also comply with

various health and safety regulations in the United States and

abroad in connection with our operations We cannot assure you
that we have been or will be at all times in substantial compliance

with environmental and health and safety laws Failure to comply

with
any

of these laws could result in civil and criminal monetary

and non-monetary penalties and damage to our reputation In

addition we cannot provide assurance that our costs related to

remedial efforts or alleged environmental damage associated with

past or current waste disposal practices or other hazardous materi

als handling practices will not exceed our estimates or adversely

affect our financial condition results of operations and cash flow

For example during oo8 and we recorded charges of $4
million and $19 million respectively related to increases in our

expected liability at our Goodyear Arizona Superfund site pursuant

to continuing changes in site conditions

Our businesses are subject to extensive governmental regulation

failure to comply with those regulations could adversely affect our

financial condition results of operations cash flow and reputation

Primarily in our Aerospace Electronics and Fluid Handling seg

ments we are required to complywithvarious export control laws

which may affect our transactions with certain customers In cer

tain circumstances export control and economic sanctions regu
lations may prohibit the export of certain products services and

technologies and in other circumstances we may be required to

obtain an export license before exporting the controlled item We

are also subject to investigation and audit for compliance with the

requirements governing government contracts including

requirements related to procurement integrity export control

employment practices the accuracy of records and the recording of

costs failure to comply with these requirements might result in

suspension of these contracts and suspension or debarment from

government contracting or subcontracting In addition failure to

comply with
any of these regulations could result in civil and

criminal monetary and non-monetary penalties fines disruptions

to our business limitations on our ability to export products and

services and damage to our reputation For example in the oo
third

quarter we recorded $7.6 million charge related to civil

false claims proceeding by the U.S Government See the Civil False

Claims Settlement section under Item

Pension
expense associated with the Companys retirement benefit

plans may fluctuate significantly depending upon changes in actua

rial assumptions and future market performance of plan assets

significant portion of our current and retired employee pop
ulation is covered by pension and post-retirement benefit plans

the costs of which are dependent upon various assumptions

including estimates of rates of return on benefit related assets

discount rates for future payment obligations rates of future cost

growth and trends for future costs In addition funding require

ments for benefit obligations of our pension and post-retirement

benefit plans are subject to legislative and other government regu

latory actions Variances from these estimates could have sig

nificant impact on our consolidated financial position results of

operations and cash flows Recent volatility in the financial mar
kets has resulted in lower than expected returns on our pension

plan assets Currently we expect $19 million increase in our

estimated OO9 pension expense when compared to oo8
Demand for our products is variable and subject to factors beyond

our control which could result in unanticipated events significantly

impacting our results of operations

substantial portion of our sales is concentrated in industries that

are cyclical in nature or subject to market conditions which may

cause customers demand for our products to be volatile These

industries often are subject to fluctuations in domestic and

international economies as well as to currency fluctuations and

inflationary pressures Reductions in the business levels of these

industries would reduce the sales and profitability of the affected

business segments InourAerospace Electronics segment for

example significant decline in demand for air travel or decline

in airline profitability generally could result in reduced orders for

aircraft and could also cause airlines to reduce their purchases of

repair parts from our businesses Our
aerospace

businesses could

also be impacted to the extent that major aircraft manufacturers

such as Boeing which represented 11% of the segments revenue in

oo8 encountered production problems or if pricing pressure

from aircraft customers caused the manufacturers to
press

their

suppliers to lower prices In our Engineered Materials segment

sales and profits have been and will continue to be affected by

declines in demand for truck trailers RVs or building products

Results in our Controls segment could decline because of an

unanticipated decline in demand for the businesses products from

the oil and gas or heavy truck markets or from unforeseen product

obsolescence Results at our Merchandising Systems business have

been and will continue to be affected by employment levels office

occupancy rates and factors affecting vending operator profitability

such as fuel confection and borrowing costs

We may be unable to improve productivity reduce costs and align

manufacturing capacity with customer demand

We are committed to continuous productivity improvement and

continue to evaluate opportunities to reduce costs simplify or

improve global processes and increase the reliability of order ful

fillment and satisfaction of customer needs During the fourth

quarter oo8 we initiated broad-based
restructuring actions to

align our cost base to current market conditions which include

facility consolidations headcount reductions and other related cost

reduction activities which is described in Managements Dis

cussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Oper
ations in Part II Item of this report and under Note 15

Restructuring to the Consolidated Financial Statements The

Restructuring Program presents organizational challenges partic

ularly with
respect to planned facility consolidation activities We

cannot provide assurance that

The Restructuring Program will be implemented in

accordance with the planned timetable

The actual charges incurred will not exceed the estimated

charges or

The full extent of the expected savings will be realized

If the actual levels of savings achieved from our cost reduction

measures are less than our current estimates and if
any

unanticipated operational inefficiencies result from the

Restructuring Program our profitability would be adversely
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affected In addition our failure to continue to anticipate further

changes in global demand for our products and services and align

our cost base accordingly would adversely affect our ability to

achieve
necessary cost savings in timely manner

We may be unable to successfully develop and introduce new prod

ucts which would limit our ability to grow and maintain our com

petitive position and adversely affect our financial condition

results of operations and cash flow

Our growth depends in part on continued sales of existing prod

ucts as well as the successful development and introduction of new

products which face the uncertainty of customer acceptance and

reaction from competitors In our Aerospace Electronics seg

ment for example if we are unable to successfully develop fund

and deliver new products for the Boeing 787 and the Airbus AijooM

our operating results would be adversely impacted Also any delay

in the development or launch of new product could result in our

not being the first to market which could compromise our com

petitive position Further the development and introduction of

new products may require us to make investments in specialized

personnel and capital expenditures increase marketing efforts and

reallocate resources away from other uses We also may need to

modify our systems and strategy in light of new products that we

develop If we are unable to develop and introduce new products in

cost-effective manner or otherwise manage effectively the oper
ations related to new products our results of operations and finan

cial condition could be adversely impacted

The prices of our raw materials can fluctuate dramatically which

may adversely affect our profitability

The costs of certain raw materials that are critical to our profit

ability are volatile This volatility can have significant impact on

our profitability In our Engineered Materials segment for exam

ple profits could be adversely affected by unanticipated increases

in resin and fiberglass material costs and by the inability on the part

of the businesses to maintain their position in product cost and

functionality against competing materials The costs in our Fluid

Handling and Merchandising Systems segments similarly are

affected by fluctuations in the price of metals such as steel While

we have taken initiatives aimed at securing an adequate supply of

raw materials at prices which are favorable to us if the prices of

critical raw materials increase our operating costs could be neg

atively affected

Our ability to obtain parts and raw materials from our suppliers is

uncertain and any disruptions or delays in our supply chain could

negatively affect our results of operations

Our operations require significant amounts of important parts and

raw materials We are engaged in continuous company-wide

effort to concentrate our purchases of
parts

and raw materials on

fewer suppliers and to obtain parts from suppliers in low-cost

countries where possible As this effort progresses we are exposed

to an increased risk of disruptions to our supply chain which could

have significant effect on our operating results In addition if we

are unable to procure these parts or raw materials our operations

may be disrupted or we could experience delay or halt in certain

of our manufacturing operations We believe that our supply man

agement and production practices are based on an appropriate

balancing of the foreseeable risk and the costs of alternative

practices Nonetheless supplier capacity constraints supplier

production disruptions supplier financial condition price vola

tility or the unavailability of some raw materials may have an

adverse effect on our operating results or financial condition

We may be unable to identify or to complete acquisitions or to

successfully integrate the businesses we acquire

We have evaluated and expect to continue to evaluate wide array

of potential acquisition transactions Our acquisition program

attempts to address the potential risks inherent in assessing the

value strengths weaknesses contingent or other liabilities sys

tems of internal controls and potential profitability of acquisition

candidates as well as other challenges such as retaining the

employees and integrating the operations of the businesses we

acquire Integrating acquired operations involves significant risks

and uncertainties including

Maintenance of uniform standards controls policies and

procedures

Distraction of managements attention from normal business

operations during the integration process

Expenses associated with the integration efforts and

Unidentified issues not discovered in the due diligence

process including legal contingencies

There can be no assurance that suitable acquisition opportunities

will be available in the future that we will continue to acquire

businesses or that
any

business acquired will be integrated

successfully or prove profitable which could adversely impact our

growth rate Our ability to achieve our growth goals depends in part

upon our ability to identify and successfully acquire
and integrate

companies and businesses at appropriate prices and realize antici

pated cost savings In addition changes in accounting or regulatory

requirements could also adversely impact our ability to con

summate acquisitions

We face significant competition which may adversely impact our

results of operations and financial position in the future

While we are principal competitor in most of our markets all of

our markets are highly competitive Our competitors in many of our

business
segments can be expected in the future to improve tech

nologies reduce costs and develop and introduce new products

and the ability of our business segments to achieve similar advances

will be important to our competitive positions Competitive pres

sures including those discussed above could cause one or more of

our business segments to lose market share or could result in sig

nificant price erosion either of which could have an adverse effect

on our results of operations

We conduct substantial portion of our business outside the United

States and face risks inherent in non-domestic operations

Net sales and assets related to our operations outside the United

States were 39.8% and 32.3% in aoo8 and 37.8% and 33.3% in

2007 respectively of our consolidated amounts These operations

and transactions are subject to the risks associated with conducting

business internationally including the risks of currency
fluctua

tions slower payment of invoices adverse trade regulations and

possible social economic and political instability in the countries

and regions in which we operate

We are dependent on key personnel and we may not be able to

retain our key personnel or hire and retain additional personnel

needed for us to sustain and grow our business as planned

Certain of our business segments and corporate
offices are depend

ent upon highly qualified personnel and we generally are depend

13
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ent upon the continued efforts of key management employees We

may have difficulty retaining such personnel or locating and hiring

additional qualified personnel The loss of the services of any of our

key personnel many of whom are not party to employment agree

ments with us or our failure to attract and retain other qualified

and experienced personnel on acceptable terms could impair our

ability to successfully sustain and grow our business which could

impact our results of operations in materially adverse manner

If our internal controls are found to be ineffective our financial

results or our stock price may be adversely affected

Our most recent evaluation resulted in our conclusion that as of

December 31 2oo8 in compliance with Section 404 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2oo2 our internal control over financial

reporting was effective We believe that we currently have adequate

internal control procedures in place for future periods however

increased risk of internal control breakdowns generally exists in

business environment that is decentralized If our internal control

over financial reporting is found to be ineffective investors may

lose confidence in the reliability of our financial statements which

may adversely affect our financial results or our stock price

Specific Risks Relating to Our Business Segments

The macroeconomic climate represents one of the most significant

risks for 2009 and could cause our customers across our business

segments to delay forego or reduce the amount of their invest

ments in our products or delay payments of amounts due to us In

addition declines in foreign currency exchange rates primarily the

14 euro the British pound or the Canadian dollar could adversely

affect our reported results primarily in our Fluid Handling and

Merchandising Systems segments as amounts earned in other

countries are translated into U.S dollars for reporting purposes

Aerospace Electronics

Volatile fuel prices and generally weaker economy continue to

adversely impact the commercial
aerospace industry as some larger

domestic airline carriers have implemented plans to reduce service

and
capacity including retiring their older and less fuel efficient

aircraft and
cutting payroll costs while several smaller carriers

have either declared bankruptcy or shut down altogether Lower

levels of air travel or decline in airline profitability generally

could result in reduced aircraft orders and could also cause the

airlines to scale back on more of their purchases of higher margin

repair parts from our businesses Our businesses could also be

impacted to the extent that major aircraft manufacturers such as

Boeing which represented 110/0 and 13% of the segments revenue

in 2008 and 2007 respectively encounter production problems

or if pricing pressure from aircraft customers causes the

manufacturers to press their suppliers to lower prices Our sales

and profits could also face erosion if pricing pressure from

competitors increased if finding new aerospace-qualified

suppliers grew more difficult if required technical personnel

became harder to hire and retain or if we are unable to achieve

targeted cost savings in connection with the Restructuring Program

and other cost reduction initiatives In addition if planned new

products were delayed notably the Boeing 787 Dreamliner for

which we continue to incur substantial engineering expenses for

the development of the aircrafts brake control systems our results

of operations and cash flows would be negatively affected In this

regard during the second quarter of 2009 we expect to complete

development of the brake control system for the Boeing 787 that

meets the originally specified requirements although engineering

efforts at reduced levels will be needed to support test flights

However Boeing has communicated certain changed aircraft

requirements that affect the brake control system and we have

recently entered into discussions with our customer GE Aviation

Systems regarding development of new version of the 787 brake

control system including whether this additional development

work will be funded by the customer Although it is our position

that we are not required to undertake this additional development

work without customer funding if such customer funding is not

obtained and we are required to develop new version of the brake

control system it would have significant impact on our results of

operations and cash flows

portion of this segments business is conducted under U.S gov
ernment contracts and subcontracts These contracts are either

competitively bid or sole source contracts Competitively bid con

tracts are awarded after formal bid and proposal competition

among suppliers Sole source contracts are awarded when single

contractor is deemed to have an expertise or technology that is

superior to that of competing contractors reduction in Congres

sional appropriations that affect defense spending or the ability of

the U.S government to terminate our contracts could impact the

performance of this business

In addition we are required to comply with various export control

laws which may affect our transactions with certain customers In

certain circumstances export control and economic sanctions

regulations may prohibit the
export of certain products services

and technologies and in other circumstances we maybe required to

obtain an export license before exporting the controlled item

failure to comply with these requirements might result in suspen

sion of these contracts and suspension or debarment from

government contracting or subcontracting Failure to comply with

any of these regulations could result in civil and criminal monetary

and non-monetary penalties fines disruptions to our business

limitations on our ability export products and services and damage

to our reputation

Engineered Materials

In our Engineered Materials segment sales and profits could

continue to fall if there are further declines in demand for truck

trailers recreational vehicles and building products for which our

businesses produce fiberglass-reinforced panels We experienced

continued declines in RV orders through 2008 as the RV industry

continued to sharply curtail production in
response to fall-off in

demand from their customers The industry attributes this

downturn to the lack of credit available to consumers generally

weak consumer confidence and to lesser extent higher gas prices

and inventory reductions on dealer lots While the short term is

uncertain in the longer term the demographic fundamentals

continue to be positive for the growth of RV sales Profits could also

be adversely affected by unanticipated increases in resin and

fiberglass material costs by the loss of principal supplier or by

any inability on the
part

of the businesses to maintain their product

cost and functionality advantages when compared to competing

materials as well as by our failure to achieve targeted cost savings

in connection with the Restructuring Program and other cost

reduction initiatives furthermore any unanticipated operational

inefficiencies resulting from consolidation activities pursuant to
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the Restructuring Program would also adversely affect our

profitability

We have been defending two separate lawsuits brought by custom

ers alleging failure of our fiberglass-reinforced plastic material in

recreational vehicle sidewalls manufactured by such customers

The first lawsuit went to trial in January 2oo8 resulting in an award

of $3.2 million in
compensatory damages on two out of seven

claims The Court denied the plaintiffs claim for additional post-

trial equitable relief and entered final judgment which included

prejudgment interest of approximately $o.6 million The total

award of $3.8 million was paid in mid-2oo8 and the plaintiff has

waived its right to an appeal

The other lawsuit went to trial in mid-January of 2009 solely on the

issue of liability and on January 27 the juryreturned verdict of

liability against the Company The next phase of the trial to be

scheduled in the fall of 2oo9 will determine damages The

aggregate damages sought in this lawsuit include approximately

$9.5 million in repair costs allegedly incurred by the plaintiffs as

well as approximately $55 million in other consequential losses

such as discounts and other incentives paid to induce sales lost

market share and lost profits The Company will actively explore its

appellate options with view toward overturning this verdict and

will vigorously defend itself against the damages sought The Com

pany is in discussions with its insurers regarding coverage for this

liability

We are also defending series of five separate lawsuits which have

now been consolidated revolving around fire that occurred in

May 2003 at chicken processing plant located near Atlanta Geor

gia that destroyed the plant The aggregate damages demanded by

the plaintiff are in excess of $50 million These lawsuits contend

that certain fiberglass-reinforced plastic material manufactured by

us that was installed inside the plant was unsafe in that it acted as an

accelerant causing the fire to spread rapidly resulting in the total

loss of the plant and property The suits are in the early stages of

pre-trial discovery and we believe that we have valid defenses to the

underlying claims raised in these lawsuits We have given notice of

these lawsuits to our insurance carriers and will seek coverage for

any resulting losses Based on our review of coverage however we

have determined that we are facing potential $25 million gap in

insurance coverage
for the layer of insurance which would have

provided protection
for losses above $25 million but below $50

million We have initiated certain actions aimed at closing the gap

in insurance coverage
If the plaintiffs in these lawsuits were to

prevail at trial and be awarded the full extent of their claimed dam

ages
and the

gap
in

coverage was not closed the resulting liability

could have significant impact on our results of operations and

cash flows in the periods affected

Merchandising Systems

Results at our businesses could be reduced by continued

unfavorable economic conditions including lower demand for our

products and services inflation and continued increases in fuel

costs In addition delays in launching or supplying new products or

an inability to achieve new product sales objectives unfavorable

changes in gaming regulations affecting certain of our Payment

Solutions customers as well as by our failure to achieve targeted

cost savings in connection with the Restructuring Program and

other cost reduction initiatives would adversely affect our

profitability furthermore any unanticipated operational

inefficiencies resulting from consolidation activities pursuant to

the Restructuring Program would also adversely affect our

profitability Results at our foreign locations have been and will

continue to be affected by fluctuations in the value of the euro the

British pound and the Canadian dollar versus the U.S dollar

Fluid Handling

Our businesses could face increased price competition from larger

competitors Slowing of the economy or major markets could

reduce sales and profits particularly if projects for which these

businesses are suppliers or bidders are cancelled or delayed

During the second half of 2008 we experienced slowing orders

from short-cycle North American businesses as well as delays of

several large valve projects into 2009 Continued weakness in

short-cycle North American businesses and/or further delays in

large valve projects may put
further

pressure on operating margins

in the Fluid Handling segment In addition to the extent we do not

achieve targeted cost savings in connection with the Restructuring

Program and other cost reduction initiatives our operating results

would be adversely affected At our foreign operations reported

results in U.S dollar terms could be eroded by weakening of

currency of the respective businesses particularly where we

operate using the euro and British pound

The Company made two acquisitions in its Fluid Handling segment

in 2008 manufacturer of specialty valve flow solutions for the

power oil and gas and chemical markets and manufacturer of

regulators and fire safe valves for the
gas industry and safety valves

and air vent valves for the building services market The results of

this segment could be adversely affected if unexpected problems

are experienced in the integration of these businesses

Controls

number of factors could affect our Controls segments results

Lower sales and earnings could result if our businesses cannot

maintain their cost competitiveness encounter delays in

introducing new products or fail to achieve their new product sales

objectives Results could decline because of an unanticipated

decline in demand for the businesses products from the industrial

machinery oil and
gas or heavy equipment industries or from

unforeseen product obsolescence portion of this segments

business is subject to government rules and regulations Failure to

comply with these requirements might result in suspension or

debarment from government contracting or subcontracting Failure

to comply with any of these regulations could result in civil and

criminal monetary and non-monetary penalties disruptions to our

business limitations on our ability export products and services

and damage to our reputation

item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None
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Item Properties

Total Manufacturing Facilities

Aerospace Electronics

United States

International

Engineered Materials

United States

International

Merchandising Systems

United States

International

Fluid Handling

United States

International

Controls

United States

International

26

831000

76000

968000

31000

1073000

179000

887000

3639000

237000

27000

Lease Expiring

Leased Manufacturing Facilities Tbrough Number Area sqft

United States 2015 14 595000

International 2020 17 1585000

i6

Other Facilities

Aerospace Electronics operates three leased service centers in

the United States This segment also operates two leased dis

tribution centers outside the United States

Engineered Materials operates four distribution centers in the

United States of which three are leased This segment also oper
ates one leased service center in the United States

Merchandising Systems operates four service centers three in the

United States of which two are leased and one outside the United

States which is leased This segment also operates eleven dis

tribution centers four in the United States of which three are

leased and seven outside the United States of which six are

leased

Fluid Handling operates 34 service centers five in the United

States of which four are leased and outside the United States

of which are leased This segment also operates distribution

centers three in the United States of which one is leased and 44

outside the United States of which 31 are leased

Controls
operates

three leased service centers in the United States

In our opinion these properties have been well maintained are in

sound operating condition and contain all
necessary equipment

and facilities for their intended purposes As discussed in Part II

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations five of our properties are

expected to be closed in 2009 as part of our Restructuring Pro-

gram

Item Legal Proceedings

Discussion of legal matters is incorporated by reference to Part II

Item Note so Commitments and Contingencies in the Notes

to the Consolidated Financial Statements

item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security

Ho Ide rs

No matters were submitted to vote of security holders during the

fourth quarter of 2008

Number Area sq.ft
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Part II

Item Market for the Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Crane Co common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE under the syniboi CR The following are the high and low sale

prices as reported on the NYSE Composite Tape and the quarterly dividends declared
per

share for each quarter of oo8 and oo7

MARKET AND DIVIDEND INFORMATIONCRANE CO COMMON SHARES

2oo8 2oo8 2007 2007

Quarter High Low High Low 2oo8 2007

First $44.16 $33.54 $41.48 $35.27 $0.18 $0.15

Second 46.30 37.58 46.50 40.33 0.18 0.15

Third 38.49 28.14 50.24 38.26 0.20 0.18

Fourth 29.63 30.87 51.16 42.16 0.20 0.18

$0.76 $0.66

On December 31 2008 there were approximately 3477 holders of record of Crane Co common stock

The following table summarizes our share repurchases during the year ended December 31 2oo8

Maximum number

or approximate

Total number of dollar value of

shares purchased shares that may yet

Total number Average as part
of publicly be purchased

of shares price paid announced plans under the plans or

purchased per
share or programs programs

January 1-31

Februaryl-29 581300 $42.34

March 1-31 376270 $40.89

Total January iMarch 31 2008 957570 41.77

Aprili-3o

Mayi-3i

June i-so

Total April iJune 30 2008

Julyi-3i

August 1-31

September 1-30

Total July iSeptember 30 2008

October 1-31

November 1-30 1313000 15.01

December 1-31 20406 14.19

Total October iDecember 31 2008 1333406 $15.00

Total January iDecember 31 2008 2290976 26.19

The table above only includes the open-market repurchases of our common stock in 2oo8 We also routinely receive shares of our common

stock as payment for stock option exercises and the withholding taxes due on stock option exercises and restricted stock awards from

stock-based compensation program participants

New York Stock Exchange Composite Price per Share Dividends per Share
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Item Selected Financial Data

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

For the year ended Deeember3l

in thousands except per share data oo8 007 oo6 005 004

$2256889

247936

23015

239334

73447

$2061249

213622

22416

196523

60486

Net sales $2604307 $2619171

Operating profit loss 197489 107656

Interest expense 25.799 27404

Income loss before taxes 183852 118895

Provision benefit for income taxes 48694 56553

Net income loss 135158

Net income loss per basic share 2.27 1.04

Net income loss per diluted share 2.24 1.04

Cash dividends per common share 0.76 0.66

Total assets 2774488 2877292

Long-term debt 398479 398301

Accrued pension and postretirement benefits 150125 52233

Long-term deferred tax liability 22971 31880

Long-term asbestos liability 839496 942776

Long-term insurance receivable-asbestos 260660 306557

$1890335

161490

23161

168170

62749

62342 165887 136037 105421

2.72

2.67

0.55

2436846

398122

59996

89595

459567

170400

2.27

2.25

0.45

2145199

298961

56649

71406

526830

224600

1.78

1.78

0.40

2118697

298781

40518

71367

581914

245160

Includes asbestos
provisions of$390150 and $307794 in 2007 and 2004 respectively environmental provisions of $24342 $18912 and $40000 in 2008 2007 and 2004

respectively
the foundry restructuring gain net of $1 9083 in 20074 the

restructuring charge of $40703 in 20085 the governmental settlement of $7600 in 2007 and an

environmental reimbursement of $4900 in 2006

Includes the tax effect of items cited in notes and as well as $10400 tax provision in 2007 for the potential repatriation of $194000 of foreign cash

Includes the effect of items cited in note and
gain on sale ofa

joint
venture of $4144 in 2007

i8
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations

We are diversified manufacturer of highly engineered industrial

products Our business consists of five segments Aerospace

Electronics Engineered Materials Merchandising Systems Fluid

Handling and Controls Our primaly markets are aerospace

defense electronics recreational vehicle transportation auto

mated merchandising chemical pharmaceutical oil gas power

nuclear building services and utilities

During 2oo8 we completed two acquisitions at total cost of $79

million in cash and the assumption of $17 million in debt Specifi

cally in December 2oo8 we acq-uired Friedrich Krombach GmbH

Company KGArmaturenwerke and Krombach International GmbH
Kroxubach leading manufacturer of specialty valve flow so
utions for the power oil and gas and chemical markets for $51 mil

lion in cash and the assumption of $17 million of net debt and in

September 2oo8 we acquired Delta Fluid Products Limited

Delta leading designer and manufacturer of regulators and

fire safe valves for the gas industry and safety valves and air vent

valves for the building services market for $28 million in cash

Items Affecting Comparability of Reported Results

The comparability of our operating results for the years ended

December 31 2oo8 2007 and 2oo6 is affected by the following

significant items

Restructuring and Related Costs

2oo8 Actions During the fourth quarter of 2008 we initiated

broad-based restructuring actions to align our cost base to current

market conditions which include facility consolidations headcount

reductions and other related costs the Restructuring Program
At December 31 2008 we recorded pre-tax restructuring and

related charges in the business segments totaling $40.7 million as

follows Aerospace Electronics $2.0 million Engineered Materi

als $19.1 million Merchandising Systems $13.1 million Fluid

Handling $5.7 million and Controls $o.8 million The charges

include workforce reduction expenses and facility exit costs of

$25.0 million and $15.7 million related to asset write-downs

We expect the 2008 actions to result in net worlcforce reductions of

approximately 700 employees the exiting of five facilities and the

disposal of assets associated with the exited facilities We are target

ing the majority of all workforce and all facility related cost reduction

actions for completion during 2009 Approximately 68% of the total

pre -tax charge will require cash payments which we will fund with

cash generated from operations We expect to incur additional

restructuring and related charges of $io .6 million during 2009 to

complete these actions as follows Aerospace Electronics $1.3 mil

lion Engineered Materials $2.0 million and Merchandising Systems

$7.3 millionWe expect recurring pre-tax savings subsequent to

completing all actions to approximate $51 million annually

2007 Actions During the fourth quarter of 2007 our Fluid Han

dling segment commenced implementation of restructuring pro

gram designed to further enhance operating margins through

ceasing the manufacture of malleable iron and bronze fittings at

foundry operating facilities in the UK and Canada respectively and

exiting both facilities and transferring production to China the

Foundry Restructuring The program primarily includes work-

force reduction
expenses

and facility exit costs all of which are

expected to be cash costs In December 2007 we recognized work-

force reduction charges of $9 million and also in December 2007

pursuant to this program we sold our foundry facility in the UK
generating pre-tax gain of $28 million We expect to incur total

pre
-tax charges upon program completion of approximately $14

million The Foundry Restructuring is expected to be substantially

completed by the middle of 2009 We expect pre -tax savings to

approximate $7 million annually

Environmental Charge

For environmental matters we record liability for estimated

remediation costs when it is probable that we will be responsible

for such costs and they can be reasonably estimated Generally

third party specialists assist in the estimation of remediation costs

The environmental remediation liability at December 31 2008 and

2007 is substantially all for the former manufacturing site in

Goodyear Arizona the Site discussed below

The Site was operated by UniDynamics/Phoenix Inc UPI
which became an indirect subsidiary of ours in 1985 when we

acquired UPIs parent company UniDynamics Corporation UPI

manufactured explosive and pyrotechnic compounds including

components for critical military programs for the U.S government

at the Site from 1962 to 1993 under contracts with the Department

of Defense and other government agencies and certain of their

prime contractors No manufacturing operations have been con

ducted at the Site since 1994 The Site was placed on the National

Priorities List in 1983 and is now part of the Phoenix-Goodyear

Airport North Superfund site In 1990 the U.S Environmental

Protection Agency EPA issued administrative orders requiring

UPI to design and
carry

out certain remedial actions which UPI has

done Groundwater extraction and treatment systems have been in

operation at the Site since 1994 soil
vapor

extraction system was

in operation from
1994 to 1998 was restarted in 2004 and is cur

rently in operation On July 26 2006 we entered into consent

decree with the EPAwith respect to the Site providing for among

other things work plan for further investigation and remediation

activities at the Site We recorded liability in 2004 for estimated

costs through 2014 after reaching substantial agreement on the

scope
of work with the EPA At the end of September 2007 the

liability totaled $15.4 million During the fourth quarter of 2007 we

and our technical advisors determined that changing groundwater

flow rates and contaminant plume direction at the Site required

additional extraction systems as well as modifications and upgrades

of the existing systems In consultation with our technical advisors

we prepared forecast of the expenditures required for these new

and upgraded systems as well as the costs of operation over the

forecast period through 2014 Taking these additional costs into

consideration we estimated our liability for the costs of such activ

ities through 2014 to be $41.5 million as of December 31 2007

During the fourth quarter of 2008 based on further consultation

with our advisors and the EPA and in
response

to groundwater

monitoring results that reflected continuing migration in con

taminant plume direction during the year we revised our forecast

of remedial activities to reflect an increase in the number of

extraction systems and monitoring wells in and around the Site

among other things Our revised liability estimate of $65 million

which is included in accrued liabilities and other liabilities in our

consolidated balance sheet resulted in an additional charge of $24

million in December 2008
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On July 31 2oo6 we entered into consent decree with the U.S

Department of Justice DOJ on behalf of the Department of

Defense and the Department of Energy pursuant to which among

other things the U.S Government reimburses us for percent of

qualifying costs of investigation and reniediation activities at the

Site As of December 31 2oo8 we have recorded receivable of $14

million for the expected reimbursements from the U.S Govern

ment in respect of the aggregate liability as at that date

Asbestos Charge

With the assistance of outside experts during the third quarter of

2007 we updated and extended our estimate of our asbestos

liability including the costs of settlement or indemnity payments

and defense costs relating to currently pending claims and future

claims projected to be filed against us through 2oi7 Our previous

estimate was for asbestos claims filed through oii As result of

this updated estimate we recorded an additional pre-tax provision

of $390.2 million during the third quarter of oo this amount

includes corresponding insurance receivable Our decision to

take this action was based on several factors including

the number of asbestos claims being filed against us has

moderated substantially over the past several years
and in our

opinion the outlook for asbestos claims expected to be filed

and resolved in the forecast period should be reasonably

stable

the stable outlook for future claims is particularly true for

mesothelioma claims which although constituting only i%of

our asbestos claims account for approximately 85% of our

aggregate settlement and defense costs over the
past

five
years

federal legislation that would significantly change the nature

of asbestos litigation failed to pass in 2oo6 and in our

opinion the prospects for such legislation at the federal level

are remote

there have been significant actions taken by certain state

legislatures and courts over the past
several

years
that hive

reduced the number and types
of claims that can proceed to

trial which has been significant factor in stabilizing the

asbestos claim activity and

we have now entered into coverage-in-place agreements with

majority of our excess insurers which enables us to project

more stable relationship between settlement and defense

costs paid by us and reimbursements from our insurers

Taking all of these factors into account we believe that we can rea

sonably estimate the asbestos liability for pending claims and

future claims to be filed through While it is probable that we

will incur additional charges for asbestos liabilities and defense

costs in excess of the amounts currently provided we do not believe

that any such amount can be reasonably estimated beyond 2o17

Accordingly no accrual has been recorded for
any

costs which may

be incurred for claims made subsequent to 2o17 The liability was

$930 million and $1027 million as of December31 oo8 and 2oo7

respectively

Civil False Claims Settlement

During the third quarter of 2oo7 we recorded $7.6 million charge

related to civil false claims proceeding by the U.S Government

arising out of allegations that certain valves sold by our Crane

Valves NorthAmerica unit CVNA to private customers that

ultimately were delivered to U.S military agencies did not conform

to contractual specifications relating to the place of manufacture

and the origin of component parts The allegations originated with

qui tam complaint filed under seal by former CVNA employee

The Civil Division of the Department of Justice DOJ ultimately

intervened in that case and on March 31 2007 filed complaint

against us in the United States District Court for the Southern Dis

trict of Texas seeking unspecified damages for violations of the

False Claims Act and other common law claims The complaint

alleged that C\/TA failed to notify the correct U.S military agency

when our manufacturing location for Mil-Spec valves listed on the

Qualified Products List was moved from Long Beach California to

Conroe Texas in 2003 As result the complaint alleged that the

valves manufactured in Texas were not properly listed on the

Qualified Product List as required by the contract specifications

We received letter from the Department of the Navy on Febru

ary 14 2007 conveying the Navys concerns about the Qualified

Products List allegations raised by the DOJ The Department of the

Navy advised us that if true these allegations could potentially

result in us and our subsidiaries and affiliates being suspended

and/or debarred from doing business with the U.S Government

We cooperated with the Governments investigation of these mat

ters and executed settlement agreement with the DOJ providing

for among other things the payment of $7.5 million to the United

States and $125000 to
pay

the legal fees of the former employee

who filed the qui tam complaint In addition we negotiated an

administrative agreement with the Department of the Navy for

term of three
years pursuant to which we have implemented certain

changes to our compliance programs and report to the Navy on

quarterly basis These agreements were executed and became

effective on July 27 2007 We acknowledged the failure to notify the

Navy and update the Qualified Products List but we denied that this

omission violated the False Claims Act The failure to notify the

Navy was unintentional and there was no misconduct by our

personnel We decided to settle this mafter to avoid the risks of

costly and protracted legal proceedings

Divestiture

In December 2007 together with our partner Emerson Electric

Co we sold the Industrial Motion Control LLC 1MG joint ven

ture generating proceeds to us of $33 million and an after-tax gain

of $.8 million Our investment in 1MG was $29 million and we

recorded income in 2007 and 2006 of $5.3 million and $.6 million

respectively

Repatriation of Foreign Earnings

During the fourth quarter of 2007 we concluded that our cash balan

ces overseas were in excess of our projected future needs outside

the U.S As result we established $10.4 million deferred tax

liability related to the estimated additional U.S federal and state

income taxes due upon the ultimate repatriation of $194 million of

such cash balances
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In the pages that follow we discuss results along with the events trends market dynamics and management initiatives that influenced

them

zooS vs zoo7 zoo7 vs oo6

Favorable Favorable

Unfavorable Unfavorable

in millions except Sb For the year ended December 31 Change Change

Net Sales

Aerospace Electronics

Engineered Materials

Merchandising Systems

Fluid Handling

Controls

Roo8 2007 2oo6

Total Net Sales

Sales Growth

Core business

Acquisitions/dispositions

Foreign Exchange

135

566 $10 $63 11

309 76 23 22

258 14 130 50

1000 26 136 14

124 12 11

Total Sales Growth

2619 2257 is 362 16

Operating Profit

Aerospace Electronics

Engineered Materials

Merchandising Systems

Fluid Handling

Controls

52 163

32 134

65

15 362 16

Total Segment Operating Profit

Corporate Expense

CorporateAsbestos charge

CorporateEnvironmental charge

Total Operating Profit Loss

99 32 37 13 13

50 54 93 36

18 20 22 122

107 52 49

10 10 10

353 284 93 26 69 24

52 36 13 25 16 44

390 390 390

19 19

108 248 $305 282 $356 144

Operating Margin s/

Aerospace Electronics

Engineered Materials

Merchandising Systems

Fluid Handling

Controls

Total Segment Operating Profit Margin

Total Operating Margin s/

17 5/o

16 2/o

8/s

10.7/o

8.10/03/o

13.5/o 12.6/o

4.1/o 11.0/o

The disclosure oftotal segment operating profit and total segment operating profit margin provides supplemental information to assist management and investors in
analyzing our

profitability
but is considered non-GAAP financial measure when

presented
in any context other than the

required
reconciliation to

operating profit
in accordance with Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No 131 Disclosures about Segments ofan Enterprise and Related Information Management believes that the disclosure of total segment

operating profit and total segment operating profit margin non-GAAP financial measures present
additional useful comparisons between current results and results in

prior

operating periods providing
investors with clearer view of the

underlying
trends of the business Management also uses these non-GAAP financial measures in making financial

operating planning
and compensation decisions and in evaluating the Companys performance Non.GA.AP financial measures which may be inconsistent with

similarly captioned

measures presented by
other companies should be viewed in addition to and not as substitute for the Companys reported

results
prepared

in accordance with GAAP
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Restructuring and related charges included in segment operating

profit totaled $41 million in 2oo8 and restructuring net gain of

$19 million was included in oo segment operating profit as fol

lows

For the year ended

December 31

in millions 2008 2007

Restructuring

Aerospace Electronics

Engineered Materials 19

Merchandising Systems 13

Fluid Handling 19

Controls

Total Restructuring Charge Gain $41 19

2008 Compared with 2007

Sales in 2oo8 decreased $15 million or i% to $2.6o4 billion com

pared with $2619 billion in The sales decrease was primarily

due to core business decline of million offset by net

increase in revenue from acquisitions and dispositions of $32 million

i%and favorable foreign exchange of million The Aerospace

Electronics segment reported sales increase of $io million or 2%

OurAerospace Group had 7% sales increase in 2oo8 compared to

the prioryear
driven by continued strong production levels at air

craft manufacturers as they continued to deliver on record bookings

The Electronics Group experienced 60/S sales decline
year-over-

22 year
driven largely by decrease in deliveries to our Custom Power

customers In our Engineered Materials segment we continued to

experience significantly lower volumes to our traditional recreational

vehicle RV customers and to lesser extent transportation and

building products customers primarily due to the weak economy

and in the case of RVs lack of credit available to consumers Our

Merchandising Systems segment showed 3% revenue increase in

2008 primarily due to continued strong demand for our Payment

Solutions products as well as to lesser extent the successful

intro duction of the BevMax III glass front vender in the first half of

2008 Our Fluid Handling segments sales increased $26 million or

2% which was substantially attributable to $24 million of core

growth driven by increases in product prices

Total segment operating profit declined $93 million to $260 mil

lion in 2008 compared to $353 million in 2007 Total segment

operating profit in 2008 included $41 million of restructuring

charges in connection with the Restructuring Program Total seg
ment operating profit in 2007 included net gain of $19 million in

connection with the Foundry Restructuring As
percent

of sales

total segment operating margins decreased to io.o/o in 2008

compared to 13.5% 1112007

The decrease in segment operating profit over the prior year was

driven primarily by significant declines in operating profit in our

Engineered Materials and Aerospace Electronics segments Our

Engineered Materials segment operating profit was $54 million

lower or 930/5 in 2008 compared to the prioryear and our Aero

space and Electronics segment operating profit was $32 million

lower or 37% in 2008 compared to the prior year The decline in

Engineered Materials primarily reflected the sharp decline in sales

to our traditional RV customers coupled with $19 million in

restructuring costs associated with the Restructuring Program The

decline in operating profit in Aerospace Electronics reflected

substantially higher engineering expense
in the Aerospace Group

related to our investments in the Boeing 787 and Airbus A4ooM

programs Our Fluid Handling segment operating profit was $159

million in 2008 which is flat compared to 2007 operating profit in

2008 included $6 million in charges in connection with the

Restructuring Program operating profit in 2007 included net gain

of $19 million related to the Foundry Restructuring Merchandising

Systems operating profit was $8 million lower or 2o% in 2008

compared to the prior year 2008 results included $13 million in

charges related to the Restructuring Program

Total operating profit was $197 million in 2008 compared to an

operating loss of io8 million in 2007 In addition to the afore

mentioned segment results 2008 operating results included an

environmental provision of $24.3 million $i.8 million after-tax

related to an increase in our expected liability at our Goodyear

Arizona Superfund Site The total 2007 operating loss included the

following

provision of $390.2 million $253.6 million after-tax to

update and extend our estimate of our asbestos liability

an environmental provision of $18.9 million $12.3 million

after-tax related to our expected liability at our Goodyear

Arizona Sup erfund Site and

provision of $7.6 million $5.4 million after-tax relating to

civil false claims proceeding by the U.S Government

Net income in 2008 was $135.2 million or $2.24 per share as

compared with net loss of $62.3 million or $1.04 per
share in

2007 Net income in 2008 included the environmental provision

$i.8 million or $0.26
per share The 2007 net loss included

the asbestos charge $253.6 million or $4.22 per share

the environmental provision $12.3 million or $0.20
per

share

the civil false claims settlement $5.4 million or $0.09 per

share and

an additional tax provision for undistributed foreign earnings

$10.4 million or $0.17 per share

These amounts were partially offset by the net gain resulting from

the Foundry Restructuring $18.4 million or $0.31 per share and

the gain on the sale of the IMC joint venture $5.8 million or $o.o

per share

2007 Compared with 2006

Sales in 2007 increased $362 million or i6%to $2619 billion

compared with $2.257 billion in 2006 The sales increase was pri

marily due to core business growth of $163 million 7% and rev

enue from net acquisitions and dispositions of $134 million 6/o
Sales growth also included $6 million 3% from favorable foreign

exchange The Aerospace Electronics segment reported sales

increase of $63 million or ii%Excluding Resistoflex-Aerospace

which was divested in May 2006 segment sales were up 12% The

Aerospace Group had strong commercial OEM Original Equipment

Manufacturer sales and aftermarket revenue The Electronics

Group experienced 5% sales increase year over year In the

Engineered Materials segment demand for fiberglass-reinforced

panels from the recreational vehicle and transportation trailer
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markets declined
90/s

due to lower industry demand The Merchan

dising Systems segment showed $130 million revenue increase in

2007 mainly from the four acquisitions made in 2oo6 The Fluid

Handling segments sales increased $136 million or 14% includ

ing net decline of $10 million related to disposed businesses

Excluding dispositions this segments sales increased $147 mil

lion or 15% $97 million 10% from core growth reflecting the

strong conditions in general industrial markets and $50 million

50/5 from favorable foreign exchange

Total segment operating profit was $69 million or 24% higher in

2007 when compared to 2006 Total Fluid Handling segment

operating profit was $52 million higher or 49% in 2007 compared

to the prior year As percent of sales total segment operating

margins increased to 13.50/0 in 2OO7 compared to 12.6% in 2006

The increase over the prior year was driven primarily by improve

ment in the Fluid Handling and Merchandising Systems segments

Fluid Handling benefited from

successfully leveraging higher sales volume

price increases

the net gain of $19 million related to the consolidation of

foundry operations and

the favorable impact of changes in foreign exchange rates

Merchandising Systems benefited from continued strong global

demand for payment solutions products and to lesser extent

operating efficiencies gained through the integration of the Auto

matic Products International AP and Dixie-Narco Inc Dixie

Narco acquisitions and share gains in European vending

Engineered Materials benefited from the full
year profit con

tribution from the September 2006 Noble Composites Inc

Noble acquisition and customer price increases These

improvements were partially offset by unfavorable operating mar

gins in the Aerospace Electronics segment due primarily to

increased engineering expenses
related to new products for major

programs such as the Boeing 787 and the Airbus A4ooM

An operating loss of $io8 million resulted in 2007 compared to an

operating profit of $248 million in 2006 2007 operating results

included

provision of $390.2 million $254 million after-tax to

update and extend our estimate of our asbestos liability

an environmental provision of $18.9 million $12.3 million

after-tax related to our expected liability at its Goodyear

Arizona Sup erfund Site and

$7.6 million provision $5.4 million after-tax relating to

the previously disclosed civil false claims proceeding by the

U.S Government

The 2007 net loss was $62.3 million or $1.04 per share as com

pared with net income of $165.9 million or $2.67 per share in

2006 The 2007 net loss included

the asbestos charge $254 million or $4.22 per share

the environmental provision $12.3 million or $0.20
per

share

the civil false claims settlement $5.4 million or $0.09 per

share and

the additional tax provision for undistributed foreign earnings

$10.4 million or $0.17 per share

These amounts were partially offset by the net gain resulting from

the Foundry Restructuring $18.4 million or $0.31 per share and

the gain on the sale of the IMC joint venture $5.8 million or $o.io

per share

Aerospace Electronics

dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Net Sales $639 629 566

Operating Profit 54 86 99

Restructuring Charge

Assets 472 467 469

Operating Margin 8.5Io 13.7/o 17.5Io

The restructuring charge is iriduded in operating profit
and

operating margin

2008 Compared with 2007 In 2008 Aircraft Electrical Power was

repositioned from the Aerospace Group to the Electronics Group as

part of Power Solutions and as result the discussion which fol

lows reflects the related movement of $42 million in 2007 sales

from the Aerospace Group to the Electronics Group This change

had no impact on the reported segment results as the repositioning

was performed wholly within the segment The discussion and

analysis on the 2007 comparison to 2006 remains unchanged

Sales of ourAerospace Electronics segment increased $io mil

lion or 2% in 2008 to $639 million The Aerospace Electronics

segments operating profit decreased $32 million or 37% in 2008

The decline in operating profit was driven primarily by sub

stantially higher engineering expense in the Aerospace Group

which was $ii million in 2008 compared to $70 million in 2007

The increase in engineering expense is primarily related to our

investments in the Boeing 787 and Airbus A4ooM programs In

addition operating profit in 2008 included restructuring charges of

$2 million The operating margin for the segment was 8.5% in 2008

compared to 13.7% in 2007

Aerospace Group sales increased
70/s

from $379 million in 2007 to

$405 million in 2008 Backlog at December 31 2008 increased 2%

to $223 million from December 31 2007 The increase in sales was

driven by continued strong production levels at aircraft manu

facturers as they continued to deliver on record bookings The

commercial market accounted for 840/s of Aerospace Group sales in

2008 while sales to the military market were i6% of total sales

Sales in 2008 by the Groups four solution sets were as follows

Landing Systems 29% Sensing and Utility Systems 32% Fluid

Management 25% and Cabin 140/s

Our Aerospace Groups sales increased in 2008 due to higher OEM

sales which were up 8% to $251 million from $232 million in 2007

and to lesser extent aftermarket volumes which increased
50/s

to

$153 million in 2008 from $147 million in 2007 Higher sales were

fueled by continued growth in the aerospace industry Sales to

OEMs were 62/s of the total in 2008 and 2007 Successful modern

ization and upgrade programs resulted in favorable aftermarket

performance Commercial OEM build rates remained strong

throughout 2008 and approximately at the same level as 2007

Our Aerospace Group 2008 operating profit decreased 48% over

the prior year driven primarily by the $4 million increase in

engineering expense or 59% in 2008 compared to the prior year

23
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The significant levels of engineering spending is primarily related

to the Boeing 787 and Airbus A4ooM programs which together

accounted for 64% of total engineering expense for the Aerospace

Group Our Aerospace engineering expense was about 27% of sales

in 2oo8 and we anticipate decline in the second half of 2009 fol

lowing commencement of test flights for the Boeing 787 aircraft

Working capital as percentage of sales was .i%in 2oo8 com

pared to 23.3% 111 2007 The improvement over the prior year was

driven primarily by improved days payable outstanding

Electronics Group sales decreased 6% from $250 million in 2007 to

$235 million in 2oo8 The Electronics Group was unfavorably

impacted by lower volumes of our Customer Power Solutions

products and to lesser extent lower volumes of our Microwave

Systems Solutions products The decline in Custom Power Sol

utions was due to certain larger programs not being extended as

well as generally lower sales levels on multiple programs The

decline in Microwave Systems Solutions was primarily related to

lower volumes of certain custom microwave products as well as

lower component sales Operating profit decreased 19% over the

prior year due to deleverage associated with the aforementioned

decline in volume in the Customer Power and Microwave Systems

Solutions products and higher program costs on certain long-term

contracts At December 31 2oo8 Electronics Group backlog was up

12% from prioryear levels

Electronics Group sales by market in 2oo8 were as fol

lows military/defense 62% commercial
aerospace 29% medical

6% and space 30/S Sales in 2oo8 by the Groups solution sets were

24 as follows Power 68% Microwave Systems i8%Micro

electronics 8% and Electronic Manufacturing Services 60/S

Working capital as percentage of sales was 25.8% in 2oo8 and was

generally flat compared to prior year

2007 Compared with 2oo6 Sales of the Aerospace Electronics

segment increased $63 million or ii%in 2007 to $629 million

The sales growth in this segment was primarily attributable to per
formance in the Aerospace Group The Aerospace Electronics

segments operating profit decreased $13 million or 13% 1112007

The decline in operating profit was driven by substantially higher

engineering expenses
in the Aerospace Group primarily related to

the development of new products for major programs such as the

Boeing 787 and Airbus A4ooM The operating margin for the seg
ment was 13.7% in 2007 compared to 17.5% 1112006

OurAerospace Group sales increased 14% from $369 million in 2006

to $421 million in 2007 Backlog at December 31 2007 rose 3% to

$241 million from December 31 2006 The increase in sales and

order backlog is attributable to continued
strong global demand in

the
aerospace

environment The commercial market accounted for

approximately 83% of Aerospace Group sales in 2007 while sales to

the military market were approximately 17% of the total sales Sales in

2007 by the Groups five solution sets were as follows Landing Sys

tems 28% Sensing and Utility Systems 26% Fluid Management

22% Aircraft Electrical Power io%and Cabin i4%

OurAerospace Groups sales increased in 2007 due to higher OEM
volumes which were up i8% to $259 million from $220 million in

2006 and to lesser extent aftermarket volumes which increased

9% to $162 million in 2007 from $148 million in 2006 Higher sales

were fueled by continued
strong growth in the aerospace industry

Sales to OEMs were 62% of the total in 2007 compared to 6o% in

2006 The strong 2007 aircraft build rate and stronger cabin OEM

demand resulting in part from schedule slides from 2006 were

contributing factors in overall growth Successful modernization and

upgrade programs and repair and overhaul for the existing aircraft

fleet and higher initial provisioning for new aircraft placed in service

resulted in strong aftermarket performance although at slower

pace than the increase in sales in commercial OEM products

The Aerospace Group 2007 operating profit decreased 16% over the

prioryear as the higher sales volume was more than offset by sig

nificantly higher engineering spending and to lesser extent less

favorable aftermarket/OEM mix

In 2007 engineering expenses
of $73 million increased approx

imately 70% or $30 million over the prioryear The Aerospace

Group continued to invest engineering resources in new tech

nologies and markets with an emphasis on products that improve

safety and/or reduce operating costs The significant investment in

2007 was primarily related to the development of new products for

major OEM programs including the Boeing 787 and Airbus

A4 ooM In addition to lesser extent continued investments in

wireless technologies and AirWeighsTM AirWeighs contributed

to the increase in engineering expenses over the prior year

Working capital as percentage
of sales was 22.90/S in 2007 com

pared to 24.4% in 2006 The improvement over the prioryear was

driven primarily by improved days sales outstanding and days pay
able outstanding

Electronics Group sales increased 5% from $197 million in 2006 to

$208 million in 2007 The Electronics Group was favorably

impacted by continued defense electronics spending with
major

platforms carrying more mission payloads requiring products with

higher power increased efficiency and smaller packaging In addi

tion demand in the medical market continued to increase Operat

ing profit was approximately the same as the prior year as the

higher sales volumes were offset by higher engineering investment

and higher program costs on certain long-term contracts At

December 31 2007 Electronics Group backlog was down 6% from

prior year levels

Electronics Group sales by market in 2007 were as fol

lows military/defense 64% commercial aerospace 26% medical

7% and space 3% Sales in 2007 by the Groups solution sets were

as follows Power 64% Microwave Systems 22% Micro

electronics 9% and Electronic Manufacturing Services 5%

Working capital as percentage of sales was 26.60/s in 2007 com

pared to 30.6% in 2006 The improvement over the prioryear was

driven primarily by improved days in inventory and days sales out

standing

Engineered Materials

dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Net sales $255 331 309

Operating Profit 58 50

Restructuring Charge 19

Assets 271 305 264

Operating Margin 1.7% 17.6/o 16.2/n

The
restructuring charge is included in operating profit and operating margin
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2oo8 Compared with 2007 Engineered Materials sales decreased

by $76 million from $331 million in 2007 to $255 million in

oo8 Operating profit decreased by $zi million from $58 million

in 2007 to $4 million in 2oo8 Operating profit in 2oo8 included

restructuring charges of $19 million Operating margins were 1.7%

in 2oo8 compared with 17.6% lU 2007

Sales declined $76 million or 23% reflecting substantially lower

volumes when compared to the prior year Core business sales were

down $94 million or 28% related to lower volumes to our tradi

tional RVs transportation and building products customers We

attribute these declines to the weak economy and in the case of

RVs lack of credit available to consumers We experienced 48%

decline in sales to our RV customers generally in line with the con

tinued softness in the recreational vehicle industry In addition we

experienced 29% decline in our sales to transportation-related

customers slightly better than reduced trailer build rates and 9%
decline to our building products customers International sales

Europe China and Latin America were also down 13% 2008

compared to 2007 primarily resulting from the general economic

slowdown These core business declines compared to the prior year

were partially offset by an increase of $19 million or 6% related to

the September 2007 acquisition of the composite panel business of

Owens Corning

The 2008 operating profit decrease was primarily attributable to

deleverage associated with the substantially lower sales compared

to the prior year As result of the significantly lower sales levels

we reduced employment levels in 2008 by 34% and in addition

during the fourth quarter of 2008 we approved aplanto undertake

further cost reduction initiatives substantially focused on facility

consolidation and to lesser extent additional headcount reduc

tions As discussed above our Engineered Materials segment

operating profit includes $19 million of restructuring charges in

connection with these initiatives

Working capital as percentage of sales was 4.8% in 2008 and

2007

2007 Compared with 2006 Engineered Materials sales increased

by $22 million from $309 million in 2006 to $331 million in

2007 Operating profit increased by $8 million from $50 million in

2006 to $8 million in 2007 Operating margins were 17.6% in

2007 compared with 16.2% in 2006

Increased sales from the Noble acquisition and the composite panel

business acquired from Owens Corning together with the favorable

impact of 2006 price increases across all markets were partially

offset by lower volumes in all segment categories The industry had

RV shipments of 353000 units in 2007 down from 391000 units

lfl 2006 Building products sales decreased 40/0 due to softer com

mercial construction markets Sales of interior scuff and liner

panels for transportation trailers decreased 22% in 2007 compared

with 2006 because of lower trailer build rates Sales in Latin Anier

icaandAsiawere 23% higher in 2007 compared to 2006 primarily

resulting from strong demand for truck bodies and containers

along with building products

The 2007 operating profit increase was primarily attributable to the

full year profit contribution from the September 2006 Noble

acquisition
the full

year impact of 2006 price increases across all

product lines material cost productivity improvements and lower

customer assistance costs associated with RVpanel distortion

These increases were offset by lower volumes to the Companys

traditional RVs and transportation customers

Strong working capital management continued to show positive

results Working capital as percentage of sales was 4.8% in 2007

as compared with 5.0% in 2006 The improvement over the prior

year was driven primarily by improved days sales outstanding

Merchandising Systems

dollarsinmillions 2008 2007 2006

Net Sales $402 388 $258

Operating Profit 32 40 18

Restructuring Charge 13

Assets 30Z 349 338

Operating Margin 80% 10 .2/o 8/a

2008 Compared with 2007 Merchandising Systems sales

increased by $14 million from $388 million in 2007 to $402 million

in 2008 Operating profit decreased by $8 million from $40 million

in 2007 to $32 million in 2008 Operating profit in 2008 included

restructuring charges of $13 million Operating margins were 8.0%

in 2008 compared with 10.2% in 2007

Sales were up $14 million compared to the prioryear or

primarily due to growth in the Payment Solutions business offset

slightly by sales decrease in the Vending Solutions business The

Payment Solutions Group revenue increase was attributable to

strong global demand for coin and bill validation and our coin dis

pensing products in the first nine months of 2008 during the

fourth quarter of 2008 however unfavorable market conditions

resulted in lower Payment Solutions product sales when compared

to the same prior year period Vending Solutions experienced

strong
sales in the first half of 2008 when compared to the same

prioryear period led by the successful introduction of the BevMax

III glass front vender similarto Payment Solutions albeit earlier

and more pronounced our Vending Solutions business experi

enced substantially lower volumes beginning in the third quarter of

2008 as customers curtailed orders in response to the difficult

economy and generally unfavorable market conditions As result

of the slowing demand in the second half we reduced employment

levels by 14% in 2008

Operating profit of $32 million decreased $8 million in 2008 versus

2007 In
response to the generally unfavorable market conditions

during the fourth quarter of 2008 we approved plan to undertake

further headcount reductions as well as certain facility con

solidation activities As result as discussed above Merchandising

Systems operating profit included $13 million of restructuring

charges in connection with these initiatives To lesser extent

deleverage associated with lower volumes in our Vending Solutions

business adversely impacted our year-over-year
results

Working capital as percentage
of sales was 18.00/0 in 2008 com

pared to 18.9% in 2007

The restructuring charge is included in operating profit and operating margin
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As reported by
the Recreational Vehicle Industry Association RVIA shipment report

dated December 2007



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

oo Compared with 2oo6 Merchandising Systems segment sales

of $388 million increased $130 million from 2oo6 primarily due to

the incremental revenue contributed from the 2oo6 acquisitions

and to lesser extent organic volume increases and favorable

currency
translation The Vending Solutions Group sales increase

was largely due to the full
year incremental revenue from the 2oo6

Dixie-Narco and AP
acquisitions and to lesser extent share gains

in the European market The Payment Solutions Group 2007 rev

enue increase was attributable to the full
year performance of the

CashCode Co Inc and Telequip Corporation acquisitions coupled

with
strong global demand for payment solutions products partic

ularly in the gaming industry

Operating profit of $40 million increased million in oo7 ver

sus 2oo6 driven largely by successfully leveraging the substantial

sales increase in Payment Solutions and to lesser extent

improved performance in the Vending Solutions
group as we con

tinued to gain operating efficiencies through the integration of the

AP and Dixie-Narco acquisitions

Working capital as percentage of sales was 18.9% in 2007 com

pared to s8.8% in2oo6

Fluid Handling

dollars inmillions 2oo8 oo 2oo6

NetSales $1162 $1136 $1000

Operating Profit 159 159 107

Restructuring Charge Gain 19

Assets 889 869 740

Operating Margin 13 .7Io 14 0/S 10 7S/

The
restruCturing Charge gain is induded in

operating profit
and

operating margin

2008 Compared with 2007 Fluid Handling sales increased by $26

million from $1136 billion in 2007 to $1162 billion in

2008 Operating profit was $159 million in 2008 and 2007 The

2007 operating profit included the net gain of $19 million related to

the Foundry Restructuring operating profit in 2008 included

restructuring charges of $6 million Operating margin was 13.7% in

2008 compared with 14.00/S in 2007

Sales increased $26 million or 2% compared to 2007 The sales

increase is primarily due to $24 million or 2/o of core growth

driven by increases in product prices which more than offset
year-

over-year volume declines Backlogwas $303 million at

December 2008 up 25% from $243 million at December 31

2007

Operating profit was $159 million in 2008 and 2007 The 2007

operating profit included the net gain of $19 million related to the

Foundry Restructuring as discussed above Operating profit was

strong in the first half of 2008 compared to the same 2007 period

reflecting improvements across all major business units in the

segment due to strong global demand in the chemical

pharmaceutical and
energy industries coupled with throughput

efficiencies pricing discipline and to lesser extent favorable for

eign exchange Operating profit was adversely impacted during the

second half of 2008 by slowing orders from short-cycle North

American businesses delays of several large valve projects into

2009 higher operating costs inefficiencies associated with Hurri

cane Ike and unfavorable foreign exchange In addition during the

fourth quarter of 2008 we approved plan to reduce headcount

across several Fluid Handling businesses in
response to potential

continued weakness in global demand for industrial products

which would in turn put further
pressure on our operating mar

gins In the fourth quarter 2008 as discussed above our Fluid

Handling segment operating profit includes $6 million of

restructuring charges in connection with these initiatives

Our Crane Valve Group Valve Group includes the following

businesses Crane ChemPharma Flow Solutions Crane Energy Flow

Solutions Building Services Utilities and Crane Valve Services

Valve Group revenues increased 3.80/S to $873 million from $841

million in 2007 driven by higher pricing 4.2% and an increase in

revenues due to acquisitions net of divestitures 0.9% partly

offset by lower volumes o% and unfavorable foreign exchange

The Valve Group revenue gTowth was due primarily to solid

pricing discipline across the businesses partially offset by volume

declines which began during the second
quarter of 2008 Crane

Energy Flow Solutions experienced substantial volume declines in

the North America bio-fuel market which was more than offset by

price increases and
stronger sales to the Middle East and China

markets The Crane ChemPharma Flow Solutions business experi

enced generally flat volumes with growth primarily through strong

pricing discipline when compared to 2007 Building Services

Utilities formerly known as Crane Group UK benefited from

strong growth across most targeted markets building services

water and gas as well as from the acquisition of Delta Fluid Prod

ucts in September 2008 Valve Services experienced strong core

growth when compared to 2007 driven largely by increases in

services for nuclear power plants and to lesser extent increases

in aftermarket valves and
parts

Crane Pumps Systems revenue decreased $o million or lo% to

$86 million from $96 million in 2007 reflecting an $8 million

decline in sales resulting from divestiture coupled with the

impact of softness in the housing and municipal markets These

unfavorable impacts more than offset stronger military sales and

strong pricing discipline when compared to the prioryear

Crane Supply revenue increased $4 million to $203 million or 2/I

from $199 million in 2007 due primarily to strong pricing dis

cipline increased contractor activity during the first half of 2008

and to lesser extent favorable foreign exchange notably volumes

decreased substantially during the fourth quarter when compared

to the same period last year reflecting softness in end-user mar
kets requiring fittings piping and plumbing supplies

Working capital as percentage of sales was 22.60/S at December 31

2008 and 22.3% at December 31 2007

2007 Compared with 2006 Fluid Handling sales of $i .136 billion

increased $136 million or 145/o from $t.o billion in 2006 The

sales increase includes $97 million or lo% from growth of core

businesses and $49 million or%from favorable currency trans

lation slightly offset by i% decline resulting from divestitures

Backlogwas $243 million at December 31 2007 up i%from $2
million at December 31 2006

Operating profit increased 48% in 2007 from $107 million in 2006

to $159 million in 2007 The considerably improved profitability

resulted from successfully leveraging the higher sales volume the

favorable impact of foreign exchange price increases and opera

tional improvements In addition operating profit included the net
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gain of $19 million related to the Foundry Restructuring Operating

marginwas 140/0 in 2007 compared with lo.7/o in 2oo6

Crane Valve Group revenues increased 17% to $841 million from

$o million in 2oo6 driven by increased volume so% higher

pricing 2% and favorable foreign exchange 6/a partly offset by

decline in revenues due to divestitures i%The Valve Group rev

enue growth was due in part to targeted sales activities within the

Energy and Chemical/Pharmaceutical businesses which included

strategy
to offer broader product portfolio In addition the Energy

business benefited from higher demand in the power oil and
gas

and bio-fuels markets in particular realizing stronger
sales to the

Middle Eastern market The Chemical/Pharmaceutical business

experienced increasing demand resulting from an expanding global

chemical market Crane Group UK benefited from strong growth

across all targeted markets building services water and gas Valve

Services continues to ship product under contract awarded by

buying consortium of nuclear power plants at the end of 2005 and

the business continues to realize sales from new testing product

launches

Crane Pumps Systems revenue decreased $8 million or 8% to

$96 million from $104 million in 2006 reflecting decline in Mili

tary Pressure Sewer andAquascape sales

Crane Supply revenue increased $23 million to $199 million 13%

increase from $176 million in 2006 due primarily to favorable for

eign exchange as well as higher volume and pricing

The Fluid Handling segment continued to show improved capital

efficiency with inventory turns at 3.57 at December 31 2005 3.78 at

December 31 2006 and 3.81 at December 2007 while working

capital as percentage of sales was 24.4% at December31 2005

22.7% at December 2006 and 22.3% at December 31 2007

Controls

dollars inmillions 2008 2007 2006

Net Sales $147 $135 $124

Operating Profit 11 10 10

Restructuring Charge

Assets 83 84 56

Operating Margin 7.6/o 7.3/s 8.1Io

The
restructuring charge is included in operating profit and operating margrn

2008 Compared with 2007 Our Controls segment sales of $147

million increased $12 million or 90/a in 2008 as compared with

2007 The increase was driven by sales contributed bythe August

2007 acquisition of the Mobile Rugged Business of KontronAmer

ica Inc MRB and to lesser extent price increases both off

set by volume declines related primarily to softness in the oil and

gas and transportation markets Segment operating profit of $ii

million in 2008 increased io% compared to 2007 primarily due to

full
year profit contribution from the MRB acquisition and the

absence of related integration costs incurred in 2007 as well as

targeted pricing actions and production efficiencies These factors

more than offset the volume decreases associated with the afore

mentioned market softness Operating profit was also impacted by

$i million charge in the fourth quarter related to the 2008

Restructuring Program

For the segment working capital as percentage of sales was 6.a%

in 2008 compared to 14.50/0 in 2007

2007 Compared with 2006 Our Controls segment sales of $135

million increased $is million or 9% in 2007 as compared with

2006 The increase was primarily driven by sales contributed by the

MRB acquisition
volume increases in the oil and gas and trans

portation markets as well as price increases Segment operating

profit of $so million in 2OO7 was flat compared with 2006 as the

effect of the higher sales was more than offset by integration costs

and intangible asset amortization associated with the afore

mentioned acquisition

For the segment inventory turns as well as working capital as

percent of sales were generally flat
year over year

Corporate

dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Corporate expense 39

Corporate expenseAsbestos

Corporate expenseEnvironmenta 24

Miscellaneous

Effective tax rate

2008 Compared with 2007 Total Corporate expense decreased

$398 million in 2008 due to the absence of the provision of

$390.2 million to update and extend the estimate of our asbestos

liability in 2OO7 an environmental provision of $24.3 million

and $18.9 million related to our expected liability at our Goodyear

Arizona Superfund Site recorded for the year ended December 31

2008 and 2007 respectively the absence of $7.6 million

provision included in corporate expense relating to the civil false

claims proceeding by the U.S Government in 2007 and $4.4

million of recoveries in 2008 included in corporate expense in

connection with environmental remediation activities

Interest income in 2008 was $4 million higher than 2007 primar

ily reflecting higher average
cash balances

Miscellaneous income was $1.9 million in 2008 compared to $9.9

million in 2007 The 2007 amount included $4.1 million gain

from the December 2007 sale of the IMC joint venture as well as

$5.3 million of income earned in 2007 from the IMC joint venture

prior to divestiture

The effective tax rate of 26.5% for 2008 reflected tax provision on

pre-tax income compared to an effective tax rate of 47.6% for 2007

which reflected tax benefit on pre-tax loss Our effective tax rate

for 2008 reflects more tax expense when compared to 2007

primarily as result of

the asbestos charge recorded in the third quarter of 2007

the impact on our deferred taxes of favorable tax legislation

enacted in Canada Germany and the United Kingdom during

52
390

19

Total Corporate

Interest income

Interest expense

36

36

23

30.7Io

27

2007
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deferred tax benefits recognized in oo as part of the sale of

our foundsy facility in the UK and the sale of our 49% interest

in the 1MG joint venture and

reduction in the U.S federal tax benefit on domestic

manufacturing activities in 2oo8 due to lower federal taxable

income

These items were partially offset by the establishment of $10.4

million deferred tax liability in oo related to the estimated addi

tional U.S federal and state income tax due upon the ultimate repa

triation of $194 million of the previously undistributed earnings of

certain of our non-U.S subsidiaries

Asbestos and Environmental Charges See discussion of the oo
asbestos charge and the 2oo8 and oo7 environmental charges

beginning on the first page of Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

oo Compared with 2006 Total Corporate expense
increased

$425 million in 2007 due to provision of $390.2 million to

update and extend the estimate of our asbestos liability an envi

ronmental
provision of $i8 .9 million related to our expected

liability at our Goodyear Arizona Superfund Site and $7.6 mil

lion provision included in corporate expense relating to the civil

false claims proceeding by the U.S Government

Interest expense in 2007 was $4 million higher than 2006 reflect

ing higher average borrowing levels

Miscellaneous income was $9.9 million in 2007 compared to $9.5

million in 2006 The 2007 amount included $4.1 million gain

from the December 2007 sale of the IMCjointventure The 2006

amount included $3.8 million of income resulting from the net gain

on sale of Resistoflex Aerospace and Westad partially offset by

charges related to the sale of unused property resulting from prior

facility consolidation and certain legal costs associated with pre
vious divestitures

The effective tax rate of 47 6% for 2007 reflected tax benefit on

pre-tax loss compared to an effective tax rate of 30.7% for 2006

which reflected tax provision on pre-tax income The incremental

tax benefits in 2007 were primarily as result of

the asbestos charge recorded in the third quarter of 2007

the environmental charge recorded in the fourth quarter of

2007

lower non-U.S taxes ill 2007 primarily as result of

reductions in statutory tax rates in Canada Germany and the

UK

statutory increase in 2007 of the amount of the U.S federal

tax benefit on domestic manufacturing activities and

deferred tax benefits recognized as part of the sale of our

foundry facility in the UK and the sale of our 49% interest in

the 1MG joint venture

These items were partially offset by the establishment of deferred

tax liability related to the estimated additional U.S federal and state

income tax due upon the ultimate repatriation of $194 million of

the previously undistributed earnings of certain of our non-U.S

subsidiaries

Asbestos and Environmental Charges See discussion of 2007
asbestos and environmental charges beginning on the first

page
of

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations

Outlook

General

Deteriorating global economic conditions commercial airline

financial distress/consolidation changes in raw material and

commodity prices interest rates foreign currency exchange rates

and energy costs create material uncertainties that impact our

earnings outlook for 2009 Specifically core revenue in 2009 is

expected to decline approximately 7% with lower demand antici

pated across each of our five business segments In addition we

expect approximately $19 million of incremental pension expense

resulting primarily from substantially lower pension asset returns

in 2008 we also expect an unfavorable foreign exchange impact on

2009 results compared to 2008 We are currently planning for

approximately $15 million of restructuring charges in 2009 related

to the Restructuring Program $ii million and integration-related

expenses in connection with the December 2008 acquisition of

Kroinbach $4 million Pretax savings associated with the

Restructuring Program actions are expected to be $37 million in

2009 and on an annualized basis should approximate $i million

The Restructuring Program together with an anticipated $25 mil

lion reduction in Aerospace engineering spending and other

ongoing cost reduction efforts will result in pre-tax year-over-

year savings approaching $75 million in 2009

Aerospace Electronics

Our Aerospace Electronics segment has experienced significant

decline in operating profit in 2008 when compared to the same

period last year This decline was driven by substantially higher

engineering expense in the Aerospace Group related to the

development of new products for the Boeing 787 and Airbus A4ooM

programs Spending will remain at high levels until the second

quarter of 2009 which is when the Company expects to complete

development of the brake control
system

for the Boeing 787 that

meets the originally specified requirements although engineering

efforts at reduced levels will be needed to support test flights This

is expected to reduce engineering expense by $25 million when

compared to 2008 However Boeing has communicated certain

changed aircraft requirements that affect the brake control system

and we have recently entered into discussions with our customer

GE Aviation Systems regarding development of new version of

the 787 brake control system including whether this additional

development work will be funded by the customer It is the

Companys position that it is not required to undertake this addi

tional development work without customer funding and the costs

of such work which could be material are not included in our 2009

outlook Partially offsetting the expected benefit of lower engineer

ing expense continued deterioration in airline industry market

conditions is expected to have an unfavorable impact on Aerospace

Group sales of higher margin aftermarket products As result in

2009 we expect decline in Aerospace Group sales but modest

improvement in operating profit In the Electronics Group sales

are expected to be up slightly in 2009 with modest improvement in

operating margin resulting from productivity improvements and

higher margins on customer contracts
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Engineered Materials

Our Engineered Materials business segment has experienced sig

nificant declines in operating profit in 2oo8 when compared to the

same period last year This decline reflects substantially lower

volumes to our traditional recreational vehicle customers driven

largely by the inability of consumers to obtain financing for RV

purchases Sales in 2009 will be affected by more rigorous credit

standards falling employment and continued declines in house

hold wealth and home prices Continued declines in many of our

markets are anticipated in OO9 and accordingly both sales and

operating profit will be adversely impacted Compared to oo8
however we expect operating profit to be higher reflecting the

absence of $19 million of restructuring charges recorded in the

fourth quarter
of 2oo8 The impact of the volume declines are

expected to be somewhat offset by continued focus on gaining RV

market share through targeted product placements as well as sav

ings expected from facility consolidation and other cost reduction

initiatives Longer term business fundamentals continue to be

positive for these markets due to continued displacement of tradi

tional materials by fiberglass -reinforced plastic

Merchandising Systems

Declining vending machine demand resulting from depressed

conditions in the North American vending market and to lesser

extent in our Payment Solutions end markets has put pressure on

our operating margins within our Merchandising Systems segment

In
response to these unfavorable market conditions we have taken

significant steps to reduce costs including reducing headcount by

14% during 2oo8 In addition in the fourth quarter of 2oo8 we

initiated facility consolidation plans and further headcount reduc

tions that will occur in 2009 Compared to 2oo8 we anticipate

decline in sales driven largely by the aforementioned weak

economic conditions and unfavorable foreign exchange somewhat

offset by share gains through targeted customer initiatives and

leveraging new product introductions across the business We

expect operating profit to be generally flat when compared to oo8
which reflects the unfavorable impact of lower sales offset by lower

restructuring charges continued emphasis on lean manufacturing

and savings expected from consolidation activities and other cost

reduction initiatives

Fluid Handling

In our Fluid Handling segment while demand from the global

chemical pharmaceutical and
energy

industries remained firm

during the first half of oo8 sales were adversely impacted begin

ning in the third
quarter by slowing orders from short-cycle North

American businesses and delays of several large valve projects

With our new regional sales office in Dtthai we have increased our

customer focus in the Middle East and deployed additional sales

personnel in Asia as well as Russia and other CIS countries Our

presence in Eastern Europe was enhanced by the December 2oo8

acquisition of Krombach providing our expanded global sales force

with additional products In 2009 we expect to partially offset the

impact of further core business declines and unfavorable foreign

exchange with the continuation of disciplined pricing operational

excellence and expanded low-cost sourcing at all of the Fluid Han

dling businesses such as those expected from the Foundry

Restructuring as well as savings expected from the Restructuring

Program and other cost reduction initiatives Considering all of the

foregoing in particular our concerns regarding global economic

growth we expect
modest decline in sales and operating profit in

009

Controls

We expect modest decline in sales for 2009 due largely to con

tinued softness in the oil and gas
and transportation markets We

expect to offset the impact of this decline with savings associated

with restructuring activities and other cost reduction initiatives

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents decreased $5 million to $232 at

December 31 2oo8 compared with $283 million at December 31

Our operating philosophy is to use cash provided from

operating activities to provide value to shareholders by paying

dividends and/or repurchasing shares by reinvesting in existing

businesses and by making acquisitions that will complement our

portfolio of businesses We believe that cash provided by operating

activities and funds available under our existing committed $300

million revolving credit facility which expires in September 2012

will be sufficient to finance short- and long-term capital require

ments as well as fund cash payments associated with our asbestos

and environmental exposures and Restructuring Program ini

tiatives We have no significant debt maturities coming due until

the third quarter of 2013 when senior unsecured notes having an

aggregate principal amount of $200 million mature

We updated and extended the estimate of our net asbestos liability

and recorded an additional provision of $390 million during the

third
quarter

of 2007 This provision was based on the total liability

to cover the estimated cost of asbestos claims currently pending and

to be subsequently asserted through 2017 Similarly during the

fourth quarter of oo8 and 2OO7 we updated our estimate of envi

ronmental remediation costs projected through 2014 related to our

Superfund Site in Goodyear Arizona and recorded an additional

provision of $24 million and $19 million respectively Although

these increases did not have an immediate impact on our liquidity

they represent the incremental estimate of future cash payments

associated with such
exposures

OperatingActivities

Cash provided by operating activities was $191.4 million in 2008

compared to $232.8 million in 2007 The $41.4 million decrease

was due primarily to net asbestos payment of $8.i million during

in 2008 compared to $10.2 million net asbestos payment in 2007

The net asbestos payment in 2007 includes $31.5 million

insurance settlement receipt from Equitas Limited and $io.o

million settlement receipt from Employers Reinsurance Company

This unfavorable year-over-year comparison was partially offset by

lower tax payments in 2008 versus 2007 Cash payments related to

asbestos settlement and defense costs net of related insurance

recoveries are expected to be $50 million in 2009

Recent disruptions in the credit markets and concerns about global

economic growth for industrial businesses have had significant

adverse impact on financial markets and to an extent our operat

ing results in 2008 For example our Engineered Materials busi

ness segment experienced significant declines in
operating profit

when compared to 2007 This decline reflected substantially lower

sales to our traditional recreational vehicle customers driven

largely by the inability of consumers to obtain financing for RV
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purchases Similarly declining vending machine demand resulting

from depressed conditions in the NorthAmerican vending market

has
put pressure on our operating margins within our Merchandis

ing Systems segment In our Fluid Handling segment sales were

adversely impacted during the second half of 2oo8 by slowing

orders from short-cycle North American businesses and delays of

several large valve projects into 2009 In order to align our cost

base to current market conditions during the fourth quarter of

2oo8 we initiated the Restructuring Program resulting in pretax

charge of $40.7 million We expect to incur additional restructuring

charges of approximately $lo.7 million during 2009 in connection

with this program total pre-tax charges upon program com

pletion of approximately $5i.4 million Approximately 68% of the

total expected charges or $35 million will be cash costs Of this

amount approximately $28 million is expected to be paid in 2009

and which we will fund with cash provided by operations however

we currently expect to achieve $37 million in savings in 2009 from

this program We have various other cost reduction initiatives

which together with targeted savings from the Restructuring Pro

gram and an expected $25 million reduction in engineering

expense associated with our development of the brake control sys

tem for the Boeing 787 will result in year-over-year savings

approaching $75 million Although we believe our cost reduction

programs will have meaningful impact and are designed to align

our cost structure to lower levels of demand expected in 2009 to

the extent global demand for industrial products and services

declines further and/or if we are required to provide further

unfunded engineering resources for the development of brake

30
control systems for the Boeing 787 we will have lower operating

profit than we currently expect and we may need to implement

additional restructuring initiatives both of which would have an

adverse impact on our 2009 operating cash flow

In addition during the year ended December 31 2008 and continu

ing through the date of this report actual returns for our pension

plans were below the expected long-term rates of return due to the

current adverse conditions in the global securities markets Con

tinued actual returns below expected returns may increase the

amount and timing of future contributions to these plans We cur

rently expect to make pension contributions of $15 million in 2009

compared to $o million in 2008 In addition we expect that based

on current information pension contributions in 2010 will exceed

the planned 2009 contributions

Investing Activities

Cash flows relating to investing activities consist primarily of cash

used for acquisitions and capital expenditures and cash flows from

divestitures of businesses or assets Cash used in investing activ

ities was $117.7 million in 2008 compared to $29.2 million used in

the comparable period of 2007 In 2oo8 we made payments of

$76.5 million for acquisitions which compares to $65.5 million in

2007 Capital expenditures of $45.1 million in 2008 were generally

consistent with those in 2007 Capital expenditures are made pri

marily for
increasing capacity replacing equipment supporting

new product development and improving information systems In

2007 cash of $36 million was generated from the sale of our foun

dry operating facility in the UK $33 million was generated from the

sale of our joint venture company with Emerson Electric Co
Industrial Motion Controls LLC and $ii.o million of proceeds were

generated from the sale of our corporate aircraft

FinancingActivities

Financing cash flows consist primarily of proceeds from the issu

ance of debt and common stock and financing uses of cash consist

primarily of repayments of indebtedness repurchases of common

stock and payments of dividends to shareholders Cash used in

financing activities was $95.6 million in 2008 compared to $76.6

million used in 2007 The increase in cash used in financing activ

ities was primarily due to higher dividends paid and an increase in

common shares acquired on the open market

Financing Arrangements

At December 31 2008 we had total debt of $415 million as com

pared to $399 million at December 31 2007 Net debt increased by

$68 million to $183 million at December 31 2008 primarily

reflecting lower cash balances The net debt to net capitalization

was 19.9% at December 31 2008 up from 11.5% at December 31

2007

In September 2007 we entered into five-year $300 million

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement the facility This

facility amends and restates the five-year $450 million revolving

credit
agreement

entered into on January 21 2005 which included

$150 million term loan component that was terminated by us in

May 2005 The facility allows us to borrow repay or to the extent

permitted by the agreement prepay and re-borrow at anytime

prior to the stated maturity date and the loan proceeds may be used

for general corporate purposes including financing for acquis

itions The original facility was amended and restated to capitalize

on favorable bank market conditions and to extend the maturity of

the facility The facility was not drawn upon throughout 2008 2007

and 2006 The facility contains customary affirmative and negative

covenants for credit facilities of this type including the absence of

material adverse effect and limitations on the Company and its

subsidiaries with
respect to indebtedness liens mergers con

solidations liquidations and dissolutions sales of all or sub

stantially all assets transactions with affiliates and hedging

arrangements The facility also provides for customary events of

default including failure to pay principal interest or fees when

due failure to comply with covenants the fact that any representa

tion or warranty made by us is false in any material respect default

under certain other indebtedness certain insolvency or receiver

ship events affecting us and our subsidiaries certain ERISA events

material judgments and change in control In December 2008 we

executed Amendment No ito the facility for the purpose of remov

ing representation regarding our pension liability and to amend

certain other terms The agreement contains leverage ratio cove

nant requiring ratio of total debt to total capitalization of less than

or equal to 65% At December 31 2008 our ratio was 36%

In November 2006 we issued notes having an aggregate principal

amount of $200 million The notes are unsecured senior obliga

tions that mature on November 15 2036 and bear interest at

6.55% per annum payable semi-annually on May and

November 15 of each year The notes have no sinking fund

requirement but maybe redeemed in whole or in
part at our

option If there is change in control and if as consequence the

notes are rated below investment grade by both Moodys Investors

Service and Standard Poors then holders of the notes may

require usto repurchase them inwhole or in part for ioi% of the

principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest Debt issuance

costs are deferred and included in Other assets and then amortized
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as component of interest expense over the term of the notes

Including debt issuance cost amortization these notes have an

effective annualized interest rate of 6.67%

In September 2003 we issued notes having an aggregate principal

amount of $2oo million The notes are unsecured senior obliga

tions that mature on September 15 2013 and bear interest at

5.50% per annum payable semi-annually on March and Sep

tember 15 of each year The notes have no sinking fund require

ment but may be redeemed in whole or part at our option Debt

issuance costs are deferred and included in Other assets and then

amortized as component of interest expense over the term of the

notes Including debt issuance cost amortization these notes have

an effective annualized interest rate of 5.70/s

We have domestic unsecured uncommitted money market bid rate

credit lines for $iio millionwhichwere unused at December 31

2008

As of December 31 2oo8 we had various local currency
credit

lines with maximum available borrowings of $32.3 million

underwritten by banks primarily in the U.S Canada Germany and

the United Kingdom These credit lines are typically available for

borrowings up to 364 days and are renewable at the option of the

lender There was $i6.6 million outstanding under these facilities

at December 31 2008

At December 31 2008 we had open standby letters of credit of

$30.3 million issued pursuant to $6o million uncommitted Letter

of Credit Reimbursement Agreement and certain other credit

lines substantially all of which expire in 2009

We have an effective shelf registration filed on Form S-3 in May

2007 with the Securities and Exchange Commission allowing us to

issue in one or more offerings an indeterminate amount of either

senior or subordinated debt securities

Credit Ratings

As of December 31 2008 our senior unsecured debt was rated BBB

by Standard Poors and Baa2 by Moodys Investors Service

Although prevailing market conditions are somewhat unsettled we

believe that nonetheless these ratings should afford us adequate

access to the public and private markets for debt

Contractual Obligations

Long-term debt 400100 $200000 $200100

Fixed interest payments 421800 24100 48200 48200 301300

Operatinglease payments 41166 11426 16730 8046 4964

Purchase obligations 44540 42625 1339 576

Pension and postretirement benefits 383984 31591 77047 70728 204618

Other long-term liabilities reflected on Consolidated

Balance Sheets

Total $1291590 $109742 $143316 327550 710982

Excludes original issue discount

Pension benefits are funded by
the

respective pension trusts The
postretirement

benefit component oftlie obligation is approximately $2 million per year
for which there is no trust

and will be directly
funded

by us Pension and
postretirement

benefits are included through 2018

As the timing of future cash outflows is uncertain the
following long.term

liabilities and related balances are excluded from the above table Long.term asbestos liability $839496

and long.term environmental liability $52396

in thousands

Under various agreements we are obligated to make future cash payments in fixed amounts These include payments under our long-term

debt agreements and rent payments required under operating lease agreements The following table summarizes our fixed cash obligations

as of December 31 2008

Payment due by Period

Total 2009 20102011 20522013 After 2013

31
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Capital Structure

The following table sets forth our capitalization

dollars in thousands December 31 2oo8 2007

Short-term borrowings 16622 548

Long-term debt 398479 398301

Total debt
415101 398849

Less cash and cash equivalents 231840 283370

Net debt
183261 115479

Shareholders equity 738062 884803

Total capitalization 921323 1000282

Net debt to shareholders equity 24.8% 13.1/o

Net debt to net capitalization 19.9/o 11.5/o

Net debt nori-GAAP measure represents total debt less cash and cash equivalents The presentation of net debt provides useful information about our ability to satisfy its debt

obligation with
currently

available funds

In 2oo8 shareholders equity decreased $i million primarily as result of unfavorable
currency impacts of $103 million changes in

pension and postretirement items of $96 million open-market share repurchases of $6o million and cash dividends of $46 million off

set by net income of $135 million and $13 million from stock option exercises

32

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are party to contractually committed off-balance sheet chattel paper financing facility that enables our Crane Merchandising Sys

tems CMS business to offer various sales support financing programs to its customers At December 31 2oo8 and $19 million

and $21 million respectively were outstanding Recourse to Crane Co for all uncollectible loans made to CMS customers by the banks

under this agreement is limited to 2o% of the outstanding balance per year

We do not have any majority-owned subsidiaries that are not included in the consolidated financial statements nor do we have
any

inter

ests in or relationships with any special purpose off-balance sheet financing entities

Application of Critical Accounting
Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note

Nature of Operations and Significant Accounting Policies to the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Certain accounting

policies require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the

financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and

expense during the reporting period On an on- going basis we

evaluate our estimates and assumptions and the effects of revisions

are reflected in the financial statements in the period in which they

are determined to be
necessary The accounting policies described

below are those that most frequently require us to make estimates

and judgments and therefore are critical to understanding our

results of operations We have discussed the development and

selection of these accounting estimates and the related disclosures

with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors

Revenue Recognition Sales revenue is recorded when product is

shipped title risk of loss passes to the customer and collection of

the resulting receivable is reasonably assured Revenue on long-

term fixed-price contracts is recorded on percentage of com

pletion basis using units of delivery as the measurement basis for

progress
toward completion Sales under cost-reimbursement-

type contracts are recorded as costs are incurred

Accounts Receivable We continually monitor collections from

customers and in addition to providing an allowance for

uncollectible accounts based upon customers financial condition

we record provision for estimated credit losses when customer

accounts exceed 90 days past due We aggressively pursue collection

efforts on these overdue accounts The allowance for doubtful

accounts at December 31 2008 and 2007 was $8 million and $9

million respectively

Inventories We value inventory at the lower of cost or market and

regularly review inventory values on hand and record provision

for excess and obsolete inventory primarily based on historical

performance and our forecast of product demand over the next two

years As actual future demand or market conditions
vary from

those projected by us adjustments will be required

Valuation of Long-LivedAssets We reviewthe carryingvalue of

long-lived assets as circumstances warrant These reviews are

based upon projections of anticipated future undiscounted cash

flows No impairment charges were necessary for the three years

ended December 31 2008 While we believe these estimates of

future cash flows are reasonable different
assumptions regarding

such cash flows could materially affect valuations

Income Taxes We account for income taxes in accordance with

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 109 Accounting

for Income Taxes which requires an asset and liability approach

for the financial accounting and reporting of income taxes Under

this method deferred income taxes are recognized for the expected
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future tax consequences
of differences between the tax bases of

assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial

statements These balances are measured using the enacted tax

rates expected to apply in the years in which these temporary dif

ferences are expected to reverse The effect on deferred income

taxes of change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period

when the change is enacted We account for uncertain tax positions

in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Inter

pretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

Accordingly we report liability for unrecognized tax benefits

resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken

in tax return

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets As of December 31 2oo8 we

had $8oo million of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite

lives We perform an annual assessment of the carrying value of

goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives as required If

the carrying value of goodwill or an intangible asset exceeds its fair

value an impairment loss is recognized discounted cash flow

model is used to determine the fair value for
purposes

of testing

goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets for impairment No

impairment charges have been required during 2oo8 oo or

2oo6

Contingencies The categories of claims for which we have esti

mated our liability the amount of our liability accruals and the

estimates of our related insurance receivables are critical account

ing estimates related to legal proceedings and other contingencies

Please refer to Note io Commitments and Contingencies of the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Pension Plans In the U.S.we sponsor defined benefit pension

plan that covers approximately 42% of all U.S employees The

benefits are based on years
of service and compensation on final

average pay basis except for certain hourly employees where bene

fits are fixed per year
of service This plan is funded with trustee

in respect to past and current service Charges to expense are based

upon costs computed by an independent actuary Our funding

policy is to contribute annually amounts that are allowable for

federal or other income tax purposes These contributions are

intended to provide for future benefits earned to date and those

expected to be earned in the future number of our non-U.S

subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit pension plans that cover

approximately i8% of all non-U.S employees The benefits are

typically based upon years
of service and compensation These

plans are generally funded with trustees in respect to past and cur

rent service Charges to expense are based upon costs computed by

independent actuaries Our funding policy is to contribute annu

ally amounts that are allowable for tax purposes or mandated by

local statutory requirements These contributions are intended to

provide for future benefits earned to date and those expected to be

earned in the future

The net periodic pension cost was $o in 2oo8 $9 million in oo
and $io million in 2oo6 Employer cash contributions were $io

million in 2oo8 $5 million in oo and $8 million in 2oo6 We

expect based on current actuarial calculations to contribute cash of

approximately $15 million to our pension plans in 2009 Cash con

tributions in subsequent years will depend on number of factors

including the investment performance of plan assets however we

expect pension contributions in 2olowi exceed the planned 2009

contributions

For the pension plan holding all other factors constant an

increase/decrease in the expected long-term rate of return of plan

assets by 0.25 percentage points would have decreased/increased

U.S 2008 pension expense by $0.7 million for U.S pension plans

and $i.o million for Non-U.S pension plans Also holding all

other factors constant an increase/decrease in the discount rate

used to measure plan liabilities by 0.25 percentage points would

have decreased/increased 2oo8 pension expense by $0.2 million

for U.S pension plans and $0.3 million for Non-U.S pension

plans See Note Pension and Postretirement Benefits to the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for details of the

impact of one percentage point change in assumed health care

trend rates on the postretirement health care benefit expense
and

obligation

The following key assumptions were used to calculate the benefit

obligation
and net periodic cost for the periods indicated

Pension Benefits

December3i 2008 2007 2006

Benefit Obligations

U.S Plans

Discount rate

Rate of compensation increase

Non-U.S Plans

Discount rate

Rate of compensation increase

Net Periodic Benefit Cost

U.S Plans

Discount rate

Expected rate of return on plan

assets

Rate of compensation increase

Non-U.S Plans

Discount rate

Expected rate of return on plan

assets

Rate of compensation increase

In developing the long-term rate of return assumption we eval

uated input from actuaries and investment consultants as well as

long-term inflation assumptions Projected returns by such con

sultants are based on broad equity and bond indices

The discount rate we used for valuing pension liabilities is based on

review of high quality corporate
bond yields with maturities

approximating the remaining life of the projected benefit obliga

tions

Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions We and certain of

our subsidiaries provide postretirement health care and life

insurance benefits to current and former employees hired before

January 1990 who meet minimum age and years of service

requirements We do not pre-fund these benefits and retain the

right to modify or terminate the plans We expect based on current

actuarial calculations to contribute cash of $2.0 million to our

postretirement benefit plans in 2009 The weighted average dis

count rates assumed to determine postretirement benefit obliga

tions were 7.oo/o 5.75% and 5.75% for 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively The health care cost trend rates assumed was 9.00%

for 2008 2007 and 2006

6.Th%

3.91/o

6.40%

3.76%

6.25%

8.75%

4.15%

5.78%

Z.12%

3.27Io

25/o

4.1B/o

82/o

26%

6.00o/s

8.75Io

65/o

5.14/o

6.78/o

29%
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00/o

65/o

5.14/o

3.300/0

6.00%

75/o

65/o

4.950/0

6.79/o

24/o



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures

about Market Risk

Our cash flows and earnings are subject to fluctuations from

changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates We

manage our exposures to these market risks through internally

established policies and procedures and when deemed appro

priate through the use of interest-rate swap agreements and for

ward exchange contracts We do not enter into derivatives or other

financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes

Total debt outstanding of $415 million at December 31 oo8 was

generally at fixed rates of interest ranging from 5.5o% to

The following is an analysis of the potential changes in interest

rates and
currency exchange rates based upon sensitivity analysis

that models effects of shifts in rates These are not forecasts

Our year-end portfolio is comprised primarily of fixed-rate

debt therefore the effect of market change in interest rates

would not be significant

If on Januaiy 2009 currency exchange rates were to decline

i%against the U.S dollar and the decline remained in place

for 2009 based on our year-end 2oo8 portfolio net income

would not be materially impacted
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Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

MANAGEMENTS RESPONSIBILITY

FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Crane Co

and subsidiaries have been prepared by management in conformity

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

of America and in the judgment of management present fairly and

consistently the Companys financial position and results of oper

ations and cash flows These statements by necessity include

amounts that are based on managements best estimates and judg

ments and give due consideration to materiality

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining

adequate internal control over financial reporting The Companys
internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assur

ance to the Companys management and board of directors regard

ing the preparation and fair presentation of published financial

statements

All internal control systems no matter how well designed have

inherent limitations Therefore even those
systems

determined to

be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to

financial statement preparation and presentation

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 2oo8 In mak

ing
this assessment it used the criteria established in Internal

Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on

our assessment we believe that as of December 31 oo8 the

Companys internal control over financial reporting is effective

based on those criteria

Deloitte Touche LLP the independent registered public account

ing firm that also audited the Companys consolidated financial

statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K audited

the operating effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 oo8 and issued their related attes

tation report which is included on page 36

Eric Fast

President and Chief Executive Officer

Timothy MacCarrick

Vice President Chief Financial Officer

The Section certifications of the Companys President and

Chief Executive Officer and its Vice President Chief Financial

Officer have been filed as Exhibit
31 to the CompanysAnnual

Report on Form jo-K for the fiscal
year

ended December 31 oo8
Furthermore because the Companys common stock is listed on the

NewYork Stock Exchange the Companys President and Chief

Executive Officer is required to make and he has made as of

April 29 2oo8 CEOs Annual Certification to the NYSE in

accordance with Section 3o3A.12 of the NYSE Listed Company

Manual stating that he was not aware of
any

violations by the Com

pany of New York Exchange corporate governance listing standards
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTEREID PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Crane Co

Stamford CT

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of

Crane Co and subsidiaries the Company as of December 31

oo8 and oo7 and the related consolidated statements of oper
ations cash flows and shareholders equity for each of the three

years in the period ended December oo8 We also have audited

the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2oo8 based on criteria established in Internal Con

trolIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission The Companys man

agement is responsible for these financial statements and financial

statement schedule for maintaining effective internal control over

financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of

internal control over financial reporting included in the accom

panying Managements Responsibility for Financial Reporting

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements and an opinion on the Companys internal control over

financial reporting based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal

36 control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects Our audits of the financial statements included examin

ing onatest basis evidence supportingthe amounts and dis

closures in the financial statements assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management

and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our

audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining

an understanding of internal control over financial reporting

assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and

evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal con

trol based on the assessed risk Our audits also included perform

ing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the

circumstances We believe that our audits provide reasonable

basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process

designed by or under the supervision of the companys principal

executive and principal financial officers or persons performing

similar functions and effected by the companys board of directors

management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation

of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles companys internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and proce

dures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in

reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures

of the company are being made only in accordance with author

izations of management and directors of the company and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely

detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial

statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over finan

cial reporting including the possibility of collusion or improper

management override of controls material misstatements due to

error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on timely basis

Also projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the

internal control over financial reporting to future periods are sub

ject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of

changes in conditions orthat the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to

above present fairly in all material respects the financial position

of the Crane Co and subsidiaries as of December 31 oo8 and

oo7 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended December 31 oo8 in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States of America Also in our opinion such financial

statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic con

solidated financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in

all material respects the information set forth therein Also in our

opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effec

tive internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

oo8 based on the criteria established in Internal Control

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the

Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Inter

pretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an

Interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 effective January

oo and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 158

Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other

Postretirement Plans effective December 31 oo6

Deloitte Touche LLP

Stamford CT

FEBRUARY 24 2009
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Consolidated Statement of Operations

in thousands except per share data

Net sales

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of sales

Asbestos charge

Environmental charge

Restructuring charge gain

Selling general and administrative

Operating profit loss

Other income expense

Interest income

Interest expense

Miscellaneous income

Income loss before income taxes

Provision benefit for income taxes

Net income loss

For year ended December 31

2oo8 oo7 oo6

$2619171 $2256889

1776157 1525633

390150

18912

19083

560691 483320

2726827 2008953

107656 247936

6259 4939

27404 23015

9906 9474

11239 8602

118895 239334

56553 73447

62342 165887

1.04 2.72

60037 60906

Lo4 2.67

60037 62103

Basic net income loss per share

Average basic shares outstanding

Diluted net income loss per
share

Average diluted shares outstanding

37
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

Balance at December3i

in thousands except per share data 2oo8

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 231840 283370

Current insurance receivableasbestos 41300 33600

Accounts receivable net 334263 345176

Inventories net 349926 327719

Current deferred tax assets 50457 34414

Other current assets 13454 13343

Total current assets 1021240 1037622

Property plant and equipment net 290814 289683

Insurance receivable asbestos 260660 306557

Long-term deferred tax assets 233165 220370

Other assets 80676 128360

Intangible assets net 106701 128150

Goodwill 781232 766550

Total assets $2774488 $2877292

Liabilities and shareholders
equity

Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings 16622 548

Accounts payable 182147 177978

Current asbestos liability 91000 84000

Accrued liabilities 246915 230295

U.S and foreign taxes on income 1980 731

Total current liabilities 538664 493552

Long-term debt 398479 398301

Accrued pension and postretirement benefits 150125 52233

Long-term deferred tax liability 22971 31880

Long-term asbestos liability 839496 942776

Other liabilities 78932 65353

Minority interest 7759 8394

Commitments and Contingencies Note so

Shareholders equity

Preferred shares par value $.oi 5000000 shares authorized

Common shares parvalue $i.oo

2oooooooo shares authorized 72426139 shares issued

58489766 shares outstanding 60161351 in 2oo7 72426 72426

Capital surplus 157078 148513

Retained earnings 935460 845864

Accumulated other comprehensive loss income 45131 154077

Treasury stock 1393637 treasury shares 12264788 in 2007 381771 336077

Total shareholders equity 738062 884803

Total liabilities and
shareholders_equity $2774488 $2877292

See Notes to Consoidated FnanciaI Statements
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For year ended December 31

in thousands oo8 2007 2oo6

Operating activities

Net income loss 135158 62342 165887

Asbestos charge 390150

Environmental charge 24342 18912

Restructuring non cash 15745 27838

Gain on sale of jointventure 4144

Gain loss on divestitures 932 975 8478
Income from joint venture 5322 5641

Depreciation and amortization 57162 61310 54285

Stock-based compensation expense 13322 15247 14883

Deferred income taxes 13296 112641 5049

Cash provided from used for operatingworking capital 17560 7322 835

Payments for asbestos-related fees and costs

net of insurance recoveries 58083 10198 40563
Other 26183 23954 2892

39

TOTAL PROVIDED FROM OPESATING ACTIVITIES 191392 232833 181695

Investing activities

Capital expenditures 45136 47169 27171

Proceeds from sale of equity investment 32996

Proceeds from disposition of capital assets 1871 48437 5103

Payments for acquisitions net of cash and liabilities assumed of

$16716 in oo8 $16829 in 2007 and $33219 in 2006 76527 65498 282637

Proceedsfromdivestitures 2106 2005 26088

TOTAL USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES 117686 29229 278617

Financing activities

Equity

Dividends paid 45203 39651 33596

Reacquisition of shares on open market 60001 50001 59998
Stock options exercised net of shares reacquired 8955 15057 22870

Excess tax benefit exercise of stock options 1996 6978 7688

Debt

Repayments of long-term debt 211323

Net decrease increase in short-term borrowings 1371 8992 9228

Issuance of long-term debt 307700

TOTAL USED FOR PROVIDED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 95624 76609 42569

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents 29612 17768 12568

Decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents 51530 144763 41785

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year 283370 138607 180392

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 231840 283370 138607

Detail of cash provided from used for operating working capital

Net of effects of acquisitions

Accounts receivable 29650 2069 18746

Inventories 10183 767 786

Other current assets 1097 529 1526

Accounts payable 2720 7430 846
Accrued liabilities 16886 9121 15600

U.S and foreign taxes on income 14976 25704 845

TOTAL 17560 7322 835

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Interest paid 25882 27315 23177

Incometaxespaid 46459 68949 35604

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in ShareholdersEquity

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2007

Net income

Cash dividends

Reacquisition on open market

PP90976 shares

Exercise of stock options net of

shares reacquired 46346
Stock option amortization

Tax benefit stock options and

restricted stock

Restricted stock awarded

193045 shares net

Changes in pension and

postretirement plan assets and

benefit obligation net of tax

Currency translation adjustment

Comprehensive loss

Common

Shares

Preferred Issued at

Shares Par Value

Total

Treasuiy Shareholders

Stock Equityin thousands except per share data

Accumulated

Other

Capital Retained Comprehensive Comprehensive

Surplus Earnings Loss Income Loss Income

40

BALANCEJANUARY1 2006 $72426 $114788 $814197 31090 $zz92o7 $753294

Net income 165887 165887 165887

Cash dividends 33596 33596

Reacq-uisition on open market

15537o shares 59998 59998
Exercise of stock options net of

shares reacquired 1469165 25906 25906

Stock option amortization 6831 6831

Tax benefit stock options and

restricted stock 13179 13179

Restricted stock awarded

1487P shares net 411 5426 5015

Minimum pension liability 8638 8638 8638

Adjustment to initially apply FASB

Statement No 158 net of tax 10336 10336

Currency translation adjustment 43783 43783 43783

Comprehensive income 218308

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2006 72426 134798 946077 73175 307873 918603

Net loss 62342 62342 62342
Cash dividends 39642 39642
Reacquisition on open market

1P47130 shares 50001 50001
Exercise of stock options net of

shares reacquired 845498 18211 18211

Stock option amortization 6737 6737

Tax benefit stock options and

restricted stock 6978 6978

Restricted stock awarded

90365 shares net 1771 3586 5357

Changes in pension and

postretirement plan assets and

benefit obligation net of tax 30027 30027 30027

Currency translation adjustment 50 875 50 875 50 875

Comprehensive income 18560

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2008

See Notes to Consoldated Financial Statements
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Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements

Note Nature of Operations and Significant

Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations Crane Co the Company is diversified

manufacturer of highly engineered industrial products

The Companys business consists of five reporting segments Aero

space Electronics Engineered Materials Merchandising Sys

tems Fluid Handling and Controls

The Aerospace Electronics segment consists of two groups the

Aerospace Group and the Electronics Group Aerospace products

include
pressure

fuel flow and position sensors and subsystems

brake control systems coolant lube and fuel pumps and seat

actuation Electronics products include high-reliability power

supplies and custom microelectronics for aerospace defense

medical and other applications electrical power components

power management products electronic radio frequency and

microwave frequency components and subsystems for the defense

space
and military communications markets and customized con

tract manufacturing services and products for military and defense

applications

The Engineered Materials segment consists of Crane Composites

and Polyflon Crane Composites representing almost the entire

segment manufactures fiberglass reinforced plastic panels for the

truck trailer and recreational vehicle markets industrial markets

and the commercial construction industry Polyflon is manu

facturer of specialty components primarily microwave substrates

utilized in antenna applications

The Merchandising Systems segment consists of two groups Vend

ing Solutions and Payment Solutions Vending Solutions products

include food snack and beverage vending machines and vending

machine software Payment Solutions products include coin

changers and validators coin dispensers and bill validators

The Fluid Handling segment manufactures and sells various
types

of industrial and commercial valves and actuators provides valve

testing parts and services manufactures and sells pumps and water

purification solutions distributes pipe pipe fittings couplings and

connectors and designs manufactures and sells corrosion-

resistant plastic-lined pipes and fittings

The Controls segment produces ride-leveling air-suspension

control valves for heavy trucks and trailers pressure temperature

and level sensors ultra-rugged computers measurement and con

trol systems and intelligent data acquisition products Controls

products also include engine compressor monitoring and diag

nostic systems water treatment equipment wireless sensor net

works and covert radio products primarily for the military and

intelligence markets

Please refer to Note 13 Segment Information of the Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for the relative size of these

segments in relation to the total Company both net sales and total

Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates The Companys consolidated financial statements

are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America These accounting princi

ples require management to make estimates and assumptions that

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of

the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and

expense during the reporting period Actual results may differ from

those estimated Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodi

cally and the effects of revisions are reflected in the financial

statements in the period inwhich they are determined to be neces

sary Estimates are used when accounting for such items as asset

valuations allowance for doubtful accounts depreciation and

amortization impairment assessments restructuring provisions

employee benefits taxes asbestos liability and related insurance

receivable environmental liability and contingencies

Currency Translation Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries that

prepare
financial statements in currencies other than the U.S dol

lar are translated at the rate of exchange in effect on the balance

sheet date results of operations are translated at the average rates

of exchange prevailing during the year The related translation

adjustments are included in accumulated other comprehensive

income loss in separate component of shareholders equity

Revenue Recognition Sales revenue is recorded when product is

shipped title risk of loss passes
to the customer and collection of

the resulting receivable is reasonably assured Revenue on long-

term fixed-price contracts is recorded on percentage of com

pletion basis using units of delivery as the measurement basis for

progress
toward completion Sales under cost-reimbursement-

type contracts are recorded as costs are incurred

Income Taxes The Company accounts for income taxes in accord

ance with Statement of FinancialAccounting Standards No 109

Accounting for Income Taxes which requires an asset and

liability approach for the financial accounting and reporting of

income taxes Under this method deferred income taxes are

recognized for the expected future tax consequences of differences

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported

amounts in the financial statements These balances are measured

using the enacted tax rates expected to apply in the years in which

these temporary differences are expected to reverse The effect on

deferred income taxes of change in tax rates is recognized in

income in the period when the change is enacted The Company

accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with Financial

Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No 48 Accounting for

Uncertainty in Income Taxes.Accordingly the Company reports

liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax

positions taken or expected to be taken in tax return

41
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Net Income Loss Per Share The Companys basic earnings per

share calculations are based on the weighted average number of

common shares outstanding during the year Diluted earnings per

share gives affect to all potential dilutive common shares out

standing during the year For the year ended December 31 2007

1093000 shares attributable to the potential exercise of out

standing options were excluded from the calculation of diluted

earnings per share because the effect was anti-dilutive

in thousands except per share data

Foryear ended December 31 2oo8

Net income loss $135158 $62342 $165887

Average basic shares

outstanding 59667 60037 60906

Effect of dilutive stock

options 631 1197

Average diluted shares

outstanding 60298 60037 62103

Basic net income loss per

share 2.27 1.04 2.72

Diluted net income loss per

share 2.24 1.04 2.67

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents include

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months

or less that are readily convertible to cash and are not subject to

significant risk from fluctuations in interest rates As result the

carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair

value

Accounts Receivable Receivables are carried at net realizable value

summary of allowance for doubtful accounts activity follows

inthousandsDeceniber3i 2oo8 oo7 2oo6

Balance at beginning ofyear 8988 9192 5852

Provisions 6356 5975 11335

Deductions 7263 6179 7995

Balance at end of year 8081 8988 9192

Concentrations of credit risk with
respect to accounts receivable are

limited due to the large number of customers and relatively small

account balances within the majority of the Companys customer

base and their dispersion across different businesses The Com

pany periodically evaluates the financial strength of its customers

and believes that its credit risk
exposure

is limited

Inventories Inventories consist of the following

in thousands Deeember3i 2oo8 2007

Finished goods 97496 $109337

Finished parts and subassemblies 41345 39108

Work in
process 60106 51923

Raw materials 150979 127351

Total inventories $349926 327719

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market Approximate

cost at domestic locations is principally determined on the last-in

first- out LIFO method of inventory valuation Liquidations have

increased cost of sales by $2.2 million and reduced cost of sales by

$0.2 million for the
years ended December 31 2oo8 and 2007

respectively Replacement cost would have been higher by $i6 .8

million and $13.5 million at December 31 2008 and 2007

respectively

Property Plant and Equipment net Property plant and equip

ment net consist of the following

in thousands December 31 2008 2007

Land 58879 61605

Buildings and improvements 172157 172248

Machinery and equipment 555490 516115

Gross property plant and equipment 786526 749968

Less accumulated depreciation 495712 460285

Property plant and equipment net $290814 $289683

Property plant and equipment are stated at cost Depreciation is

calculated by the straight-line method over the estimated useful

lives of the respective assets which range from ten to twenty-five

years for buildings and improvements and three to ten
years

for

machinery and equipment

Goodwill and Intangible Assets The Company reviews goodwill and

intangibles with indefinite lives for impairment annually or when

ever an event occurs or circumstances change that might reduce fair

value below carrying value in accordance with the requirements of

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 42 Goodwill

and Other Intangible Assets SFAS 42 If the carrying value of

goodwill or an intangible asset exceeds its fair value an impairment

loss is recognized discounted cash flow model is used to

determine the fair value of the Companys reporting units for pur

poses of testing for impairment Based on this model the Company

performs its annual impairment test as of November 30 and no

impairment charges were necessary
in the three

year period ended

December3 2008

Changes to goodwill are as follows

2007

Balance at beginning of year $766550 $704736

Additions 47981 46406

Divestitures 634
Translation and other adjustments 33299 16042

Balance at end of year $781232 $766550

Goodwill increased $48 million during the year ended

December 31 2008 due to the preliminary valuation allocations of

the acquisitions of Friedrich Krombach GmbH Company KG

Armaturenwerke and Krombach International GmbH

Krombach in December 2008 and of Delta Fluid Products Lim

ited Delta in September 2008 Goodwill increased $29 million

during the
year ended December 31 2007 due to the acquisitions of

the composite panel business of Owens Corning in September 2007

and the Mobile Rugged business of KontronAmerica Inc inAugust

2007 Adjustments related to the finalization of purchase price

allocations associated with the 2006 acquisitions amounted to an

additional $17 million in goodwill during the year ended

December 31 2007

2007 2006

in thousands December 31 2008
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Balance at beginning of year net of

accumulated amortization $128150 $122744

Additions 19409

Translation and other adjustments 6781 3886

Amortization expense 14668 17889

Balance at end of year net of accumulated

amortization $106701 $128150

summary of the intangible assets are as follows

aoo8 OO7

in thousands Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated

December 31 Asset Amortization Asset Amortization

Intellectual rights 91355 $48858 92286 $43720

Customer

relationships

and backlog 85204 30325 85204 17448

Drawings 1082S 10144 10825 9681

Other 17913 9269 23784 13100

$205297 $98596 $212099 $83949

Amortization expense
for these intangible assets is expected to be

$11.2 million in 2009 $10.3 million in 2010 $io.i million in 2011

$8.4 million in 2012 and $47.8 million in
2013

and thereafter

Of the $106.7 million of net intangible assets at December 31 2008

$18.9 million of intangibles with indefinite useful lives consisting

of trade names are not being amortized under SFAS 142

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets The Company periodically eval

uates the carrying value of long-lived assets when events and cir

cumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be

recoverable The carrying value of long-lived asset is considered

impaired when the anticipated undiscounted cash flow from such

asset is separately identifiable and is less than its carrying
value In

that event loss is recognized based on the amount by which the

carrying value exceeds the fair market value of the long-lived asset

Fair market value is determined primarily using the anticipated

cash flows discounted at rate commensurate with the risk

involved

Financial Instruments The Company does not hold or issue

derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative pur

poses The Company periodically uses forward foreign exchange

contracts as economic hedges of anticipated transactions and firm

purchase and sale commitments These contracts are marked to

market on current basis and the respective gains and losses are

recognized in other income expense The Company also periodi

cally enters into interest-rate swap agreements to moderate its

exposure to interest rate changes Interest-rate swaps are agree

ments to exchange fixed and variable rate payments based on the

notional principal amounts The changes in the fair value of these

derivatives are recognized in other comprehensive income for

qualifying cash flow hedges

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

2007 In September 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board

FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No i5 Fair Value Measurements SPAS No 57 This state

ment defines fair value establishes framework for measuringfair

value under generally accepted accounting principles and expands

disclosure about fair value measurements In February 2008 the

FASB issued Staff Positions SFAS No 157-1 and SPAS No 57-2

which delayed the effective date of SFAS No i5 for one year for

certain non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities and

removed certain leasing transactions from its scope The Company

adopted SFAS No
157

effective January 2008 for financial assets

and financial liabilities measured on recurring basis see Note

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The Company is currently

evaluating the provisions of SPAS No
157-1

and SFAS No 157-2 to

determine the potential impact if any these staff positions will

have on the Companys consolidated financial statements when

they are applicable beginning in the first quarter of 2009

In December 2007 the PASB issued Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No i4iR Business Combinations

SFAS No i4iR SFAS No i4aR establishes principles and

requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its

financial statements the identifiable assets acquired the liabilities

assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and

recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the business

combination or gain from bargain purchase SPAS No i4iR

also sets forth the disclosures required to be made in the financial

statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the busi

ness combination SFAS No i4R is effective for fiscal years

beginning after December 15 2008 The effects of the adoption of

this standard in 2009 will be prospective

In December 2007 the PASB issued Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No i6o Noncontrolling Interests in Con

solidated Financial Statements an amendment of ARB No 51

SPAS No 160 SFAS No i6o establishes accounting and

reporting standards that require that the ownership interests in

subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent be clearly identi

fied labeled and presented in the consolidated statement of

financial position within equity but separate from the parents

equity the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the

parent and to the noncontrolling interest be clearly identified and

presented on the face of the consolidated statement of income and

changes in parents ownership interest while the parent retains its

controlling financial interest in its subsidiary be accounted for

consistently SPAS No i6o also requires that
any

retained non-

controlling equity
investment in the former subsidiary be initially

measured at fair value when subsidiary is deconsolidated SPAS

No i6o also sets forth the disclosure requirements to identify and

distinguish between the interests of the
parent

and the interests of

the noncontrolling owners SFAS No i6o is effective for fiscal
years

beginning after December 15 2008 We are currently evaluating the

impact of this statement on our consolidated financial statements

Changes to intangible assets are as follows

in thousands December31 2008
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Note Miscellaneous Income

in thousands

Foryear ended December31 2oo6

tax rate is as follows

in thousands

Foryear ended December31 2oo8

Statutory U.S federal tax at

35%

Increase reduction from

Non-U.S taxes

State and local tax net

of federal benefit

Valuation allowance on

state deferred tax

assets

U.S domestic

manufacturing

deduction

Foreign dividend net

of credits

Deferred taxes on

earnings of

non-U.S

subsidiaries

Research and

income taxes

Effective tax rate

$56553 $73447

47.6/o 30.7/o

As of December 31 2oo8 the Company has recorded deferred tax

liability of $7.8 million which reflects the additional U.S federal

and state income tax due upon the ultimate repatriation of $145.2

million of the undistributed earnings of its non-U.S subsidiaries

Deferred taxes have not been provided on the remainder of the

non-U.S subsidiaries undistributed earnings of $28.9 million

since these earnings have been and under current plans will con

tinue to be indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S If these earn

ings were distributed in the form of dividends or otherwise the

Company would be subj ect to U.S income taxes and foreign with

holding taxes however it is not practical to estimate the amount of

taxes that would be payable upon remiftance of these earnings

Tax benefits of $o.7 million in 2oo8 $7.o million in 2007 and $13.2

million in 2oo6 associated with the exercise of employee stock

options and other employee stock programs were allocated to

shareholders equity

Atax benefit of $47.3 million in 2008 and tax expense of $13.1 mil

lion in 2007 and $0.5 million in 2006 associated with changes in

pension and post-retirement plan assets and benefit obligations

were included in accumulated other comprehensive income

2008 2007

Gains on sales of assets $1J63 $4410 6576

Equity jointventure income 5322 5641

Other 836 174 2743

$1899 $9906 9474

The reconciliation of the statutory U.S federal rate to the effective

2007 2006

Income from Industrial Motion Control Holdings LLC IMC joint venture The

Company sold its investment in this joint venture on December 18 2007 for net

proceeds of $33 million The resulting gain of $4.1 million is included in Gains on

sales of assets

Note Income Taxes

Income loss before taxes is as follows

in thousands

Foryear ended December
31

U.S operations

Non-U.S operations

2008 2007 2006

14107 $286826 $150354

169745 167931 88980

$183852 118895 $239334

41613

20019

15575

15463

2107

5040

10400

3512

4630
44

$83767

4776

4003

295

791

1923

4429

2699

The provision benefit for income taxes consists of

in thousands

ForyearendedDecember3i oo8 2007 2006

Current

U.S federaltax $849 28020 $37164

State and local tax 1oti 72 5265

Non-U.S tax 4Z846 42356 25969

35398 70299 68398

Deferred

U.S.federaltax 9283 124684 2901

State and local tax 11 96 1347

Non-U.S tax 4024 2072 801

13296 126852 5049

Provision benefit for

income taxes $48694 56553 $73447

credit

Other

development tax

Provision benefit for
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in thousands December 31

Deferred tax assets

Asbestos-related liabilities

Tax loss and credit carryforwards

Environmental

Inventories

Postretirement benefits

Accrued bonus and stock-based

compensation

Insurance

Warranty

Compensated absences

Pension

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Restructuring reserves

Other

Total

Less valuation allowance on

non-U.S and state deferred tax

assets tax loss and credit

carryforwards

Total deferred tax assets net

Deferred tax liabilities

Depreciation

Intangibles

Pension

Unremitted foreign earnings

Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax asset

Balance sheet classification

Current deferred tax assets

Long-term deferred tax assets

Accrued liabilities

Long-term deferred tax liability

Net deferred tax asset

$270380

29073

10084

14971

7119

3864

5748

6920

2574

1572

7694

374150

57535

316615

34408
33346
16080
10400

94234

$222381

Balance of liability as of January

Increase as result of tax positions taken

during prioryear

Decrease as result of tax positions taken

during prior year

Increase as result of tax positions taken

during the current year

Decrease as result of settlements with

taxing authorities

Reduction as result ofalapse of the statute

of limitations

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities included on

the balance sheet are as follows

poo8

In accordance with paragraph of FIN 48 the Company includes

both accrued interest related to unrecognized tax benefits and stat-

2007 utoly income tax penalties in its provision benefit for income

taxes

reconciliation of the total amounts of the Companysunrecog

nized tax benefits excluding interest and penalties as of January

2oo8 and December 31 2oo8 and January oo and DecenTher 31

2007 respectively is as follows

poo8 20714151 inthousands

247543

37566

17257

15647

5189

10910

5225

6300

.354

37735

2180

13701

4545

411152

66j

39.921

37211

78ooJ

84 932..j

$260070

50457

233165

581
229pJ

$260070

$4402

1182

164

1649

291

5132

579

1986

1353

358

318

Balance of liability as of December31 $6778 4402

34414

220370

523

__________________________________________
31880

$222381

As of December31 poo8 the Company had U.S federal U.S state

and non-U.S tax loss and credit carryforwards that will expire if

As of December 31 2008 the total amount of unrecognized tax

benefits that if recognized would affect the Companys effective

tax rate was approximately $7.0 million The difference between

this amount and the amount reflected in the tabular reconciliation

above relates to deferred U.S federal income tax benefits on

unrecognized tax benefits related to U.S state income taxes

interest expense net of deferred federal state and non-U.S tax

benefits and deferred non-U.S income tax benefits on

unrecognized tax benefits related to non-U.S income taxes
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unused as follows

U.S

Federal

in thousands Tax

Year of expiration Credits

U.S

State Tax

Credits

U.S Non-U.S Non-U.S

State Tax Tax

Losses Credits

As of December 31 2007 the total amount of unrecognized tax

benefits that if recognized would affect the Companys effective

tax rate was approximately $4.3 million The difference between

this amount and the amount reflected in the tabular reconciliation

above relates to deferred U.S federal income tax benefits on

unrecognized tax benefits related to U.S state income taxes

Tax interest expense net of deferred federal state and non-U.S tax

Losses Total

benefits and unrecognized tax benefits established in purchase

accounting20092012 1476 44921 3108

After 2012 2966 2216 229299 22810

Indefinite 2426 180 25852

Total $2966 $11118 $274220 $180 $51770

Deferred tax

asset on

tax carry-

forwards $2966 7227 12691 $180 $14502 $37566

Of the $37.6 milliondeferred tax asset for tax loss and credit carryfor

wards at December 31 2008 $33.5 millionhas been offset by valu

ation allowance due to the uncertainty of the Company ultimately

realizing future tax benefits from these cariyforwards In addition the

Company considers it unlikely that portion of the tax benefit related

to various U.S and non-U.S deferred tax assets will be realized

Accordingly $32.7 mfflion valuation allowance has been established

against these U.S and non-U.S deferred tax assets The Companys

total valuation allowance at December3i 2008 is $66.2 million

During the
years

ended December 31 2008 and December 31 2007

the Company recognized $0.3 million of interest expense and $o.i

million of interest income respectively related to unrecognized tax

benefits in its consolidated statement of operations At

December 31 2008 and December 31 2007 the Company recog

nized $0.7 million and $0.5 million respectively of interest

expense
related to unrecognized tax benefits in its consolidated

balance sheet

The Company regularly assesses the potential outcomes of both

ongoing examinations and future examinations for the current and

prior years
in order to ensure the Companys provision for income

taxes is adequate The Company believes that adequate accruals

have been provided for all open years
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The Companys income tax returns are subject to examination by

the Internal Revenue Service IRS as well as U.S state and local

and non-U.S taxing authorities In May the IRS completed its

examination of the Companys oo federal income tax return As

of December 31 2oo8 the Companys U.S federal income tax

returns for the years ended December 31 oo6 and December 31

oo7 have not yet been examined by the IRS

With few exceptions the Company is no longer subject to U.S state

and local or non-U.S income tax examinations by taxing authorities

for
years before OO3 At this time the Company is currently under

audit by various U.S state and non-U.S taxing authorities As of

December oo8 it is reasonably possible that the Companys

unrecognized tax benefits will decrease by approximately $0.4 mil

lion during the next twelve months as result of the closure of the

aforementioned audits as well as the expiration of non-U.S statutes

of limitation on the assessment and collection of income taxes

Note 4Accrued Liabilities

in thousands December3i oo8 oo
Employee-related expenses 82743 94044

Warranty 27305 32218

Other 136867 104033

$246915 $230295

The Company accrues warranty liabilities when it is probable that

an asset has been impaired or liability has been incurred and the

46
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated

summary of the
warranty liabilities is as follows

Sn thousands For year ended December 31 007

Balance at beginning of
year 32218 $20294

Additions 19158 17896

Less payments deductions 24071 5972

Balance at end of year 2730 32218

Note Other Liabilities

in thousands December 31 2oo8 oo7

Environmental 52396 $35576

Other 26536 29777

$78932 $65353

Note Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed when incurred

These costs were $153.4 million $io6.8 million and $69.7 million

in 2oo8 OO7 and 2oo6 respectively Funds received from

customer-sponsored research and development projects were $15.5

million $8.4 million and $8.8 million received in oo8 OO7 and

oo6 respectively and were recorded in net sales

Note Pension and Postretirement Benefits

In the U.S the Company sponsors defined benefit pension plan

that covers approximately 4% of all U.S employees The benefits

are based on years
of service and compensation on final average

pay basis except for certain hourly employees where benefits are

fixed
per year

of service This plan is funded with trustee in

respect of
past

and current service Charges to expense are based

upon costs computed by an independent actuary The Companys

funding policy is to contribute annually amounts that are allowable

for federal or other income tax purposes These contributions are

intended to provide for future benefits earned to date and those

expected to be earned in the future number of the Companys

non-U.S subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit pension plans that

cover approximately 18% of all non-U.S employees The benefits

are typically based uponyears of service and compensation These

plans are funded with trustees in respect of past and current serv

ice Charges to expense are based upon costs computed by

independent actuaries The Companys funding policy is to

contribute annually amounts that are allowable for tax purposes or

mandated by local statutory requirements These contributions are

intended to provide for future benefits earned to date and those

expected to be earned in the future

Non-union employees hired after December 31 2oo5 are no longer

eligible for participation in the Companys domestic defined bene

fit pension plan or the ELDEC and Interpoint money purchase plan

Instead qualifying employees receive an additional Company

contribution to their 4oiK plan accounts Certain of the Compa

nys non-U.S defined benefit pension plans were also amended

whereby eligibility for new participants will cease

Postretirement health care and life insurance benefits are provided

for certain employees hired before January 1990 who meet

minimum age and service requirements The Company does not

pre-fund these benefits and has the right to modify or terminate

the plan

2oo8
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summary of benefit obligations fair value of plan assets and Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income

funded status is as follows loss consist of

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits Pension Benefitt Postretirement Benefits

in thousands

December3s oo8 poo7 2oo8 oo
inthousands December3t poo8 poor 2oo8 2oo7

Net loss gain $121704 $21480 $4328 $1215

Prior sevice cost credit 2376 242 50
Transition asset 23 43

$124103 $21679 $4328 $1265

Change inbenefit

obligation

Beginning of
year 629241 $624309 18960 t8370

Service cost 13118 16367 137 153

Interest cost 35772 34662 918 1013

Plan participants

contributions 2018 2481

Amendments 2472

Actuarial loss gain 39366 29097 3324 885

Settlement 381

Benefits paid 32062 31755 2159 2513

Foreign currency

exchange impact 76271 9567 75 87

Acquisition/

divestitures/

curtailment 4.474

The projected benefit obligation accumulated benefit obligation

and fair value of plan assets for the U.S and Non-U.S plans are as

follows

Pension Obligations/Assets

in millions

December 31

U.S Non-U.S Total

poo8 pooz poo8 poo oo8 poor

Projected

benefit

obligation $307.4 $308.3 $231.6 $320.9 $539.0 $629.2

Accumulated

benefit

obligation 291.8 292.2 214.8 288.6 506.6 580.8

Fair value of

planassets 197.4 290.8 250.9 398.3 448.3 689.1

2707 965

Benefit obligation at

end of
year 539015 629241 18960

Change inplan assets

Fair value of plan

assets at beginning

ofyear 689081 640238

Actual return on plan

assets 136823 57842

Foreign currency

exchange impact 88099 15108

Employer

contributions 10047 5167

Acquisition

transferred liability 4475

Plan participants

contributions 2018 2481

Settlement 381

Benefits paid 32062 31755

Fair value of plan

assets end of year 448256 689081

Funded status 90759 59840 14457s 18960

Information for pension plans with an accumulated benefit obliga

tion in excess of plan assets is as follows

in thousands December 31 poo8

47

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consist of

in thousands December 31

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

poo8 poo poo8 poo

Projected benefit obligation $338370 $338447

Accumulated benefit obligation 319901 319706

Fair value of plan assets 207875 302522

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost are as follows

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

in thousands

December3i oo8 2007 poo6 poo8 2007 poo6

Net Periodic

Benefit Cost

Service cost 13754 16961 17157 137 153 178

Interest cost 35772 34047 31516 918 1013 1129

Expected return on

plan assets 50826 44681 40346
Amortization of

prior service

cost 492 516 682 50 84 84
Amortization of net

gain loss 707 604 1174 186 128 154
Settlement costs 110

Special

termination

benefits 1207 1870

Net periodic

benefit cost 198 9317 10183 $819 $954 $1069

Other assets 47329 95857

Current liabilities 507 381 1913 2363

Accrued pension and

postretirement

benefits 137581 35636 1z544 16597

90759 59840 $1445z $1896o
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The estimated net loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit

pension plans that will be amortized from accumulated other com

prehensive income into net periodic benefit cost over the next fis

cal year are $7.6 million and $0.5 million respectively The

estimated net gain for the postretirement plan that will be amor

tized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net

periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year is $0.3 million

The weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obliga

tions are as follows

Pension Benefits

December3i 2oo8 2007 2oo6 2oo8 2007 4oo6

U.S Plans

Discount rate

Rate of compensation

increase

Non-U.S Plans

Discount rate

Rate of compensation

increase

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic

benefit cost are as follows

U.S Plans

Discount rate

Expected rate of

return on plan

48 assets

Rate of

compensation

increase

Non-U.S Plans

Discount rate

Expected rate of

return on plan

assets

Rate of

compensation

increase

In developing the long-term rate of return assumption the Com

pany evaluated input from actuaries and investment consultants as

well as long-term inflation assumptions

The discount rate used by the Company for valuing pension

liabilities is based on review of high quality corporate
bond yields

with maturities approximating the remaining life of the projected

benefit obligations

The assumed health care cost trend rates are as follows

year

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to

decline the ultimate trend rate

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend

rate

Assumed health care cost trend rates have significant effect on the

amounts reported for the Companys health care plans

one -percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend

rates would have the following effects

in thousands

Effect on total of service and interest cost

components 62 56
Effect on postretirement benefit

obligation 684 628

PlanAssets The Companys pension plan weighted-average asset

allocations by asset category are as follows

AssetCategoryDeceniber3l 2008 2007

Equity securities 43/o 62/o

Debt securities 36/o 29/o

Money market 100/s 3/o

Other 110/0 6/o

Equity securities include Crane Co common stock which repre

sents 30/s
and 4% of plan assets at Deceniber 31 2008 and 2007

respectively

The primary investment objective of the Companys various pen
sion trusts is to maximize the value of plan assets focusing on capi

tal preservation current income and long-term growth of capital

and income The plans assets are typically invested in broad

range
of equities debt and cash instruments

The Company or its
agents

exercise reasonable care skill and cau

tion in making investment decisions number of factors are eval

uated in determining if an investment strategy
will be employed by

the Companys pension trusts These factors include but are not

limited to investment style investment risk investment manager

performance and costs

The Company periodically reviews investment managers and their

performance in relation to the plans investment objectives The

Company expects its pension trust investments to meet or exceed

their predetermined benchmark indices net of fees Generally

however the Company realizes that investment strategies should be

given full market cycle normally over three to five-year time

period to achieve stated objectives

Cash Flows The Company expects based on current actuarial

calculations to contribute cash of approximately $14.7 million to its

defined benefit pension plans and $2.0 million to its other
post-

retirement benefit plan in 2009 Cash contributions in subsequent

years
will depend on nuniber of factors including the investment

performance of plan assets however the Company expects pension

contributions in 2010 will exceed the planned 2009 contributions

One

Percentage

Point

Increase

Postretirement Benefits

One

Percentage

Point

Decrease

6.25/s 00

653.91/o 4.15/s

6.40/o 1.32/o

3.76/o 3.26/o

5.14/o

3.30/S

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

December31 2oo8 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

6.00/o6.2Io 6.00Io 6.00/s So 5.75/s

8Zo 8.75/s 8.75Io

1SJo 3.65/o 3.6S/s

7ft/o 5.14/o 4.950/0

7.12% 6.78Io 6.79Io

274s 3.29/o 3.24/s

December3

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments The following benefit pay
ments which reflect expected future service as appropriate are

expected to be paid

Estimated future payments in thousands

2009 29612 1980

2010 42135 1882

2011 31223 1806

2012 32723 1654

2013 34722 1579

2014-2018 198064 6554

Total payments $368529 $15455

The Company participates
in several multi- employer pension plans

which provide benefits to certain employees under collective bar

gaining agreements Contributions to these plans were $1 .o million

in 2008 and $o.8 million in 2007 and 2006

The Companys subsidiaries ELDEC Corporation and Interpoint

Corporation have money purchase plan to provide retirement bene

fits for all eligible employees The annual contribution is of each

eligible participants gross compensation The contributions were $2.6

millionin 2008 $2.5 mfflion in 2007 and $2.3 lTfllllOfl in 2006

The Company and its subsidiaries sponsor savings and investment

plans that are available to eligible employees of the Company and its

subsidiaries The Company made contributions to the plans of $6.4

million in 2008 $6.5 million in 2007 and $5.2 million in 2006

Note Long-Term Debt and Notes Payable

in thousands Deceniher 31 2008 2007

Long-term debt consists of

5.5o% notes due
2013 199319 199175

6.55% notes due 2036 199060 199026

Other 100 100

Total Long-term debt $398479 $398301

Short-term borrowings 16622 548

In September 2007 the Company entered into five-year $300

million Amended and Restated Credit Agreement the facility

which is due to expire September 26 2012 This facility amends and

restates the five-year $450 million revolving credit agreement

entered into on January21 2005 which included $150 million

term loan component that was terminated by the Company in May

2005 The facility allows the Company to borrow repay or to the

extent permitted by the agreement prepay
and re-borrow at

any

time prior to the stated maturity date and the loan proceeds maybe

used for general corporate purposes including financing for

acquisitions The original facility was amended and restated to

capitalize on favorable bank market conditions and to extend the

maturity
of the facility The facility was not used throughout 2008

2007 and 2006 The facility contains
customary

affirmative and

negative covenants for credit facilities of this type including the

absence of material adverse effect and limitations on the Com

pany and its subsidiaries with respect to indebtedness liens

mergers consolidations liquidations and dissolutions sales of all

or substantially all assets transactions with affiliates and hedging

arrangements The facility also provides for customary events of

default including failure to pay principal interest or fees when

due failure to comply with covenants the fact that any representa

tion or warranty made by the Company is false in any material

respect default under certain other indebtedness certain

insolvency or receivership events affecting the Company and its

subsidiaries certain ERISA events material judgments and

change in control In December 2008 the Company executed

Amendment No to the facility for the purpose of removing

representation regarding its pension liability and to amend certain

other terms The agreement contains leverage ratio covenant

requiring ratio of total debt to total capitalization of less than or

equal to 65/s At December 31 2008 the Companys ratio was 36%

In November 2006 the Company issued notes having an aggregate

principal amount of $200 million The notes are unsecured senior

obligations of the Company that mature on November 15 2036 and

bear interest at 6.55% per annum payable semi-annually on May15

and November of each year The notes have no sinking fund

requirement but maybe redeemed in whole or in part at the

option of the Company If there is change in control and if as

consequence the notes are rated below investment grade by both

Moodys Investors Service and Standard Poors then holders of

the notes may require the Company to repurchase them in whole or

in part for ioio/s of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid

interest Debt issuance costs are deferred and included in Other

assets and then amortized as component of interest
expense over

the term of the notes Including debt issuance cost amortization

these notes have an effective annualized interest rate of 6.67%

In September 2003 the Company issued notes having an aggregate

principal amount of $200 million The notes are unsecured senior

obligations of the Company that mature on September 152013 and

bear interest at 5.5o% per annum payable semi-annually on March

and September of eachyear The notes have no sinking fund

requirement but may be redeemed in whole or part at the option of

the Company Debt issuance costs are deferred and included in Other

assets and then amortized as component of interest
expense over the

term of the notes Including debt issuance cost amortization these

notes have an effective annualized interest rate of 5.7o%

All outstanding senior unsecured notes were issued under an

indenture dated as of April 1991 The indenture contains certain

limitations on liens and sale and lease-back transactions

The Company has an effective shelf registration filed on Form S-3

with the Securities and Exchange Commission allowing it to issue

in one or more offerings an indeterminate amount of either senior

or subordinated debt securities

The Company has domestic unsecured money market bid rate

credit lines for $110 million at December 31 2008

As of December 31 2008 the Company or its subsidiaries had

various local currency credit lines with maximum available

borrowings of $32.3 million underwritten by banks primarily in

the U.S Canada Germany Slovenia and the United Kingdom
These credit lines are typically available for borrowings up to 364

days and are renewable at the option of the lender There was $i6.6

million outstanding under these facilities at December3i 2008

At December 31 2008 the Company had open standby lefters of

credit of $30.3 million issued
pursuant to $6o million

uncommitted Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement and

certain other credit lines substantially all of which expire in 2009

Pension

Benefits

Postretirement

Benefits
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Note Fair Value of Financial instruments

The carrying value of the Companys financial assets and liabilities

including cash accounts receivable accounts payable and short-

term loans payable approximate fair value without being dis

counted due to the short periods during which these amounts are

outstanding Long-term debt rates currently available to the Com

pany for debt with similarterms and remaining maturities are used

to estimate the fair value for debt issues that are not quoted on an

exchange The estimated fair value of long-term debt was $343.4

million and $395.5 million at December 31 2oo8 and 2oo7

respectively

The Company is
party to contractually committed off-balance

sheet chattel
paper financing facility that enables its Crane Mer

chandising Systems business to offer various sales support financ

ing programs to its customers At December 31 oo8 and $19

million and $i million respectively were outstanding Recourse

to the Company for aLl uncollectible loans made to CMSs customrs

by the banks under this agreement is limited to o%
The Company adopted SFAS

157
effective January oo8 for finan

cial assets and liabilities measured on recurring basis On Febru

ary 2oo8 the FASB deferred the effective date of SFAS 157 for all

nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities except those that

are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements

on recurring basis SFAS 157 defines fair value establishes

framework for measuring fair value and generally accepted

accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value

measurements This standard applies in situations where other

50
accounting pronouncements either permit or require fair value

measurements SFAS 157 does not require any new fair value

measurements

Fair value is defined in SFAS i5 as the price that would be received

to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly trans

action between market participants at the measurement date Fair

value measurements are to be considered from the perspective of

market participant that holds the asset or owes the liability SFAS

157 also establishes fair value hierarchy which requires an entity

to maximizethe use of observable inputs and minimize the use of

unobservable inputs when measuringfair value

The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to

measure fair value

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical or similar

assets and liabilities

Level Quoted prices for identical or similar assets and

liabilities in markets that are not active or observable inputs

other than quoted prices in active markets for identical or

similar assets and liabilities

Level Unobservable
inputs

that are supported by little or no

market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the

assets or liabilities

The Company has forward contracts outstanding with related receiv

ables of $0.03 million and payables of $2.42 million as of

December 31 2oo8 which are reported at fair value using Level

inputs

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Stan

dards No 159 Fair Value Option of Financial Assets and Financial

Liabilities effective Januarys 2oo8 This statement provides

companies with an option to report selected financial assets and

liabilities at fair value The Company did not elect the fair value

option for
any

of such eligible financial assets or financial liabilities

Note 10 Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases certain facilities vehicles and equipment

Future minimum payments by year
and in the

aggregate
under

leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more consisted

of the following at December 31 2oo8

Minimum

Operating Sublease

Leases Income

2009 $u455 29 $11426

2oio 10411 90 10321

2011 6500 91 6409

2o12 5106 95 5011

2013 3092 57 3035

Thereafter 4964 4964

Total minimum lease

payments $41528 $362 $41166

Rental expense was $28.4 million $25.5 million and $20.9 million

for 2oo8 2007 and 2oo6 respectively

The Company entered into seven year operating lease for an air

plane in the first quarter of 2007 which includes $14.1 million

residual value guarantee by the Company This commitment is

secured by the leased airplane and the fair value of the residual

value guarantee was recorded as $o.6 million liability as of

March 31 2007

Asbestos Liability

Information Regarding Claims and Costs in the Tort System

As of December 35 2008 the Company was defendant in cases

filed in various state and federal courts alleging injury or death as

result of
exposure to asbestos Activity related to asbestos claims

during the periods indicated was as follows

Beginning claims 80999 85941 89017

New claims 4671 3417 4853

Settlements 1236 1441 043

Dismissals 9562 918 886

Ending claims 74872 80999 85941

as of the adoption date

in thousands Net

Year Ended December3i

2008 2007 2006

Includes Norris judgment

Does not include 36389 maritime actions that were filed in the United States District

Court for the Northern District of Ohio and transferred to the Eastern District of

Pennsylvania pursuant to an order by the Federal judicial Panel on Multi.District

Litigation MDL These claims have been placed on the inactive docket of cases

that are administratively dismissed without prejudice in the MDL
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Of the 74872 pending claims as of December 31 2oo8 approx

imately 25200 claims were pending in New York approximately

24300 claims were pending in Mississippi approximately 9300
claims were pending in Texas and approximately 3600 claims were

pending in Ohio all jurisdictions in which legislation or judicial

orders restrict the types of claims that can proceed to trial on the

merits

Substantially all of the claims the Company resolves are concluded

through settlements To date the Company has paid one judgment

arising from an adverse juty verdict in an asbestos matter That

payment in the amount of $2.54 million was made on July 14

2008 approximately two years
after the adverse verdict in the

Joseph Norris matter in California after the Company had

exhausted all post-trial and appellate remedies Such judgment

amounts are not included in the Companys incurred costs until

available appeals are exhausted and the final payment amount is

determined

During the fourth quarter of 2007 and the first quarter of 2008 the

Company tried several cases resulting in defense verdicts by the

jury or directed verdicts for the defense by the court However on

March 14 2008 the Company received an adverse verdict in the

James Baccus claim in Philadelphia Pennsylvania with compensa

tory damages of $2.45 million and additional damages of $11.9 mil

lion The Companys post-trial motions were denied by order dated

January 2009 The Company intends to pursue
all available rights

to appeal the verdict

On May i6 2008 the Company received an adverse verdict in the

Chief Brewer claim in Los Angeles California The amount of the

judgment entered was approximately $679000 plus interest and

costs The Company is pursuing an appeal in this matter

The gross settlement and defense costs incurred before insurance

recoveries and tax effects for the Company in the years ended

December oo8 2007 and 2006 totaled $97.1 million $87.5

million $69.1 million respectively In contrast to the recognition

of settlement and defense costs that reflect the current level of

activity in the tort system cash payments and receipts generally lag

the tort system activity by several months or more and may show

some fluctuation from quarter to quarter Cash payments of

settlement amounts are not made until all releases and other

required documentation are received by the Company and

reimbursements of both settlement amounts and defense costs by

insurers maybe uneven due to insurer payment practices tran

sitions from one insurance layer to the next excess layer and the

payment terms of certain reimbursement agreements The

Companys total pre-tax payments for settlement and defense costs

net of funds received from insurers in the
years

ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 totaled $8.i million $10.2

million reflecting the receipt of $31.5 million in previously

escrowed funds from Equitas Limited Equitas in January2007

and the receipt of $o.o million for full policy buyout from

Employers Reinsurance Company ERC inApril 2007 and

$40.6 million respectively Detailed below are the comparable

amounts for the periods indicated

Settlement indemnity costs

incurredi $45.2 $41.6 $26.3 $169.3

Defense costs incurred 519 45.9 42.8 214.3

Total costs incurred $97.1 $87.5 69.1 $383.6

Pre-taxcashpayments2 $58.1 $10.2 $40.6 $194.0

Before insurance recoveries and tax effects

Net of payments received from insurers including $31.5 million payment from

Equitas in January 2007 and $10.0 million from ERC in April 2007 Cumulative

amounts include certain legal fees and expenses related to the terminated MSA in

2005

The amounts shown for settlement and defense costs incurred and

cash payments are not necessarily indicative of future period

amounts which maybe higher or lower than those reported

Effects on the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

The Company has retained the firm of Hamilton Rabinovitz

Associates Inc HRA nationally recognized expert in the

field to assist management in estimating the Companysasbestos

liability in the tort system HRA reviews information provided by

the Company concerning claims filed settled and dismissed

amounts paid in settlements and relevant claim information such as

the nature of the asbestos related disease asserted by the claimant

the jurisdiction where filed and the time lag from filing to dis

position of the claim The methodology used by HR.Ato project

future asbestos costs is based largely on the Companys experience

during the two full preceding calendar years and additional quar

terly periods to the estimate date for claims filed settled and dis

missed The Companys experience is then compared to the results

of previously conducted epidemiological studies estimating the

number of individuals likely to develop asbestos related diseases

Those studies were undertaken in connection with national analy

ses of the population of workers believed to have been exposed to

asbestos Using that information HRA estimates the number of

future claims that would be filed against the Company as well as the

related settlement or indemnity costs that would be incurred to

resolve those claims This methodology has been accepted by

numerous courts After discussions with the Company HRA
augments its liability estimate for the costs of defending asbestos

claims in the tort system using forecast from the Company which

is based upon discussions with its defense counsel Based on this

information HRA compiles an estimate of the Companys asbes

tos liability for pending and future claims based on claim experi

ence over the past two to three years and covering claims expected

to be filed through the indicated period Although the methodology

used by HRAwill also show claims and costs for subsequent peri

ods up to and including the endpoint of the asbestos studies

referred to above management believes that the level of

uncertainty regarding the various factors used in estimating future

asbestos costs is too great to provide for reasonable estimation of

the number of future claims the nature of such claims or the cost to

resolve them for
years beyond the indicated estimate

In the Companysview the forecast period used to provide the best

estimate for asbestos claims and related liabilities and costs is

judgment based upon number of trend factors including the

number and type of claims being filed each year the jurisdictions

where such claims are filed and the effect of
any legislation or judi

cial orders in such jurisdictions restricting the types of claims that

in millions

Year Ended December3i

2008 2007 2006

Cumulative to

Date Through

December3i
too8
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can proceed to trial on the merits and the likelihood of
any compre

hensive asbestos legislation at the federal level In addition the

dynamics of asbestos litigation in the tort system have been sig

nificantly affected over the past five to ten years by the substantial

number of companies that have filed for bankruptcy protection

thereby staying any asbestos claims against them until the con

clusion of such proceedings and the establishment of number of

post-bankruptcy trusts for asbestos claimants which are estimated

to provide $25 billion for payments to current and future claimants

These trend factors have both positive and negative effects on the

dynamics of asbestos litigation in the tort system and the related

best estimate of the Companys asbestos liability and these effects

do not move in linear fashion but rather change over multi-year

periods Accordingly the Companys management monitors these

trend factors over time and periodically assesses whether an alter

native forecast period is appropriate

Liability Estimate With the assistance of HRA effective as of

September 30 2007 the Company updated and extended its esti

mate of the asbestos liability including the costs of settlement or

indemnity payments and defense costs relating to currently pend

ing claims and future claims projected to be filed against the Com

pany through 2017 The Companys previous estimate was for

asbestos claims filed through 2011 As result of this updated

estimate the Company recorded an additional liability of $586 mil

lion as of September 30 2007 The Companys decision to take this

action at such date was based on several factors First the number

of asbestos claims being filed against the Company has moderated

substantially over the past several years and in the Companys
52 opinion the outlook for asbestos claims expected to be filed and

resolved in the forecast period is reasonably stable Second these

claim trends are particularly true for mesothelioma claims which

although constituting only 5% of the Companys total pending

asbestos claims have accounted for approximately 900/s of the

Companys aggregate settlement and defense costs over the past five

years Third federal legislation that would significantly change the

nature of asbestos litigation failed to pass in 2006 and in the

Companys opinion the prospects for such legislation at the federal

level are remote Fourth there have been significant actions taken

by certain state legislatures and courts over the past several years

that have reduced the number and types of claims that can proceed

to trial which has been significant factor in stabilizing the asbes

tos claim
activity Fifth the Company has now entered into

coverage -in-place agreements with majority of its excess

insurers which enables the Company to project more stable rela

tionship between settlement and defense costs paid by the Com

pany and reimbursements from its insurers Taking all of these

factors into account the Company believes that it can reasonably

estimate the asbestos liability for pending claims and future claims

to be filed through 2017 While it is probable that the Company will

incur additional charges for asbestos liabilities and defense costs in

excess of the amounts currently provided the Company does not

believe that
any

such amount can be reasonably estimated beyond

2017 Accordingly no accrual has been recorded for
any

costs which

may be incurred for claims made subsequent to 2017

Management has made its best estimate of the costs through 2017

based on the analysis by HRA completed in October 2007

liability of $io million was recorded as of September 30 2007 to

coverthe estimated cost of asbestos claims nowpendingorsub

sequently asserted through 2017 The liability is reduced when cash

payments are made in respect of settled claims and defense costs

The liability was $930 million as of December 31 2008 approx

imately 68% is attributable to settlement and defense costs for

future claims projected to be filed through 2017 It is not possible to

forecast when cash payments related to the asbestos liability will be

fully expended however it is expected such cash payments will

continue for number of years past 2017 due to the significant

proportion of future claims included in the estimated asbestos

liability and the lag time between the date claim is filed and when

it is resolved

Insurance Coverage and Receivables Prior to 2005 significant

portion of the Companys settlement and defense costs were paid by

its primary insurers With the exhaustion of that primary coverage

the Company began negotiations with its excess insurers to

reimburse the Company for portion of its settlement and defense

costs as incurred To date the Company has entered into agree

ments providing for such reimbursements known as

coverage-in-place with nine of its excess insurer groups Under

such coverage-in-place agreements an insurers policies remain in

force and the insurer undertakes to provide coverage for the

Companys present and future asbestos claims on specified terms

and conditions that address among other things the share of

asbestos claims costs to be paid by the insurer payment terms

claims handling procedures and the expiration of the insurers

obligations On March 2008 the Company reached agreement

with certain London Market Insurance Companies North River

Insurance Company and TIG Insurance Company confirming the

aggregate amount of available
coverage

under certain London poli

cies and setting forth schedule for future reimbursement pay
ments to the Company based on aggregate indemnity and defense

payments made In addition with four of its excess insurer groups

the Company entered into policy buyout agreements settling all

asbestos and other coverage obligations for an agreed sumtotaling

$61.3 million in aggregate The most recent of these buyouts was

reached in October 2008 with Highlands Insurance Company
which currently is in receivership in the State of Texas The settle

ment agreement with Highlands was formally approved by the Texas

receivership court on December 2008 and Highlands paid the

full settlement amount $14.5 million to Crane Co on January

2009 Reimbursements from such insurers for past and ongoing

settlement and defense costs allocable to their policies have been

made as coverage-in-place and other agreements are reached with

such insurers All of these agreements include provisions for

mutual releases indemnification of the insurer and for

coverage-in-place claims handling procedures The Company is in

discussions with or expects to enter into additional

coverage-in-place or other agreements with other of its solvent

excess insurers not currently subject to settlement agreement

whose policies are expected to respond to the aggregate costs

included in the updated liability estimate If it is not successful in

concluding such coverage-in-place or other
agreements

with such

insurers then the Company anticipates that it would pursue liti

gation to enforce its rights under such insurers policies

In conjunction with developing the
aggregate liability estimate

referenced above the Company also developed an estimate of

probable insurance recoveries for its asbestos liabilities In

developing this estimate the Company considered its

coverage-in-place and other settlement agreements described

above as well as number of additional factors These additional
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factors include the financial viability of the insurance companies

the method by which losses will be allocated to the various

insurance policies and the
years

covered by those policies how set

tlement and defense costs will be covered by the insurance policies

and interpretation of the effect on coverage
of various policy terms

and limits and their interrelationships In addition the timing and

amount of reimbursements will
vaiy

because the Companys
insurance

coverage
for asbestos claims involves multiple insurers

with different policy terms and certain gaps in coverage In addition

to consulting with legal counsel on these insurance matters the

Company retained insurance consultants to assist management in

the estimation of probable insurance recoveries based upon the

aggregate liability estimate described above and assuming the con

tinued viability of all solvent insurance carriers After considering

the foregoing factors and consulting with legal counsel and such

insurance consultants the Company determined its probable

insurance reimbursement rate for the aggregate liability recorded

as of September 30 2007 to be 33% An asset of $351 million was

recorded as of September 30 2007 representing the probable

insurance reimbursement for such claims The asset is reduced as

reimbursements and other payments from insurers are received

The asset was $302 million as of December 31 2oo8

Uncertainties Estimation of the Companys ultimate exposure for

asbestos-related claims is subject to significant uncertainties as

there are multiple variables that can affect the timing severity and

quantity of claims The Company cautions that its estimated liability

is based on assumptions with respect to future claims settlement

and defense costs based on recent experience during the last few

years
that may not prove reliable as predictors significant upward

or downward trend in the number of claims filed depending on the

nature of the alleged injury the jurisdiction where filed and the

quality of the product identification or significant upward or

downward trend in the costs of defending claims could change the

estimated liability as would substantial adverse verdicts at trial

legislative solution or revised structured settlement transaction

could also change the estimated liability

The same factors that affect developing estimates of probable

settlement and defense costs for asbestos-related liabilities also

affect estimates of the probable insurance payments as do num
ber of additional factors These additional factors include the

financial viability of the insurance companies the method by which

losses will be allocated to the various insurance policies and the

years
covered by those policies how settlement and defense costs

will be covered by the insurance policies and interpretation of the

effect on coverage of various policy terms and limits and their

interrelationships In addition due to the uncertainties inherent in

litigation matters no assurances can be given regarding the out

come of
any litigation if

necessary
to enforce the Companys rights

under its insurance policies

Many uncertainties exist surrounding asbestos litigation and the

Company will continue to evaluate its estimated asbestos-related

liability and corresponding estimated insurance reimbursement as

well as the underlying assumptions and process used to derive these

amounts These uncertainties may result in the Company incurring

future charges or increases to income to adjust the carrying value of

recorded liabilities and assets particularly if the number of claims

and settlement and defense costs change significantly or if legis

lation or another alternative solution is implemented however the

Company is currently unable to estimate such future changes

Although the resolution of these claims may take many years
the

effect on results of operations
financial position and cash flows in

any given period from revision to these estimates could be

material

Other Contingencies

Environmental Matters

For environmental matters the Company records liability for

estimated remediation costs when it is probable that the Company

will be responsible for such costs and they can be reasonably esti

mated Generally third party specialists assist in the estimation of

remediation costs The environmental remediation liability at

December 31 2008 is substantially all for the former manufactur

ing site in Goodyear Arizona the Site discussed below

The Site was operated by TJniDynamics/Phoenix Inc UPI
which became an indirect subsidiary of the Company in 1985 when

the Company acquired UPIs parent company UniDynamics

Corporation UPI manufactured explosive and pyrotechnic com

pounds including components for critical militaryprograms for

the U.S government at the Site from 1962 to 1993 under contracts

with the Department of Defense and other government agencies

and certain of their prime contractors No manufacturing oper

ations have been conducted at the Site since 1994 The Site was

placed on the National Priorities List in 1983 and is now part of the

Phoenix-GoodyearAirport North Superfund site In 1990 the U.S

Environmental Protection Agency EPA issued administrative

orders requiring UPI to design and carry out certain remedial

actions which UPI has done Groundwater extraction and treat

ment systems have been in operation at the Site since 1994 soil

vapor extraction system was in operation from 1994 to 1998 was

restarted in 2004 and is currently in operation On July 26 2006

the Company entered into consent decree with the EPAwith

respect to the Site providing for among other things work plan

for further investigation and remediation activities at the Site The

Company recorded liability in 2004 for estimated costs through

2014 after reaching substantial agreement on the
scope

of work

with the EPA At the end of September 2007 the liability totaled

$15.4 million During the fourth quarter of 2007 we and our

technical advisors determined that changing groundwater flow

rates and contaminant plume direction at the Site required addi

tional extraction systems as well as modifications and upgrades of

the existing systems In consultation with our technical advisors we

prepared forecast of the expenditures required for these new and

upgraded systems as well as the costs of operation over the forecast

period through 2014 Takingthese additional costs into consid

eration we estimated our liability for the costs of such activities

through 2014 to be $41.5 million as of December 31 2007 During

the fourth quarter of 2008 based on further consultation with our

advisors and the EPA and in response to groundwater monitoring

results that reflected continuing migration in contaminant plume

direction during the year we revised our forecast of remedial activ

ities to increase the level of extraction systems
and the number of

monitoring wells in and around the Site among other things Our

revised liability estimate of $65.2 million which is included in

accrued liabilities and other liabilities in our consolidated balance

sheet resulted in an additional charge of $24.3 million during the

fourth
quarter

of 2008

On July 31 2006 the Company entered into consent decree with

the U.S Department of Justice DOJ on behalf of the Depart-
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ment of Defense and the Department of Energr pursuant to which

among other things the U.S Government reimburses the Company

for percent of qualifying costs of investigation and remediation

activities at the Site As of December 31 2oo8 the Company has

recorded receivable of $13.7 million for the expected reimburse

ments from the U.S Government in respect of the aggregate

liability as at that date

The Company has been identified as potentially responsible party

with respect to environmental contamination at the Crab Orchard

National Wildlife Refuge Sup erfund Site the Site The Site is

located about five miles west of Marion Illinois and consists of

approximately 55000 acres Beginning in 1941 the United States

used the site for the production of ordinance and other related

products for use in World War II In the Site was transferred

to the United States Fish and Wildlife Service and about 30000
acres of the Site were leased to variety of industrial tenants whose

activities which continue to this day included manufacturing

ordinance and explosives predecessor to the Company formerly

leased portions of the Site and conducted manufacturing oper
ations at the Site from 1952 until 1964 General Dynamics Ord

nance and Tactical Systems Inc GD-OTS is in the process of

conducting the remedial investigation and feasibility study RI/
FS at the Site pursuant to an Administrative Order on Consent

between GD-OTS and the U.S Fish and Wildlife Service the U.S

Environmental Protection Agency and the Illinois Environmental

Protection Agency The Company is not party to that agreement

and has not been asked by any agency of the United States Govern

ment to participate in any activity relative to the Site We are

54 informed that GD-OTS completed Phase remedial investigation

in 2oo8 is performing Phase II remedial investigation scheduled

for completion in 2olo and that the feasibility study is projected to

be complete in mid to late 2o12 No discussion about the allocable

share of the various PRPs including the U.S Government is likely

to take place before the end of 2olo The Company has no

information regarding the potential cost of the remediation work

nor does it have any estimate of its relative share of past or future

costs incurred at the Site The Company has notified its insurers of

this potential liability and will seek coverage under its insurance

policies

False ClaimsProceeding

The Company engaged in discussions with attorneys from the Civil

Division of the DOJ for over year regarding allegations that certain

valves sold by the Companys Crane Valves North America unit

GVNA to private customers that ultimately were delivered to

U.S militaryagencies did not conform to contractual specifications

relating to the place of manufacture and the origin of component

parts The DOJs allegations originated with qui tam complaint

filed under seal by former CVNA employee The DOJ ultimately

intervened in that case and on March 31 oo7 filed complaint

against the Company in the United States District Court for the

Southern District of Texas seeking unspecified damages for viola

tions of the False Claims Act and other common law claims The

complaint alleged that CVNA failed to notify the correct U.S mili

tary agency when its manufacturing location for Mil- Spec valves

listed on the Qualified Products List was moved from Long Beach

California to Conroe Texas in 2003 As result the complaint

alleged that the valves manufactured in Texas were not properly

listed on the Qualified Product List as required by the contract

specifications

The Company received letter from the Department of the Navy on

February 142007 conveying the Navys concerns about the Quali

fied Products List allegations raised by the DOJ The Department of

the Navy advised the Company that if true these allegations could

potentially result in the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates

being suspended and/or debarred from doing business with the

U.S Government

The Company cooperated with the Governments investigation of

these matters and negotiated settlement agreement with the DOJ

providing for among other things the payment of $7.5 million to

the United States and $125000 to
pay

the legal fees of the former

employee who filed the qui tam complaint In addition the Com

pany negotiated an administrative agreement with the Department

of the Navy for term of three
years pursuant to which the Company

will implement certain changes to its compliance programs and

report to the Navy on quarterly basis These agreements were

executed and became effective on July 27 2007 The Company

acknowledged the failure to notify the Navy and update the Quali

fied Products List but denies that this omission violated the False

Claims Act The failure to notify the Navy was unintentional and

there was no misconduct by Company personnel The Company

determined to settle this matter to avoid the risks of costly and

protracted legal proceedings

Other Proceedings

The Company has been defending two separate lawsuits brought by

customers alleging failure of the Companys fiberglass-reinforced

plastic material in recreational vehicle sidewalls manufactured by

such customers The first lawsuit went to trial in January2008

resulting in an award of $3.2 million in compensatory damages on

two out of seven claims The Court denied the plaintiffs claim for

additional post-trial equitable relief and entered final judgment

which included prejudgment interest of approximately $o.6 mil

lion The total award of $3.8 million was paid in mid-2008 and the

plaintiff has waived its right to an appeal

The other lawsuit went to trial in mid-January of 2009 solely on the

issue of liability and on January27 the jury returned verdict of

liability against the Company The next phase of the trial to be

scheduled in the fall of 2009 will determine damages The

aggregate damages sought in this lawsuit include approximately

$9.5 million in repair costs allegedly incurred by the plaintiffs as

well as approximately $55 million in other consequential losses

such as discounts and other incentives paid to induce sales lost

market share and lost profits The Company will actively explore its

appellate options with view towards overturning this verdict and

will vigorously defend itself against the damages sought The Com

pany is in discussions with its insurers regarding coverage
for this

liability

The Company is also defending series of five separate lawsuits

which have now been consolidated revolving around fire that

occurred in May 2003 at chicken processing plant located near

Atlanta Georgia that destroyed the plant The aggregate damages

demanded by the plaintiff are in excess of $o million These law

suits contend that certain fiberglass-reinforced plastic material

manufactured by the Company that was installed inside the plant

was unsafe in that it acted as an accelerant causing the fire to

spread rapidly resulting in the total loss of the plant and
property

The suits are in the early stages of pre-trial discovery and the

Company believes that it has valid defenses to the underlying claims
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raised in these lawsuits The Company has given notice of these

lawsuits to its insurance carriers and will seek coverage
for

any

resulting losses Based on review of its
coverage however the

Company has determined that it is facing potential $25 million

gap in insurance coverage for the layer of insurance which would

have provided protection for losses above $25 million but below

$5o million The Company has initiated certain actions aimed at

closing the gap in insurance coverage
If the plaintiffs in these

lawsuits were to prevail at trial and be awarded the full extent of

their claimed damages and the
gap

in
coverage was not closed the

resulting liability could have significant on the Companys results

of operations and cash flows in the periods affected

number of other lawsuits claims and proceedings have been or

may be asserted against the Company relating to the conduct of its

business including those pertaining to product liability patent

infringement commercial employment employee benefits envi

ronmental and stockholder matters While the outcome of litigation

cannot be predicted with certainty and some of these other law

suits claims or proceedings may be determined adversely to the

Company the Company does not believe that the disposition of
any

such other pending matters is likely to have significant on its

financial condition or liquidity although the resolution in
any

reporting period of one or more of these matters could have sig

nificant on the Companys results of operations and cash flows for

that period

Note uAcquisitions and Divestitures

During 2008 the Company completed two acquisitions at total

cost of $79 million in cash and the assumption of $z million of net

debt The preliminary allocation of goodwill for these acquisitions

amounted to $48 million The final purchase price allocations will

be completed in the first half of 2009

In December 2008 the Company acquired all of the capital stock of

KronThach manufacturer of specialty valve flow solutions for the

power oil and gas and chemical markets The purchase price was

$i million in cash and the assumption of $17 million of net debt

Krombachs 2008 full
year

sales were approximately $ioo million

and is being integrated into the Companys Fluid Handling seg

ment Goodwill for this acquisition has initially been allocated at

$31 million

In September 2008 the Company acquired Delta designer and

manufacturer of regulators and fire safe valves for the gas industry

and safety valves and air vent valves for the building services mar

ket for $28 million in cash Delta had full
year

sales of approx

imately $39 million in 2008 and is being integrated into the

Companys Fluid Handling segment Goodwill for this acquisition

has initially been allocated at $17 million

During 2007 the Company completed two acquisitions at total

cost of $65 million The allocation of goodwill for these acquisitions

amounted to $29 million The final purchase price allocations were

completed during 2008

In September 2007 the Company acquired the composite panel

business of Owens Corning which produces among other prod

ucts high gloss fiberglass reinforced plastic panels used in the

manufacture of recreational vehicles The purchase price was $38

million in cash The acquired business had $40 millionof sales in

2006 and is being integrated into the Noble Composites business

within the Engineered Materials segment Goodwill for this acquis

ition amounted to $i8 million

In August 2007 the Company acquired the Mobile Rugged Business

of KontronAmerica Inc which produces computers electronics

and flat panel displays for harsh environment applications The

purchase price was $26.6 million The acquired business had sales

of $25 million in 2006 and is being integrated into the Azonix

business within the Controls segment Goodwill for this acquisition

amounted to $12 million

In December 2007 together with the Companys partner Emerson

Electric Co the Industrial Motion Control LLC IMC joint

venture was sold generating proceeds to the Company of $33 mil

lion The investment in IMC was $29 million and the Company

recorded income in 2007 2006 and 2005 of $5.3 million $.6 mil

lion and $6.o million respectively

During 2006 the Company completed five acquisitions at total

cost of $283 million The allocation of goodwill for these acquis

itions amounted to $148 million The final purchase price alloca

tions were completed during 2007

In October 2006 the Company acquired all of the outstanding capi

tal stock of Dixie-Narco Inc Dixie-Narco for purchase price

of $46 million in cash Dixie-Narco is the largest can bottle mer

chandising equipment manufacturer in the world Primary

customers are the major soft drink companies in addition equip

ment is marketed to global vending operators Dixie-Narco was

integrated into the Companys Merchandising Systems segment

Goodwill for this acquisition amounted to $14 million

In September 2006 the Company acquired all the outstanding capi

tal stock of Noble Composites Inc Noble for cash purchase

price of $72 million Noble located in Goshen Indiana was pri

vately held company specializing in the manufacture and sale of

premium high-gloss finished composite panels for use by motor

home and travel trailer manufacturers Noble had annual sales of

$37 million in 2005 Noble was integrated into the Companys

Engineered Materials segment Goodwill for this acquisition

amounted to $31 million

In June 2006 the Company acquired certain assets of Automatic

Products International AP privately held manufacturer of

vending equipment In September 2006 additional assets of AP

were acquired and second payment made for total purchase

price of $3o million The acquisition included APs extensive dis

tribution network product line designs and trade names manu

facturing equipment aftermarket parts business inventory and

other related assets The purchase did not include AlPs

manufacturing facility located in St Paul Minnesota AP equip

ment production has been consolidated into the Companys Mer

chandising Systems facility in St Louis Missouri AP was

integrated into the Companys Merchandising Systems segment

Goodwill for this acquisition amounted to $ii million

In June 2006 the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital

stock of Telequip Corporation Telequip for cash purchase

price of $45 million Telequip with headquarters in Salem New

Hampshire has been manufacturing coin dispensing equipment

since 1974 Telequip provides embedded and free-standing coin

dispensing solutions principally focused on applications in

supermarkets convenience stores quick- service restaurants and

self-checkout and kiosk equipment markets Telequips coin dis

pensers have particularly strong position in automated self

checkout markets Telequip had total annual sales of $20 million in
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2oo6 Telequip was integrated into the Companys Merchandising

Systems segment Goodwill for this acquisition amounted to $37

million

In January poo6 the Company acquired substantially all of the

assets of CashCode Co Inc CashCode manufacturer of bill

validators storage and recycling devices for use in variety of niche

applications in vending gaming retail and transportation

industries for $86 million in cash CashCode had sales of $48 mil

lion in 2005 CashCode is located in Concord Ontario Canada and

Kiev Ukraine serving global marketplace with 75% of its sales

outside the United States of which the majority are in Europe and

Russia CashCode was integrated into the Companys Merchandis

lug Systems segment Goodwill for this acquisition amounted to $55

million

In April 2oo6 the Company completed the sale of the outstanding

capital stock of Westad IndustriAlS small specialty valve busi

ness located in Norway This business had $25 million in sales in

2005 Westad was included in the Companys Fluid Handling seg

ment In May poo6 the Company completed the sale of sub

stantially all of the assets of Resistoflex Aerospace manufacturer

of high-performance hose and high pressure fittings located in

Jacksonville FL This business had sales of $i6 million in poo5
Resistoflex Aerospace was included in the CompanysAerospace

Electronics segment The Company recognized an $8.5 million net

gain from these divestitures

Note 12 Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company has two stock-based compensation plans the Stock

Incentive Plan and the Non- Employee Director Stock Compensa
tion Plan Options are granted under the Stock Incentive Plan to

officers and other key employees and directors at an exercise price

equal to the closing price on the date of grant For grants prior to

April 23 2007 the exercise price is equal to the fair market value of

the shares on the date of grant which is defined for purposes of the

plans as the average of the high and low prices for the Companys

common stock on the io trading days ending on the date of grant

Unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee

which administers the plan options become exercisable at rate of

25% after the first year 5o% after the second year 75% after the

thirdyear and 1000/0 after the fourthyear from the date of grant and

expire six years after the date of grant ten years for all options

granted to directors and for options granted to officers and

employees prior to 2004 Options granted prior to January 29

2007 become exercisable at rate of 5o% after the first year 750/s

after the second year and oo% after the third year The Stock

Incentive Plan also provides for awards of restricted common stock

to officers and other key employees subject to forfeiture

restrictions which lapse over time

The Company determines the fair value of each grant using the

Black- Scholes option pricing model The following weighted-

average assumptions for grants made during the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 are as follows

2008 2007 2006

Dividend yield 09Io 85/o 1.37/o

Volatility 23.71/o 25.60/o 26.400/0

Risk-free interest rate 2.71 0/ 4.76/s 4.27/s

Expectediivesinyear 4.20 4.20 4.20

Expected dividend yield is based on the Companys dividend policy

Expected stock volatility was determined based upon the historical

volatility for the four-year-period preceding the date of grant The

risk-free interest rate was based on the yield curve in effect at the

time the options were granted using U.S constant maturities over

the expected life of the option The expected term of the awards

represents the period of time that options granted are expected to

be outstanding

Activity in the Companys stock option plans for the
year

ended

December 31 2oo8 was as follows

Weighted Weighted

NunTherof Average Average

Shares Exercise Remaining

in ooos Price Life Years

Options outstanding at

beginning of period 4591 $30.59

Granted 1025 36.60

Exercised 508 28.33

Canceled 252 35.62

Options outstanding at end of

period 4856 31.83 3.24

Options exercisable at end of

period 3125 $28.99 2.46

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2008

2007 and 2006 was $6.74 $9.55 and $9.21 respectively The total

fair value of shares vested during 2008 2007 and 2006 was $6.6

million $8.5 million and $7.3 million respectively The total

intrinsic value of options exercised during 2008 2007 and 2006

was $6.4 million $19.5 million and $34.2 million respectively The

total cash received from these option exercises was $14.4 million

$27.4 million and $52.5 million respectively and the tax benefit

realized for the tax deductions from option exercises and vesting of

restricted stock was $2.0 million $7.0 million and $13.2 million

respectively The options outstanding and options exercisable have

no aggregate intrinsic value as of December 31 2008 The aggregate

intrinsic value of options outstanding and options exercisable as of

December 31 2007 and December 31 2006 was $56.7 million and

$40.1 million respectively

Included in the Companys share-based compensation was expense

recognized for its restricted stock awards of $8.3 million $8 mil

lion and $8.i million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Changes in the Companys restricted stock for the year ended

December 31 2008 were as follows

Restricted Stock Activity

Weighted

Average

Grant-Date

Fair Value

Unvested restricted stock at beginning of

period 524 $33.28

Granted 297 36.19

Vested 218 30.88

Forfeited 34 34.35

Unvested restricted stock at end of period 569 $35.66

Option Activity

Restricted

Shares

in ooos
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Note 13 Segment Information

The Companys segments are reported on the same basis used internally for evaluating segment performance and for allocating resources The

Company has five reporting segments Aerospace Electronics Engineered Materials Merchandising Systems Fluid Handling and Controls

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies The Company

accounts for intersegment
sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third parties at current market prices

Beginning with the fourth quarter of oo6 the Company has included the Wireless Monitoring Systems and Crane Environmental busi

nesses in the Controls segment which were previously included in the Aerospace Electronics and the Fluid Handling segments

respectively

Information by industry segment follows

Includes
restructuring charge of $2041 in 2008

Includes
restructuring charge of $19096 in 2008

Includes
restructuring charge of $13118 in 2008

Includes
restructuring charge of $5679 in 2008 and restructuring gain of $1 9083 in 2007

Includes restructuring charge
of $768 in 2008

inthousands 2oo8 oo7 oo6

Aerospace Electronics

Net sales outside 638658 628676 566216

Net sales intersegment
184 156

Operating profit 54097 86176 99181

Assets 471768 466673 468652

Goodwill 189.613 189990 189940

Capital expenditures 9625 11723 6511

Depreciation and amortization 809 13432 12599

Engineered Materials

Net sales outside 255434 331029 $309258

Operatingprofitb 4242 58339 50252

Assets 270719 305384 264282

Goodwill 171429 171591 154030

Capital expenditures 8627 13773 5059

Depreciation and amortization 9723 9254 5625

Merchandising Systems

Netsalesoutside 401577 388227 $257818

Operatingprofitc 32028 39684 17529

Assets 302361 348914 338207

Goodwill 153177 173692 146236

Capital expenditures 7051 7883 3117

Depreciation and amortization 13593 16554 12662

Fluid Handling

Net sales outside $1163887 $1136589 999637

Net sales intersegment 68 196 230

Operating profit 159363 159251 107377

Assets 889.067 868873 740390

Goodwill 238880 203337 198214

Capital expenditures 13643 12170 8407

Depreciation and amortization 16292 16832 17317

Controls

Netsalesoutside 146751 134651 $123960

Net sales intersegment
394 561 68

Operatingprofite 11237 9901 10052

Assets 83482 84390 56213

Goodwill 28333 27940 16316

Capital expenditures 4661 1273 1364

Depreciation and amortization 4010 2976 2494
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Information by industry segment continued

in thousands oo8 OO7 2oo6

Consolidated net sales

Reporting segments $2604768 2620fl2 2257343

Intersegment elimination 461 941 454

TOTALNETSALES $2604307 $2619171 $2256889

Operating profit loss

Reporting segments 260967 353351 284391

Corporate before asbestos 39136 51945 36455

Corporate expense asbestos charge 390150

Corporate expense environmental charge 24342 18912

TOTAL OPERATING PROFIT Loss 197489 107656 247336

Interest income 10263 6259 4939

Interest
expense 25799 27404 23015

Miscellaneousnet 1899 9906 9474

Income loss before income taxes 183852 118895 239334

Assets

Reporting segments 2017397 $2074234 1867744

Corporate 757091 803058 569102

TOTAL ASSETS $2774488 $2877292 $2436846

Goodwill

Reporting segments 781232 766550 704736

Capital expenditures

Reporting segments 43607 46822 24458

Corporate 1529 347 2713

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 45136 47169 27171

Depreciation and amortization

Reportingsegments 55427 59048 50697

Corporate 1735 2262 3588

TOTAL DEPBECIATIONANDAMORTJZATJON 57162 61310 54285

Information by geographic segments follows

inthousands oo8 oo 2oo6

Net sales

United States $1567002 $1627980 1421620

Canada 306886 309467 266801

Europe 596785 554985 455799

Other international 133634 126739 112669

TOTALNETSALES $2604307 $2619171 $2256889

Assets

United States 1122561 $1115368 $1104738

Canada 189229 233321 205490

Europe 626297 693141 495084

Other international 79310 32404 62432

Corporate 757091 803058 569102

TOTALASSETS $2774488 $2877292 $2436846

Net saes and Assets
by geographic region are based on the location of the business unit
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Note 14 Quarterly Results For The Year Unaudited

in thousands except per share data For year ended

December 31 First Second Third Fourth Year

oo8

Net sales $678868 $693482 642678 $589279 $2604307

Cost of sales 452531 455647 434382 408476 1751036

Gross profit 226337 237835 208296 180803 883271

Net income loss 48378 59009 36082 8311 135158

Net income loss per basic share 0.81 0.99 0.60 0.14 2.27

Net income loss per diluted share 079 0.97 0.60 0.14 2.24

P007

Net sales $628217 $660897 664093 $665964 2619171

Costof sales 423683 452273 445603 454597 1776157

Gross profit 204534 208624 171660 188475 429973

Net income loss 43645 45736 196950 45227 62342

Net income loss perbasic 0.72 0.77 3.29 0.75 1.04

Net income loss per
diluted share 0.71 0.75 3.29 0.74 1.04

Includes $2044 reimbursement from the U.S Government and $2400 reimbursement from service
provider

both related to the environmental clean-up actreities

Includes the impact of item cited above net of tax

Includes $25737 restructuring charge net of tax and $15822 environmental
provision net of tax

Includes $7600 settlement with the U.S Government

Includes the impact of item cited above net of tax

Includes $250000 asbestos provision net of tax
Includes an $18402 restructuring gain net of tax $1 2293 environmental provision net oftax $5846 gain on sale ofa

joint
venture net oftax $3597 tax impact ofan

asbestos provision recorded in the third quarter of 2007 and $10400 tax provision
for the

potential repatriation
of

foreign
cash

Note 15 Restructuring

qoo8 Actions Recent disruptions in the credit markets and

concerns about global economic growth for industrial businesses

have had significant adverse impact on financial markets and to

an extent the Companys operating results in poo8 For example

the Companys Engineered Materials business segment experi

enced significant declines in operating profit when compared to

2007 This decline reflected substantially lower sales to its tradi

tional recreational vehicle customers driven largely by the

inability of consumers to obtain financing for RVpurchases Sim

ilarly declining vending machine demand resulting from

depressed conditions in the North American vending market has

put pressure on the Companys operating margins within its

Merchandising Systems segment In the Companys Fluid Han

dling segment sales were adversely impacted during the second

half of poo8 by slowing orders from short-cycle North American

businesses and delays of several large valve projects into 2009 In

order to align the Companys cost base to current market con

ditions during the fourth
quarter

of poo8 the Company initiated

broad-based restructuring actions which include facility con

solidations headcount reductions and other related costs the

Restructuring Program At December 31 poo8 the Company

recorded
pre-tax restructuring and related charges in the busi

ness segments totaling $40.7 million as follows Aerospace

Electronics $p.o million Engineered Materials $19.1 million

Merchandising Systems $13.1 million Fluid Handling $5.7 mil

lion and Controls $o.8 million The following table summarizes

the restructuring charges by cost type and business segment

Aerospace Electronics 2.0 2.0

Engineered Materials 1.4 2.0 15.7 19.1

Merchandising Systems 7.9 5.2 13.1

Fluid Handling 5.7 5.7

Controls 0.8 0.8

$17.8 $7.2 $15.7 $40.7

The Company expects the poo8 actions to result in net workforce

reductions of approximately 700 employees the exiting of five

facilities and the disposal of assets associated with the exited

facilities The Company is targeting the majority of all workforce

and all facility related cost reduction actions for completion dur

ing 2009 Approximately 68% of the total pre-tax charge will

require cash payments which the Company will fund with cash

generated from operations The Company expects to incur addi

tional restructuring and related charges of approximately $10.7

million during 2009 to complete these actions as follows Aero

space Electronics $1.3 million Engineered Materials $.o mil

lion and Merchandising Systems $7.3 million The Company

expects recurring pre-tax savings subsequent to initiating all

actions to approximate $51 million annually

in millions

Facility Asset

Exit Write-

Severance Costs Downs Total
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oo7 Actions During the fourth quarter of the Companys
Fluid Handling segment commenced implementation of

restructuring program designed to further enhance operating mar

gins The planned actions include ceasing the manufacture of

malleable iron and bronze fittings at foundry operating facilities in

the UK and Canada respectively and exiting both facilities and

transferring production to China the Foundry Restructuring

The program primarily includes workforce reduction
expenses

and

facility exit costs all of which are expected to be cash costs In

December oo7 the Company recognized workforce reduction

charges of $9 million and also in December oo7 pursuant to this

program the Company sold its foundry facility in the UK generat

ing pre-tax gain of $8 million As of December oo8 the

Company has recognized $ii million in pre-tax charges in con

nection with this program and expects to incur total
pre

-tax charg

es upon program completion of approximately $14 million The

Foundry Restructuring is expected to be substantially completed by

the middle of 0o9 The Company expects pre-tax savings to

approximate $7 million annually

The following table summarizes the accrual balances related to the

Foundry Restructuring

Design and Evaluation of Internal Control over Financial Report

ing Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of we

included
report

of our managements assessment of the design

and effectiveness of our internal controls as part of this Annual

Report on Form io-Kfor the year ended December3i oo8 Our

independent registered public accounting firm also attested to and

reported on our managements assessment of the effectiveness of

internal control over financial reporting Our managements report

and our independent registered public accounting firms attes

tation
report are set forth in Part II Item of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K under the captions entitled Managements Responsi

bility for Financial Reporting and Report of Independent Regis

tered Public Accounting Firm

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures The Companys
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated the

effectiveness of the design and operation of the Companys dis

closure controls and procedures as of the end of the year covered by

this annual report The Companys disclosure controls and proce

dures are designed to ensure that information required to be dis

closed by the Company in the
reports

that are filed or submitted

under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 is recorded processed

summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the

Securities and Exchange Commissions rules and forms and the

information is accumulated and communicated to the Companys
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to allow timely

decisions regarding required disclosure Based on this evaluation

the Companys Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

have concluded that these controls are effective as of the end of the

year
covered by this annual

report

Change in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting During the

fiscal quarter ended December 31 oo8 there have been no

changes in the Companys internal control over financial reporting

identified in connection with our evaluation thereof that have

materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect its

Item 9B Other Information

None

December 31

in millions 2007 Expense Utilization

December 31

2008

6o

Severance $6.8 $1.8 $5.6 $3.0

Other 2.0 1.6 1.6 2.0

Total $8.8
--

$3.4 $z.z $5.0

Item Changes in and Disagreements with

Accountants on Accounting and Financial

Disclosure

None

internal control over financial reporting
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Part III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and

Corporate Governance

The information required byjtem 10 incorporated by reference

to the definitive proxy statement with respect to the 2009 Annual

Meeting of Shareholders which the Company expects to file with

the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A on or about March

2009 except that such information with respect to Executive Offi

cers of the Registrant is included pursuant to Instruction

paragraph of Item oi of Regulation S-K under Part The

Companys Corporate Governance Guidelines its charters for its

Management Organilation and Compensation Committee its

Nominating and Governance Committee and its Audit Committee

and its Code of Ethics are available at www.craneco.coml

investors/corporate_governance.cfm The information on our

website is not part
of this report

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by Item ii is incorporated by reference

to the definitive proxy statement with respect to the 2009 Annual

Meeting of Shareholders which the Company expects to file with

the Commission pursuant to Regulation i4A on or about March

2009

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

Except the information required by Section 201d of Regulation S-Kwhich is set forth below the information rec by Item 12 is

incorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement with respect to the 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders which the Company

has filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation i4A on or about March 2009

Number of securities

Number of securities remaining available

to be issued upon Weighted average for future issuance

exercise of exercise price of under equity

outstanding options outstanding options compensation plans

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders

2004 Stock Incentive Plan 4635711 $31.95 $1754638

2000 Non-employee Director Stock Compensation Plan 219833 29.35 93207

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders

Total 4855544 $31.83 $1847845

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related

Transactions and Director independence

The information required by Item
13

is incorporated by reference

to the definitive
proxy

statement with respect to the 2009 Annual

Meeting of Shareholders which the Company has filed with the

Commission pursuant to Regulation i4A on or about March

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference

to the definitive proxy statement with respect to the 2009 Annual

Meeting of Shareholders which the Company expects to file with

the Commission pursuant to Regulation 4Aon or about March

2009

6i

2009
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Part IV

ftem Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Consolidated Financial Statements

Page

Number

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
36

Consolidated Statements of Operations 37

Consolidated Balance Sheets
38

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
39

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders Equity 40

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 41-60

Exhibits

Exhibit No Description

Exhibit 3.b Companys bylaws as amended onJanuaxy p6 2009

Exhibit ii Computation of net income per share

Exhibit pi Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Exhibit .p Consent of Hamilton Rabinovitz Associates Inc

Exhibit 31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule sa- 14a or 15d- 14a

6p Exhibit 31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule
13a- 14a or 15d- 14a

Exhibit 32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rulei3a- 14b or 15d- i4b

Exhibit 32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule
isa-i4b or i5d- 54b

Exhibits to Form io-K Documents incorporated by reference

The Companys Certificate of Incorporation as amended on May25 1999
contained in Exhibit 3Ato the CompanysAnnual

Report on Form io-K for the fiscal
year

ended December 31 1999

Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders

Note dated September 2003 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-Kfiled

on September 2003

CreditAgreement dated as of July p2 2003 among Crane Co the Borrowing Subsidiaries
party hereto the

Lenders party thereto and JP Morgan Chase Bank as Administrative Agent incorporated by reference in Exhibit

10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-KfiledAugust 29 2003

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September p6 2007 among Crane Co the borrowing

subsidiaries party thereto JP Morgan Chase Bank National Association as Administrative Agent Bank of

America N.A as Syndication Agent and Citibank N.A and The Bank of New York as Documentation Agents

incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8- filed September p6

2007

Amendment No ito Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December i6 poo8 incorporated by

reference to exhibit lo to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-Kfiled Decemberi9 poo8
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Indenture dated as of April 99 between the Registrant and the Bank of NewYork incorporated by reference to Exhibit ij
to the CompanysAnnual Report on Form ia-K for the year ended December 31 2005

so Material Contracts

iii Compensatory Plans

The Crane Co 1998 Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Plan contained in Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys

Registration Statement No 333-50495 on Form S-8 filed with the Commission onApril 20 1998

The Crane Co 2000 Non-Employee Director Stock Compensation Plan contained in Exhibit ioa to the Companys

Quarterly Report on Form io-Q for the
quarter

ended March 31 2000

The employment agreement
with Eric Fast contained in Exhibit soj to the Companys Annual Report on Form io-K

for the year ended December 31 2000

The Crane Co 2001 Stock Incentive Plan contained in Exhibit iob to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form io-Q

for the cluarter ended March 31 2001

The employment agreement as amended with Robert Evans contained in Exhibit
10.3 to the Companys Quarterly

Report on Form io-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2004

The Crane Co 2004 Stock Incentive Plan contained in Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form io-Q

for the quarter
ended March 31 2004

The Crane Co Corporate EVA Incentive Compensation Plan contained in Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Quarterly

Report on Form io-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2004

The Crane Co Retirement Plan for Non-Employee Directors as amended December 2005 contained in Exhibit io.i

to the Companys Form 8-K filed January23 2006

2007 Stock Incentive Plan contained inAppendixAto the Companys Proxy Statement filed on March 92007

2007 Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan contained inAppendix to the Companys Proxy Statement filed on

March 2007 63

Form of Employment/Severance Agreement between the Company and certain executive officers which provides for

the continuation of certain employee benefits upon change in control contained in Exhibit ioiiik to the

CompanysAnnual Report on Form io for the
year

ended December3i 2007 Agreements in this form have been

entered into with the following executive officers Messrs duPont Ellis Fast Krawitt MacCarrick Maue Mitchell

Noonan Pantaleoni and Perlitz and Ms Kopczick

Form of Indemnification Agreement contained in Exhibit oiii to the CompanysAnnual Report on Form io for

the
year

ended December 31 2007 Agreements in this form have been entered into with each director and executive

officer of the Company
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES

The Boards Goal

The Boards goal is to build long-term value for our shareholders

and to assure the vitality of the Company for its customers

employees and the other individuals and organizations who depend

onus

Size of the Board

The Board believes that it should generally have no fewer than nine

and no more than twelve directors

Selection of New Directors

The guidelines require that nominees for director be those people

who aftertaking into account their skills expertise integrity

diversity and other qualities are believed to enhance the Boards

ability to manage and direct in an effective manner our business

and affairs

The Nominating and Governance Committee is responsible for

assessing the appropriate balance of criteria required of Board

members

Each director is expected within five years following his or her

election to the Board to own our stock in an amount that is equal in

value to five times the directors annual retainer fee

Other Public Company Directorships

Directors who also serve as chief executive officers should not serve

on more than two public company boards in addition to the Board

and other directors should not sit on more than four public com

66 pany boards in addition to the Board The members of the Audit

Committee should not serve on more than two other audit commit

tees of public companies

Independence of the Board

The Board shall be comprised of substantial majority of directors

who qualify as independent directors Independent Directors

under the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange the

NYSE The Board has adopted Standards for Director

Independence the text of which appears on our website

Retirement Policy for Directors

The Board does not believe that there should be fixed criteria requir

ing automatic retirement from the Board However the Board

recognizes that there are certain events that could have an effect on

persons ability to be an effective contributor to the Board proc
ess Accordingly each director who has attained the age of 72
served on the Board for fifteen years or changed the position he or

she held when he or she became member of the Board is expected

to so notify the Nominating and Governance Committee and offer

to submit his or her resignation as director effective at such time

The Nominating and Governance Committee will review the con

tinued appropriateness of the affected director remaining on the

Board under the circumstances

Board Compensation

director who is also our officer does not receive additional compen
sation for such service as director We believe that compensation

for non-employee directors should be competitive and should

encourage increased ownership of our stock through the payment of

portion of director compensation in Company stock options to pur
chase our stock or similarcompensation Directors fees including

any
additional amounts paid to the chairs of committees and to

members of committees of the Board are the only compensation

memberof the Audit Committee may receive from us Any charitable

contribution in excess of $10000 to charity or other tax exempt

organization in which director or executive officer of the Company

is trustee or director or which under the rules established by the

NYSE would cause director to be deemed not to be independent

requires the priorapproval of the Nominating and Governance

Committee

Board Operations
The Board holds eight regularly scheduled meetings each year At

least one regularly scheduled meeting of the Board is held each

calendar quarter

Our non- management directors meet in executive session without

management on regularly scheduled basis but not fewer than two

times year The Chairman of the Board presides at such executive

sessions unless such
person

is member of our management If

the Chairman is member of our management the presiding per
son at executive sessions rotates on an annual basis among the

chairs of the Nominating and Governance Committee Audit

Committee and Management Organization and Compensation

Committee

Strategic Direction of the Company
It is managements job under the direction of our Chief Executive

Officer to formalize propose and establish strategic direction

subject to review and input by the Board It is also the primary

responsibility of management under the direction of our Chief

Executive Officer to implement our business plans in accordance

with such strategic direction and for the Board to monitor and

evaluate with the assistance of our Chief Executive Officer strate

gic results

Board Access to Management
Board members have access to our management and as appro

priate to our outside advisors

Attendance of Management Personnel at Board

Meetings
The Board encourages the Chief Executive Officer to bring mem
bers of management who are not directors into Board meetings

from time to time to provide managements insight into items

being discussed by the Board which involve the manager ii make

presentations to the Board on matters which involve the manager

and iiibring managers with significant potential into contact with

the Board Attendance of such management personnel at Board

meetings is at the discretion of the Board










